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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Report") includes estimates, projections, statements relating to our business plans, objectives, and expected operating results that are “forward-
looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). Forward-looking statements may appear throughout this Report, including, without limitation, in the
following sections: “Business” (Part I, Item 1 of this Report), “Risk Factors” (Part I, ltem 1A of this Report), “Cybersecurity” (Part |, Item 1C of this Report), “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” (Part Il, Iltem 7 of this Report), and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” (Part Il, Item 7A of this
Report). These forward-looking statements generally are identified by the words “believe,” “project,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “strategy,” “future,” “opportunity,” “plan,”
“may,” “should,” “will,” “would,” “will be,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” and similar expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and assumptions, as
well as current plans, expectations, estimates, forecasts, and projections about our business and the industry in which we operate, that are subject to risks and uncertainties that may
cause actual results to differ materially. These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that are in some cases beyond our control.
We describe certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results and events to differ materially in “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations,” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” (Part Il, Item 7A of this Report). Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date they are made. Except as otherwise required by law, we assume no obligation to update or revise publicly any forward-
looking statements, whether because of new information, future events, or otherwise.



Table of Contents

ITEM 1 -BUSINESS

As used in this Report, each of the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company,” and “Simulations Plus” refers to Simulations Plus, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (both current and
previous, as applicable).

Simulations Plus, Inc. was incorporated in California on July 17, 1996. We are a global leader and premier provider in the biopharma sector, offering advanced software and consulting
services that enhance drug discovery, development, research, clinical trial operations, regulatory submissions, and commercialization. With the June 2024 acquisition of Pro-ficiency
Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Pro-ficiency”), the Company extended its reach across the drug development value chain from the initial protocol stage through all
phases of clinical research and development (“R&D”) to product commercialization. Simulations Plus now has a one-of-a-kind platform to serve its clients at every step in the drug
development process. This optimizes efficiency, costs and time-to-market for our clients and enhances our competitive position.

Our clients face many challenges. Developing new therapies is time-consuming and expensive, requiring an average of 10-15 years and an average cost of $6.16 billion to develop a
single drug. Drug sponsors must prioritize not only efficacy of the drug, but also issues like drug-drug interactions, inclusion of diverse populations, regulatory approvals, reduction of
animal testing, safety and compliance during clinical trials, and commercial success.

Our model-informed drug development (“MIDD”) software and services allow clients to use modeling and simulation to accelerate the drug development timeline, reduce the costs of
R&D, comply with regulatory guidance and best practices, and increase confidence in the safety and efficacy of their drugs. Our adaptive learning solutions support the success of
clinical trials by increasing the diversity and retention of participants and driving competency and compliance with trial protocols, while our medical communications solutions provide
support in obtaining regulatory approval and post regulatory commercialization of drugs.

Through these offerings, we fulfill our mission to create value for our customers by accelerating and reducing the costs of R&D through innovative science-based software and consulting
solutions that optimize treatment options and improve patient lives.

At the beginning of fiscal year 2024, the Company reorganized its internal structure to create a more integrated and cohesive operating platform based on key product and services
offerings rather than separate divisions based on its prior acquisitions. This business unit restructuring is engendering greater scientific collaboration and knowledge sharing within the
Company that leads to identifying new opportunities that both advance the Company’s business objectives and deepen client relationships. Continuing with our strategic plan of aligning
our business units around products and services, the Pro-ficiency acquisition resulted in two new business units, Adaptive Learning & Insights and Medical Communications, giving the
Company six business units that include:

«  Cheminformatics (“CHEM");

« Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetics (“PBPK”);

«  Clinical Pharmacology and Pharmacometrics (“CPP");
« Quantitative Systems Pharmacology (“QSP");

« Adaptive Learning & Insights (“ALI"); and

*  Medical Communications (“MC").

The Company is headquartered in Southern California, with offices in Buffalo, NY; Research Triangle Park, NC; Pittsburgh, PA; and Paris, France. Our common stock has traded on the
Nasdag Global Select Market under the symbol “SLP” since May 13, 2021, prior to which it traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the same symbol.

SOLUTIONS
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We provide end-to-end offerings across the drug development continuum, including guiding early drug discovery, establishing pre clinical protocols, developing clinical programs,
enabling clinical trial operations, facilitating regulatory submissions for product approval, and supporting commercial market launches. We are a premier developer of modeling and
simulation software for drug discovery and development, including the prediction of properties of molecules utilizing both artificial intelligence (“Al”) and machine-learning technologies.
Our software and consulting services are provided to major pharmaceutical, biotechnology, agrochemical, cosmetics, and food industry companies and academic and regulatory
agencies worldwide for use in the conduct of industry-based research. Our customers use our software programs and scientific consulting services to enhance their understanding of the
properties of potential new therapies and to use emerging data to improve formulations, select and justify dosing regimens, support generic pharmaceutical product development,
optimize clinical trial designs, and simulate outcomes in special populations, such as in elderly and pediatric patients.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, our business was organized into two reportable segments, software and services.
SOFTWARE
General
We currently offer software products for pharmaceutical research, development, and commercialization, as follows:
« Three simulation products that provide time-dependent results based on solving large sets of mechanistic differential equations:

o GastroPlus®
- DDDPlus™
> MembranePlus™

«  Two products that predict and analyze static properties of chemicals utilizing both Al and machine-learning technologies:

o ADMET Predictor®
o MedChem Designer™

« Seven products that are based on mechanistic, mathematical models and differential equations:

o DILIsym®

o NAFLDsym®
°  ILDsym™

> IPFsym®

o RENAsym®
°  MITOsym®
OBESITYsym™
« One product designed for modeling and simulation that allows for population analyses, rapid clinical trial data analyses, and regulatory submissions:
> MonolixSuite™ (the combination of Monolix®, PKanalix®, and Simulx®).
«  One product for education and compliance training:
- Pro-ficiency Performance Management

«  One product for key opinion leader (“KOL") research in the medical community:

> Panorama KOL Insights
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Our software business represented 59% of our total revenue during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, primarily generated by the following products:
GastroPlus®

Our flagship product, initially introduced in 1998, and currently our largest single source of software revenue, is GastroPlus. GastroPlus mechanistically simulates the absorption and
drug interactions of compounds administered to humans and animals. It is currently one of the most widely used commercial software products of its type by industry and regulatory
agencies in the U.S. and globally. Our goal with GastroPlus is to integrate the most advanced science into user-friendly software to enable researchers and regulators to perform
sophisticated analyses of complex compound behaviors in humans and laboratory animals. We work to release updated versions of the program on an ongoing basis.

In May 2024, GastroPlus version 10 (branded as GPX™) was released. This version was the culmination of a long-term collaboration with our partners to understand how we can better
support their program needs and enable critical scientific thinking. This resulted in a completely redesigned, intuitive, and flexible platform which incorporated the proven top-rated
science, advanced models, refined algorithms, and integrated machine learning (“ML") technology that has been validated over 26 years.

Because of the widespread use of GastroPlus, we have been able to enter both funded and unfunded collaborations with industry and government agencies to drive advances in
modeling and simulation science. In all such collaborations, we own the intellectual property developed within the GastroPlus program, and updates are integrated into future versions
and made available to all clients. In the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, we participated in nine funded grants from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”") to enhance PBPK
modeling science. Recent collaborations include:

« Virtual bioequivalence studies: in September 2023, we entered into a funded collaboration with the FDA to validate and define best practices for PBPK modeling workflows to
simulate virtual bioequivalence (“VBE”) studies in support of regulatory bio-waivers.

* Modified-release (“MR”) product development model: in January 2024, through a joint proposal with Northeastern University and InnoGI Technologies, we were awarded a
newly funded contract from the FDA to advance the development and approval of generic oral MR drug products through the combination of novel in vitro testing and
mechanistic modeling and simulation.

MonolixSuite™

The MonolixSuite is a unique solution for modeling and simulation for pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology enterprises, and hospitals. It supports nonparametric analyses,
population analyses and modeling, and clinical trial simulation. The extended MonolixSuite contains three main products: PKanalix, Monolix, and Simulx. Monolix 2024R1 was released
in March 2024, which combines the most advanced algorithms with a unique ease of use. The products are used by pharmaceutical companies across the globe at each step of drug
development, from preclinical to first-in-human, clinical, and post-approval.

ADMET Predictor®

ADMET (Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, Excretion, and Toxicity) Predictor is a top-ranked, chemistry-based computer program that takes molecular structures as inputs and uses
Al/machine-learning technology to predict different properties for them. This capability allows chemists to generate estimates for many important molecular properties without the need to
synthesize and test the molecules. A chemist can then assess the likely success of many existing molecules in a company’s chemical library, as well as molecules that have never been

made.

The optional ADMET Modeler™ Module in ADMET Predictor enables scientists to use their own experimental data to quickly create proprietary high-quality predictive models using the
same powerful Al engine we use to build our top-ranked property predictions.

Version 12 of ADMET Predictor was released in July 2024, which added many new features including:
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« Enhanced Models: New and expanded models offer greater predictive accuracy, with an average 30% increase in training set sizes, for microsome and hepatocyte clearance,
protein binding, bio relevant solubilities, MDCK-LE/PAMPA permeability, and more

* High-Throughput Pharmacokinetics (“HTPK”): New options for solution dosing, adjusted free fraction outputs, and species-specific simulations enhance the flexibility and
precision of HTPK studies

« Artificial Intelligence-Driven Drug Design (“AIDD”): Integration of 3D shape matching and tissue sensitivities (based on tissue Kp values) as new objectives, facilitating
innovative lead optimization processes

*  New DILI Module: Introduction of the first drug-induced liver injury (“DILI") endpoint models to support high-throughput (“HT”) DILIsym® predictions in early drug development

« Boosted ANN Regression Models and added 37 new descriptors in ADMET Modeler™

¢ General Usability and Informatics Improvements

We have made significant investments in three key areas with recent versions: improving integration of our top-ranked ADMET Predictor and GastroPlus models to leverage our novel
high-throughput pharmacokinetic (“‘HTPK”) simulation approaches for chemists and safety researchers, enhancing our best-in-class Al/ML engine to assist with drug discovery, and
advancing our innovative AIDD Module to apply generative Al technology to design and optimize lead molecules for any combination of properties.

Recent collaborations include:

* Qualification of in silico methods for risk assessment of chemicals: in February 2024, we extended a collaboration with the Translational Toxicology Division at the
National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences (“NIEHS”) to support the rapid safety assessment of chemicals in animals and humans.

« Drug design collaboration using the AIDD Module: in March 2023, we entered into a collaborative research agreement with the Polish Academy of Sciences (“PAS”) to jointly
design new compounds for the RORY/RORYT nuclear receptors using our cutting-edge Al/ML technology in the ADMET Predictor® software platform. Emerging intellectual
property, in the form of encouraging lead compounds, will be jointly owned by the Company and PAS for further development opportunities.

« Strategic collaboration to discover anticancer therapies using the AIDD Module: in March 2023, we entered into a strategic research collaboration with the Sino-American
Cancer Foundation (“SACF") to leverage our staff and AIDD Module to support the discovery and design of novel inhibitors of methylenetetrahydrofolate dehydrogenase 2
(“MTHFD2"), an emerging cancer target. SACF will provide upfront funding to the Company to design a set number of compounds for efficacy against MTHFD2, which will be
exclusive to SACF. Subsequent milestone payments will be made to the Company as key research and development goals are met.

Pro-ficiency Performance Management

Pro-fiency Performance Management is an adaptive learning platform that uses lifelike simulation and detailed data tracking to increase recruitment, retention, and protocol compliance
during clinical trials. In simulations of complex real-world scenarios, learners are asked to make decisions and practice implementation of the trial protocol. The generated data provides
insight into areas of the trial protocol that are unclear to healthcare practitioners, enabling clarification and further education prior to start of clinical trials.

Panorama KOL Insights

Panorama KOL Insights is a platform for KOL research in the life sciences industry. It provides current information about influential industry leaders, which can be filtered by criteria
including but not limited to therapeutic expertise, professional affiliation(s), and geographic location.

SERVICES

General
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Our scientists and engineers have extensive expertise in drug absorption via various dosing routes, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, drug-drug interactions, and other areas
related to the drug development process. We conduct contracted consulting studies for large customers with complex problems who recognize our expertise in solving them, as well as
for smaller customers. We also offer services supporting marketplace insight and medical communications for clinical and commercial drug development. The demand for our consulting
services has been steadily increasing, and we have expanded our consulting teams to meet the increased workload.

Our services business represented 41% of our total revenue during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, primarily generated by the following service offerings:
PKPD

Our clinical-pharmacology-based consulting services include population pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic (“PKPD”) modeling, exposure-response analyses, clinical trial
simulations, data programming, and technical writing services in support of regulatory submissions. In addition to modeling and simulation consulting services, we provide expertise and
assistance with development-related decision making and support for regulatory interactions related to dose selection, clinical trial design, and understanding of the determinants of
safety and efficacy for new medicines.

ospP

We provide creative and insightful consulting services to support our quantitative systems pharmacology, QSP, modeling focused on NAFLD, and NASH, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis
(“IPF"), heart disease, and liver and kidney safety, as well as other areas.

PBPK

In 2014, the FDA began to emphasize the need to encourage mechanistic PBPK modeling and simulation in clinical pharmacology, with final guidance documents completed in 2018.
Draft guidance documents from the FDA, which were released in October 2020, focused on additional biopharmaceutics applications for oral drug product development, manufacturing
changes, and controls. Other global agencies, including the European Medicines Agency (“EMA”), Japan’s Pharmaceutical and Medical Devices Agency (“PMDA”"), the Chinese National
Medical Products Administration (‘NMPA”), and Health Canada, have all published their own guidance, or extended existing ones, over the past several years. This has resulted in an
increased need for our scientific consulting staff to draw upon its extensive experience across multiple therapeutic areas of modeling and simulation to provide consulting-related services
utilizing these sophisticated techniques. We support MIDD throughout the entire product lifecycle, from discovery through translational research and clinical development, when an
organization does not have the time or resources to use our software directly. More specifically, our clients seek out our consulting services to acquire scientific, therapeutic-area-related
modeling and simulation expertise that they do not have in-house.

Early Drug Discovery (“EDD”)

At Simulations Plus, we have a team of experts, including computational and medicinal chemists, cheminformatics specialists, and drug development professionals with decades of
experience, all able to facilitate small and large companies’ drug discovery and development journeys.

With our EDD services offering, we provide end-to-end in silico drug design and optimization services, as well as help with individual steps in the process, including:
« AIDD enabled drug discovery and optimization
« High-throughput screening (“HTS”) library design and hit visualization and analysis

« Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship (“QSAR”)/Quantitative Structure-Property Relationship (“QSPR”) modeling and simulation

Adaptive Learning & Insights
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Our expert content creation team delivers programming that is focused on the development of engaging, adaptive learning solutions independent of individualized analytics. Our team of
experts supports clients in developing training materials for complex procedures, providing insight derived from learner data, and optimizing learning in life sciences.

Medical Communications

Our experienced medical communications consultants provide strategy, positioning, messaging and tactical support for our clients in support of their market intelligence and commercial
endeavors.

Below is a summary of revenue percentages by each of our software and services businesses for the fiscal years ended August 31:

2024 2023 2022
Software 59 % 61 % 61 %
Services 41 % 39 % 39 %
Total 100 % 100 % 100 %

SALES AND MARKETING

We market our software and services globally through attendance and presentations at scientific meetings, exhibits at trade shows, seminars at pharmaceutical companies and
government agencies, online presentations, our website, and various communication channels to our database of prospects and customers. At various scientific meetings worldwide,
research accomplishments using our software are reported through numerous presentations and posters. Many of these presentations are from industry and FDA scientists; some are
from our staff. Numerous peer-reviewed scientific journal articles are published, and conference presentations are delivered each year using our software, primarily by our customers,
further supporting its use in a wide range of preclinical and clinical studies.

Our sales and marketing efforts are handled primarily internally by sales and marketing staff, with our scientific team and several senior management staff assisting our marketing and
sales staff with trade shows, seminars, and customer training both online and on-site. During fiscal year 2024, the Company invested in marketing automation tools to increase customer
insights and engagement. In addition, enhancements were made to our customer relationship management software, providing insights about our targeted markets and customers.

We also have independent distributors in Japan, China, India, South Korea, and Brazil, who sell and market our products with support from our scientists and engineers.
COMPETITION

We compete against a number of established companies that provide screening, testing, and research services, and products that are not based on simulation software. There are also
software companies whose products do not compete directly with ours but are sometimes closely related. Our competitors in this field include some companies with financial, personnel,
research, and marketing resources that are larger than ours.

Major pharmaceutical companies conduct drug discovery and development efforts through their internal development staff and outsourcing. Smaller companies generally need to
outsource a greater percentage of this effort. Thus, we compete not only with other software suppliers, scientific consulting service providers, and contract research organizations
("CROs"), but also with the in-house development and scientific consulting teams at some of the larger pharmaceutical companies. Our competitors include, but are not limited to,
Optibrium, Certara, ICON, Metrum Research Group, Veeva, and WCG.

Based on our technical knowledge and expertise, we believe that we are strategically positioned to offer competitive modeling and simulation consulting services to companies. Our
clients seek out our services for multiple reasons including: (i) to acquire scientific, therapeutic-area-related modeling expertise that they do not have in-house, (ii) to address a need for
modeling and simulation efforts beyond the capacity of in-house resources, (iii) to fulfill their modeling requirements more efficiently than they could do in-house, and (iv) to utilize our
software when they do not have the in-house expertise to do so. We apply our software and assist companies in such areas as MIDD, PKPD, PBPK, and QSP.
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We believe the key factors in our ability to successfully compete in this field are our ability to: (i) continue to invest in research and development, and develop and support industry-
leading simulation and modeling software and related products and services, (ii) develop and maintain a proprietary database of results of physical experiments that serve as a basis for
simulated studies and empirical models, (i) continue to attract and retain a highly-skilled scientific and engineering team, (iv) aggressively promote our products and services to our
global market, and (v) develop and maintain relationships with research and development departments of pharmaceutical companies, universities, and government agencies.

In addition, we are actively seeking strategic acquisitions to expand both our pharmaceutical software portfolio and services offerings.

TRAINING AND TECHNICAL SUPPORT

The acquisition of Pro-ficiency expanded our software and services portfolio to include customer-facing professional development and medical communications capabilities within the
clinical trial and commercial space. The adaptive learning/simulation-based training approach delivers bespoke education underpinned by a proprietary software foundation that allows
for rapid content development with multi-language and cultural adaptability, with insights derived from learned behavior that highlight performance/execution risk areas and allow them to
be addressed before trials or projects begin. The medical communications team delivers a customer-centric approach to supporting sponsors in their endeavors to drive intelligent clinical
development, from medical affairs to commercialization, with programming such as advisory boards, focus groups and medical education. These new solutions address the previously
untapped clinical research and medical communications markets for Simulations Plus.

Customer training and technical support are important factors in customer satisfaction for our modeling and simulation products, and we believe we are an industry leader in providing
strong customer training and technical support in our business areas. We provide in-house seminars at customers’ and potential customers’ sites, as well as at selected universities to
train students who will soon be industry scientists. These seminars often serve as initial training in the event the potential customer decides to license or evaluate our software. Technical
support is provided after the sale of any software in the form of on-site training (at the customer’s expense), web meetings and telephone, fax, and e-mail assistance to the customers’
users during customers’ license periods.

Technical support for our software is provided by our life sciences teams and our inside sales and support staff. We have found that most clients need minimal technical support for our
software products.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The development of our software is focused on expanding our product portfolio, designing enhancements to our core technologies, and integrating existing and new products into our
principal software architecture and platform technologies. We intend to continue to offer regular updates to our products and to continue to look for opportunities to expand our existing
suite of products and services.

To date, we have developed products internally, sometimes also licensing or acquiring products, or portions of products, from third parties. In certain instances, these arrangements have
required that we pay royalties to third parties; we paid no royalties during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024. We intend to continue to license or otherwise acquire technology or
products from third parties when we believe that it makes business sense to do so.

Our software products are designed and developed by our development teams, which work remotely using collaboration software. Our products and services are delivered electronically.
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND OTHER PROPRIETARY RIGHTS
We primarily protect our intellectual property through trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, and through contractual measures. Our intellectual property consists primarily of source code

for computer programs, online platforms, and data files for various applications of those programs and platforms for use by pharmaceutical businesses. The expertise of our staff is a
considerable asset closely related to intellectual property and attracting and retaining highly qualified scientists and engineers is essential to our business.
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CUSTOMERS

Our customers include companies involved in pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, agrotechnology, and cosmetics, as well as universities, hospitals, and government research organizations.
We concentrate on serving the needs of our customers in drug discovery, development, clinical trials, post-patent generic formulation development, and post-approval drug
commercialization. Our current customer base is highly fragmented, and we did not derive a material portion of our revenues from any single client for the fiscal year ended August 31,
2024.

SEASONALITY

Our revenues exhibit seasonal fluctuations, with the first fiscal quarter (September-November) generally having the lowest revenues for biosimulation software and services, while
clinical trial and commercial activity tends to be slow during the last fiscal quarter (June-August). This is due to pharmaceutical industry buying patterns, consulting service slowdowns
due to summer vacations in the previous quarter, and lower customer and employee conference attendance in those periods. Revenues for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of
revenues for any future period; however, because our pharmaceutical software is licensed on an annual basis, renewals are usually within the same quarter year after year, even though
there are certain instances in which the license renewal term may not immediately follow the initial license term, and therefore result in a shift of certain customer revenues to a
subsequent quarter.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATORY MATTERS

We believe we are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable environmental laws. Presently, we do not anticipate that efforts to maintain such compliance will have a
material effect on capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position with respect to any of our operations.

HUMAN CAPITAL

We are committed to our people, and embrace a culture of engagement, empowerment, and equity. Over 98% of our global employees are employed full-time, and more than 68% work
within our life sciences software or consulting business units. Given the specialized nature of our business, candidates for our open positions are strategically selected for their unique
education and skills. The majority of our employees have advanced degrees, with over 65% of our technical and scientific staff holding doctoral degrees in mathematics, chemistry,
biomedical engineering, and/or the pharmaceutical sciences.

As of August 31, 2024, we employed a total of 247 persons, including 243 full-time employees and 4 part-time employees.

We believe that our continued success depends on our ability to continue to attract, hire, and retain qualified personnel. To support the endeavor, we have continued to focus heavily on
our total rewards program, which includes components of compensation, health and wellness benefits, training, time off, recognition and support for business travel. Over the past year,
the Company was recognized by Comparably as Best Company for Diversity, Best Company for Women, Best Company Culture and a Best Company Compensation awards winner, as
determined based on direct feedback from our employees. We had a voluntary turnover rate of less than 4% during fiscal year 2024, further exemplifying our good relations with
employees.

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

We embrace diversity with the knowledge that it can lead to greater innovation, and in our workplace, we foster inclusion, so all employees feel they are a part of our team with equal
access to all opportunities. One of our goals is to always continue expanding our focus on diversity, equity, and inclusion. In terms of gender equity, women currently comprise 48% of
our workforce and 47% of our scientific staff. Our ADP Workforce Now platform, allows us to access and better understand trends in our staff and hiring relative to diversity. We regularly
track our metrics to ensure we are aligning our recruitment efforts and continue to refine our policies and benefits to be inclusive of all employees. We continue to pay parental leave to all
employees for birth or adoption, and have a flexible time off and remote-first work culture that supports the ability to work globally and allows us to hire the best fit for the role regardless
of location.

Compensation, Training, and Awareness Programs
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We continue to refine career paths for the different functions within our organization. We use these career paths as a basis for promoting employee career development and growth
within the organization, as well as in recruiting and hiring new talent. We have implemented a new performance platform within our ADP Workforce Now system that allows for better
performance management processes. We plan to use the features to continue to focus on performance, goal tracking, and succession planning as part of our future personnel growth
strategies.

This past year, we implemented a training program that allowed all employees access to company-paid technical, leadership or skills training opportunities in an area that they selected
with management support. In the coming year, we intend to focus even more training efforts on leadership development. In addition to these recently implemented employee training and
development initiatives, we continue to offer an ongoing program of cross-specialty training consisting of presentations by expert modelers from each business unit. These monthly
sessions serve to familiarize all business units with the applications and techniques unique to each business unit and, in so doing, create opportunities to find synergies, and cross-
selling opportunities, expand the knowledge base across all business units, identify cross-selling opportunities, and build a shared sense of purpose.

Health & Safety

We place a high value on maintaining a clean, safe, and healthy environment for our employees. Our Human Rights Policy confirms our commitment to basic human rights worldwide and
our Code of Conduct requires our employees and vendors to work within our established principals of ethics.

The well-being of our employees, whether they are working in our offices or remotely from home offices, is one of our highest priorities. We believe that we are substantially in compliance
with all applicable laws, regulations, and standards, and we make every reasonable effort to be attentive and responsive to our employees’ needs. We continue to provide very
competitive health and wellness benefits, and each year we host a wellness challenge for all employees with monetary incentives to encourage a healthy and less sedentary lifestyle. We
also host regular “coffee breaks” to encourage, even in a remote environment, interacting with colleagues outside of work meetings or topics.

We also consider open and transparent channels of communication to be a critical component of our employee health and wellness program. Toward this end, on a quarterly basis, we
hold a company-wide virtual meeting to keep our employees engaged, informed, and apprised of activities occurring at the Company and within each business unit, including quarterly
financial results, future goals, and notable milestones.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

We believe that our operations are substantially in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and that we hold all necessary permits to operate our business in each jurisdiction
in which our facilities are located. Laws and government regulations are subject to change and interpretation. Our pharmaceutical software products and platforms are tools used in
research and/or development and are neither approved nor approvable by the FDA or other government agencies.

No significant pollution or other types of hazardous emission result from our operations and it is not anticipated that our operations will be materially affected by federal, state, or local
provisions concerning environmental controls. Our costs of complying with environmental, health, and safety requirements have not been material. Furthermore, compliance with federal,
state, and local requirements regulating the discharge of materials into the environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment, have not had, nor are they expected to
have, any material effect on the capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position of the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, GOVERNANCE

We are committed to providing consistent and excellent return to our shareholders, all while maintaining a strong sense of good corporate citizenship that places a high value on the
welfare of our employees, the communities in which we operate, and the world as a whole. We believe that effectively prioritizing and managing our Environmental, Social, and
Governance (“ESG”) factors will help create long-term value for our investors. We also believe that transparently disclosing the goals and relevant metrics related to our ESG programs
will allow our stakeholders to be informed about our progress.
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The topics covered in this section are identified through third-party ESG reporting frameworks, standards and metrics, such as the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (“SASB”),
and United Nations Sustainable Development Goals ("SDGs"). More information regarding our key ESG programs, goals and commitments, and key metrics can be found on our website
and within our 2023 ESG Update, 2022 ESG Update, and 2020 ESG Report.

Our ESG highlights include the following:
Environmental Matters

We participate in recycling programs through local waste management facilities to divert all recyclable materials away from landfills, including but not limited to bottles, cans, plastics,
paper, and cardboard. Our electronic waste is sent to approved local e-waste recycling centers. We have a policy of using IT hardware vendors that embrace environmental
sustainability. We continue in our commitment to remote work; with most employees working from home, which reduces emissions from commuting to workplaces. As part of our ongoing
commitment to environmentally sustainable business operations, we recently consolidated the servers in our U.S. offices into our existing colocation facility to reduce energy usage and
our carbon footprint. As a result, our energy usage was reduced by 75% compared to the prior year.

Greenhouse Gas Emission:
Scope:

Scope 1: Scope 1 covers direct greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions that occur from sources that are controlled or owned by an organization (e.g., emissions associated with fuel
combustion in boilers, furnaces, and vehicles).

Scope 1 is not applicable to our organization as it does not own or control any sources that produce direct GHG emissions.
Scope 2: Guidance standardizes how corporations measure emissions from purchased or acquired electricity, steam, heat, and cooling (called “scope 2 emissions”).
We have identified electricity as our source that produces GHG scope 2 emissions.

Scope 3: Scope 3 encompasses emissions that are not produced by the company itself and are not the result of activities from assets owned or controlled by them, but by those entities
with which it engages up and down its value chain. An example of this is when we buy, use, and dispose of products from suppliers. Scope 3 emissions include all sources not within the
scope 1 and 2 boundaries.

We believe that we do not produce GHG emissions that fall within Scope 3.

We believe we are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable environmental laws. Presently, we do not anticipate that such compliance will have a material effect on capital
expenditures, earnings, or competitive position with respect to any of our operations.

Social Impact and Supporting our Communities

Our People
«  Our commitment to our people lies in our continued efforts to support and value our most important asset - our employees.
*  We conduct an annual employee engagement survey to ensure cultural alignment and success of internal programs and to further support our employees' needs.
* We have a paid parental leave program to support working parents and a recognition system to encourage peer- to-peer and leader-to-employee recognition.

« We also ensure that all our employees have the opportunity to attend in-person employee events to collaborate face-to-face with their colleagues around the globe.

11



Table of Contents

* We continue to provide supplemental benefits to our health benefit offerings, and have increased our focus on physical and mental wellness with all our teams through an
online wellness challenge hosted by the Company.

«  We continue to engage with our employees and listen to their feedback in order to work toward building a culture of trust, collaboration and transparency.

* We conducted a compensation benchmarking study with an external compensation consultant, and have made efforts to better align our compensation practices with market
salary ranges.

Customer Privacy & Data Security

«  We value customer privacy, and we endeavor to collect data only to the extent needed to deliver company information, software products, and consulting services. Our website
includes a copy of our comprehensive Privacy Notice, which details what and how data are collected, how data are used and stored, and the options for controlling personal
data, including opting out, accessing, updating, or deleting it.

« In recognition of the critical importance of data security to our operations, including cybersecurity, data protection, and customer privacy, our leadership team conducts a
thorough examination of all elements of data security. Our objective is to ensure the security, confidentiality, and privacy of our systems and information assets, and to follow
and be compliant with all applicable laws, regulations, and guidelines, including, but not limited to:

° U.S. and State data privacy laws

o The EU’s General Data Protection Regulation (“the EU GDPR")

°  The U,K Data Protection Act 2018 (the “UK GDPR”")

> Pharmaceutical Good Practice Quality Guidelines, including FDA 21 CFR Part 11

o The Sarbanes-Oxley Act

o The Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ("PIPL")

« Our corporate-level IT department provides consistency, efficiency, and functional IT support across all business units. Our IT department is responsible for centralizing
business unit driven data processing, storage, and backup capabilities at each of our geographical locations. Our Quality and Compliance department is also responsible for
ensuring that corporate IT policies are aligned and compliant with all applicable regulatory provisions and current best practices.

« We have engaged a third-party consulting firm, VeraSafe, as our Data Protection Officer ("DPQO"). The DPO is responsible for ensuring that we have a Personal Data
Protection program in place that is compliant with data privacy laws such as the EU GDPR, UK GDPR, China’s PIPL, and data privacy laws enacted at the state level, as
applicable to us. Our corporate Personal Data Protection program includes policies, practices, and training directed to protecting personal data.

Business Ethics

« From the Company'’s inception, we have placed a strong emphasis on conducting our business with honesty and integrity. High ethical standards are expected of management
and employees alike, and we continuously strive to create a corporate culture of honesty, integrity, and trust. Throughout our operations and in our dealings with our
stakeholders, we endeavor to engender the confidence that the Company’s conduct is beyond reproach.

« The policies we have developed are intended to:

- Define and disseminate our core values and the legal requirements applicable to good business conduct and ethical behavior.

- Offer guidance in understanding Company policies, interpreting laws, and handling Company-related issues and situations.

- Foster clear, ethical behaviors and conduct to create an atmosphere of respect, trust, cooperation, and collaboration throughout the Company and its activities.

> Provide clear and well-defined procedures by which employees can easily obtain information, ask questions, and, if necessary, report any suspected violations of any
of our Business Ethics policies.
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« In addition to abiding by all applicable laws, all management and employees are required to comply fully with our Code of Conduct, which sets forth the Company’s values,
business culture, and practices. The Code of Conduct also governs conduct between our employees and our customers and vendors with whom we do business. Because
many of our customers are companies in the pharmaceutical and biotech industries, we have incorporated in our Code of Conduct the principles of the Pharmaceutical Supply
Chain Initiative, including Leadership, Partnering, Presence, Consistency & Quality, Learning, and Innovation & Discovery.

Human Rights

« The Company was founded on the belief that our software technologies could lead to important advances in healthcare, thereby improving patient outcomes, advancing and
improving global health, and bettering the lives of humankind. This objective cannot be accomplished without a commitment to human rights, and we are committed to
ensuring that, in our day-to-day business practices, in our business relationships, and in matters of employment, we will uphold our own principles as delineated in our Code of
Conduct. Furthermore, we support the principles set forth in the United Nations International Bill of Human Rights, specifically the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and
the ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work and have a written Human Rights Policy to uphold these commitments. As we evolve this policy, we will
look to the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights ("UNGPs") for guidance.

Governance

« We are committed to ensuring strong corporate governance practices on behalf of our shareholders and other stakeholders. We believe strong corporate governance provides
the foundation for financial integrity and shareholder confidence. Our Board of Directors is responsible for the oversight of risks facing the Company, while our management is
responsible for the day-to-day management of risk. The Board has three committees: Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating & Corporate Governance
Committee. The Board, as a whole, directly oversees our strategic and business risk, including risks related to financial reporting, compensation practices, cybersecurity, ESG,
and product developments. In addition, all our employees, contractors, and vendors are required to follow our Code of Conduct as a part of our good governance practice. Our
Board of Directors is gender and racially diverse and we have appointed a lead independent director. Our ESG steering committee oversees and executes matters related to
ESG. More information about our corporate governance features will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the "Proxy Statement"),
which we intend to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after August 31, 2024, the close of our fiscal year covered by this Report.

COMPANY WEBSITE
We maintain a corporate website at: www.simulations-plus.com.

The contents of this website, including without limitation any documents, web pages or other information accessible through our website (whether or not referred to in this Report), are
not incorporated in or otherwise to be regarded as part of this Report. We file reports with the SEC, which are available on our website free of charge. These reports include annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements, and other related filings, each of which is provided on our website as soon as
reasonably practical after we electronically file such materials with or furnish them to the SEC. Our officers and directors also file “Section 16" filings on Form 3, Form 4, and Form 5 with
the SEC, which filings are also accessible on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with the SEC. In addition, the Securities and Exchange Commission
maintains a website (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including the
Company.

ITEM 1A - RISK FACTORS
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You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well as the other information in this Report, including our financial statements and the related notes and the section entitled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” before investing in our securities. The occurrence of any of the events or developments
described below could harm our business, financial condition, operating results, and/or growth prospects. The risks described below are not the only ones we face. Our business is also
subject to the risks that affect many other companies, such as competition, technological obsolescence, labor relations, general economic conditions, geopolitical changes, and
international operations. We operate in a rapidly changing environment that involves a number of risks, some of which are beyond our control. Additional risks not currently known to us
or that we currently believe are immaterial also may impair our business operations and our liquidity. The risks described below could cause our actual results to differ materially from
those contained in the forward-looking statements we have made in this Report, the information incorporated herein by reference, and those forward-looking statements we may make
from time to time. You should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all such factors. Consequently, you should not consider the following to be a complete discussion of
all potential risks or uncertainties.

Certain Risks Related to Our Marketplace and Environment

Our ability to sustain or increase revenues will depend upon our success in entering new markets, continuing to increase our customer base, and in deriving additional
revenues from our existing customers.

Our products are currently used primarily by modeling and simulation specialists in companies involved in pharmaceuticals, biotechnology, agrotechnology, and cosmetics, as well as
universities, hospitals, and government research organizations. One component of our overall business strategy is to derive more revenues from our existing customers by expanding
their use of our products and services. In addition, we seek to expand into new markets, and new areas within our existing markets, by acquiring businesses in these markets, attracting
and retaining personnel knowledgeable in these markets, identifying the needs of these markets, and developing marketing programs to address these needs. If successfully
implemented, these strategies would increase the usage of our software and services by pharmacologists or pharmacometricians operating within our existing pharmaceutical,
biotechnology, and chemical customers, as well as by new customers in other industries. However, if our strategies are not successfully implemented, our products and services may not
achieve market acceptance or penetration in targeted new departments within our existing customers or in new industries. As a result, we may incur additional costs and expend
additional resources without being able to sustain or increase revenue.

A decrease in, or resistance to, the acceptance of model-informed biopharmaceutical discovery and development by regulatory authorities or academic institutions could
damage our reputation or reduce the demand for our products and services.

In recent years, there has been a steady increase in the recognition by regulatory and academic institutions of the role that modeling and simulation can play in the biopharmaceutical
development and approval process, as demonstrated by new regulations and guidance encouraging the use of modeling and simulation in the biopharmaceutical discovery,
development, testing, clinical trial and approval process, which has positively impacted our business. Changes in government or regulatory policy, or a stagnation or reversal in the trend
toward increasing the acceptance of and reliance upon use of computer modeling and simulation in the drug approval process, could decrease the demand for our products and services
or lead our customers to cease use of, or to recommend against the use of, our products and services. This, in turn, could negatively impact our reputation and/or have a material
adverse impact on our business prospects and results of operations.

Increasing competition and increasing costs within the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, drug development and services industry, and the life science market

for modeling and simulation software and cheminformatics products may affect the demand for our products and services, which may affect our results of operations and
financial condition.
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Our pharmaceutical and biotechnology customers’ demand for our products is impacted by continued demand for their products and by our customers’ research and development costs.
Demand for our customers’ products could decline, and prices charged by our customers for their products may decline, as a result of governmental regulations and increasing
competition, including competition from companies manufacturing generic drugs. In addition, our customers’ expenses could continue to increase as a result of increasing costs of
complying with government regulations and other factors. A decrease in demand for our customers’ products, pricing pressures associated with the sales of these products, and
additional costs associated with product development, could cause our customers to reduce research and development expenditures. Although our products increase productivity and
reduce costs in many areas, because our products and services depend on such research and development expenditures, our revenues may be significantly reduced.

Health care reform and restrictions on reimbursement may affect the pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and industrial chemical companies that purchase or license our
products or services, which may affect our results of operations and financial condition.

The continuing efforts of government and third-party payers in the markets we serve to contain or reduce the cost of health care may reduce the profitability of pharmaceutical,
biotechnology, and industrial chemical companies, causing them to reduce research and development expenditures. Because some of our products and services depend on such
research and development expenditures, our revenues may be significantly reduced. We cannot predict what actions federal, state, or private payers for health care goods and services
may take in response to any health care reform proposals or legislation.

We face strong competition in the life science market for modeling and simulation software and for cheminformatics products.

The market for our modeling and simulation software products for the life science market is intensely competitive. We currently face competition from other scientific software providers,
larger technology and solutions companies, in-house development by our customers and academic and government institutions, and the open-source community. Additionally, our
clinical pharmacology business unit often competes for business not only with other clinical research organization, but also with internal discovery and development departments within
our larger clients. Some of our competitors and potential competitors have longer operating histories in certain segments of our industry than we do and could have greater financial,
technical, marketing, research and development, and other resources. We also face competition from open-source software initiatives, in which developers provide software and
intellectual property free over the Internet. In addition, some of our customers spend significant internal resources in order to develop their own software. Moreover, we intend to leverage
our scientific informatics platform in order to enable our customers to more effectively utilize the vast amounts of information stored in both their databases and public data sources in
order to make informed scientific and business decisions during the research and development process. This strategy could lead to competition from much larger companies that provide
general data storage and management software. There can be no assurance that our current or potential competitors will not develop products, services, or technologies that are
comparable to, superior to, or render obsolete, the products, services, and technologies we offer. There can be no assurance that our competitors will not adapt more quickly than we to
technological advances and customer demands, thereby increasing such competitors’ market share relative to ours. Increased competition could lead to price and other concessions that
might adversely affect our operating results. Any material decrease in demand for our technologies or services may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

We are subject to price pressures in the markets we serve.

The market for modeling and simulation products for the life science industry is intensely competitive. Although the average price of our software licenses has increased or remained
relatively constant for fiscal years 2024, 2023, and 2022, we may experience a decline in the future. In response to increased competition and general adverse economic conditions in
this market, we may be required to modify our pricing practices. Changes in our pricing model could adversely affect our revenues and earnings.

Our insurance coverage may not be sufficient to avoid material impact on our financial position or results of operations resulting from claims or liabilities against us, and
we may not be able to obtain insurance coverage in the future.
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We maintain insurance coverage for protection against many risks of liability. The extent of our insurance coverage is under continuous review and is modified as we deem it necessary.
Despite this insurance, it is possible that claims or liabilities against us may have a material adverse impact on our financial position or results of operations. In addition, we may not be
able to obtain any insurance coverage, or adequate insurance coverage, when our existing insurance coverage expires.

Changes in government regulation or in practices relating to the pharmaceutical or biotechnology industries, including potential health care reform, could decrease the
need for the services we provide.

Governmental agencies throughout the world, but particularly in the U.S., strictly regulate the drug development process. Our business involves helping pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies, among others, navigate the regulatory drug approval process. Accordingly, many regulations, and often new regulations, are expected to result in higher
regulatory standards and often additional revenues for companies that service these industries. However, some changes in regulations, such as a relaxation in regulatory requirements
or the introduction of streamlined or expedited drug approval procedures, or an increase in regulatory requirements that we have difficulty satisfying or that make our services less
competitive, could eliminate or substantially reduce the demand for our services.

Any negative commentaries made by any regulatory agencies or any failure by us to comply with applicable regulations and related guidance could harm our reputation
and operating results, and compliance with new regulations and guidance may result in additional costs.

Any negative commentaries made by any regulatory agencies or any failure on our part to comply with applicable regulations could result in the termination of ongoing research or the
disqualification of data for submission to regulatory authorities. This could harm our reputation, our prospects for future work, and our operating results. If our operations are found to
violate any applicable law or other governmental regulations, we might be subject to civil and criminal penalties, damages, and fines. Any action against us for violation of these laws,
even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses, divert our management's attention from the operation of our business, and damage our
reputation.

Our sales cycle is lengthy, and customers may delay entering into contracts or decide not to adopt our products or solutions after we have expended significant time and
resources and supported evaluation by them of our technology, which could result in delays in recognizing revenue and negatively impact our results of operations.

Ongoing negotiations and evaluation projects for new products, with new customers or in new markets may not result in significant revenues for us if we are unable to close new
engagements on terms favorable to us in a timely manner, or at all. Unexpected delays in our sales cycle could cause our revenues to fall short of expectations. Further, the timing and
length of negotiations required to enter into agreements with our customers and the ultimate enforcement of complex negotiated contractual provisions as we intended is difficult to
predict. If we do not successfully negotiate certain key complex contractual provisions, there are disputes regarding such provisions, or if they are not enforceable as we intended, our
revenues and results of operations would suffer. Further, if we were to incur significant effort and then fail to enter into final contracts with prospective customers, or if a contract is
terminated earlier than expected, our revenues and results of operations could suffer.

Many of our contracts are fixed price and may be delayed or terminated or reduced in scope for reasons beyond our control, or we may underprice or overrun cost
estimates with these contracts, potentially resulting in financial losses.

Many of our contracts provide for services on a fixed-price or fee-for-service with a cap basis and, accordingly, we bear the financial risk if we initially underprice our contracts or
otherwise overrun our cost estimates. In addition, these contracts may be terminated or reduced in scope either immediately or upon notice. Cancellations may occur for a variety of
reasons, and often at the discretion of the client. The loss, reduction in scope, or delay of a large contract or the loss or delay of multiple contracts could materially adversely affect our
business, although our contracts frequently entitle us to receive the costs of winding down the terminated projects, as well as all fees earned by us up to the time of termination. Some
contracts also entitle us to a predetermined termination fee and irrevocably committed costs/expenses.

Impairment of goodwill or intangible assets may adversely impact future results of operations.
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We have intangible assets, including goodwill, capitalized computer software development costs, intellectual property, and other intangible assets, on our balance sheet due to our
acquisitions of businesses. The initial identification and valuation of these intangible assets and the determination of the estimated useful lives at the time of acquisition involve use of
management judgments and estimates. These estimates are based on, among other factors, input from accredited valuation consultants, reviews of projected future income cash flows,
and statutory regulations. The use of alternative estimates and assumptions might have increased or decreased the estimated fair value of our goodwill and intangible assets that could
potentially result in a different impact to our results of operations. If the future growth and operating results of our business are not as strong as anticipated and/or our market
capitalization declines, this could impact the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of goodwill or intangibles. To the extent goodwill or intangibles are impaired, their carrying
value will be written down to their implied fair value and a charge will be made to our income from continuing operations. Such an impairment charge could materially and adversely
affect our operating results.

Certain Risks Related to Our Operations

Delays in the release of new or enhanced products or services or undetected errors in our products or services may result in increased cost to us, delayed market
acceptance of our products, and delayed or lost revenue.

To achieve market acceptance, new or enhanced products or services can require long development and testing periods, which may result in delays in scheduled introduction. Any
delays in the release schedule for new or enhanced products or services may delay market acceptance of these products or services and may result in delays in new customer orders for
these new or enhanced products or services, or the loss of customer orders. In addition, new or enhanced products or services may contain a number of undetected errors or “bugs”
when they are first released. Although we extensively test each new or enhanced software product or service before it is released to the market, there can be no assurance that
significant errors will not be found in existing or future releases. As a result, in the months following the introduction of certain releases, we may need to devote significant resources to
correct these errors. There can be no assurance, however, that all of these errors can be corrected.

We are subject to various risks associated with the operation of a global business.

We derive a significant portion of our total revenue from our operations in international markets. Our global business may be affected by local economic conditions, including inflation,
recession, and currency-exchange-rate fluctuations. In addition, political and economic changes, including the imposition of import restrictions or tariffs, geopolitical instability,
international conflicts and terrorist acts, throughout the world may interfere with our or our customers’ activities in particular locations and result in a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and operating results. Potential trade restrictions, exchange controls, adverse tax consequences, and legal restrictions may affect the repatriation of funds
into the U.S. Also, we could be subject to unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, the difficulties of compliance with a wide variety of foreign laws and regulations, potentially
negative consequences from changes in or interpretations of U.S. and foreign tax laws, import and export licensing requirements, and longer accounts receivable cycles in certain
foreign countries. These risks, individually or in the aggregate, could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. While our employees, distributors, and
agents are required to comply with these laws, we cannot be sure that our internal policies and procedures will always protect us from violations of these laws despite our commitment to
legal compliance and corporate ethics. The occurrence or allegation of these types of risks may adversely affect our business, performance, prospects, value, financial condition, and
results of operations.

Changes in applicable U.S. and international tax laws or regulations and the resolution of tax disputes could negatively affect our financial results.

We are subject to income taxes, as well as non-income-based taxes, in both the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions in which we do business. Significant judgment is required in
determining our worldwide provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities. Changes in tax laws or tax rulings may have a significant adverse impact on our effective tax rate.

Further, in the ordinary course of a global business, there are many intercompany transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination could change if tax laws or tax
rulings were to be modified. We are also subject to non-income-based taxes, such as payroll, sales, use, value-added, net-worth, property, and goods-and-services taxes, in both the
U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions. Although we believe that our income and non-income-based tax estimates are appropriate, there is no assurance that the final determination of tax
audits or tax disputes will not be different from what is reflected in our historical income tax provisions and accruals.
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Given the unpredictability of possible changes to the U.S. or foreign tax laws and regulations and their potential interdependency, it is very difficult to predict the cumulative effect of such
tax laws and regulations on our results of operations and cash flow, but such laws and regulations (and changes thereto) could adversely impact our financial results.

Contract research services create a risk of liability.

As a clinical research organization (“CRO”), we face a range of potential liabilities including, without limitation, that errors or omissions in reporting of study detail in preclinical studies
that may lead to inaccurate reports, which may undermine the usefulness of a study or data from the study, or which may potentially advance studies absent the necessary support or
inhibit studies from proceeding to the next level of testing; and risks associated with our possible failure to properly care for our clients’ property, such as data, research models, records,
work in progress, or other archived materials.

Contractual risk transfer indemnifications generally do not protect us against liability arising from certain of our own actions, such as negligence or misconduct. We could be materially
and adversely affected if we are required to pay damages or bear the costs of defending any claim that is outside any contractual indemnification provision, or if a party does not fulfill its
indemnification obligations, or the damage is beyond the scope or level of insurance coverage. We also often contractually indemnify our clients (subject to a limitation of liability), similar
to the way they indemnify us, and we may be materially adversely affected if we have to fulfill our indemnity obligations.

The drug discovery and development industry has a history of patent and other intellectual property litigation, involvement in intellectual property lawsuits is often very
costly.

The drug discovery and development industry has a history of patent and other intellectual property litigation and these lawsuits will likely continue. Accordingly, we face potential patent
infringement suits by companies that have patents for similar products and methods used in business or other suits alleging infringement of their intellectual property rights. Legal
proceedings relating to intellectual property could be expensive, take significant time, and divert management's attention from other business concerns, whether we win or lose. If we do
not prevail in an infringement lawsuit brought against us, we might have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages, and we could be required to stop the infringing activity or
obtain a license to use technology on unfavorable terms.

We may not be able to successfully develop and market new services and products.

We may seek to develop and market new services and products that complement or expand our existing business or service offerings. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to
identify new technologies of interest to our customers. Even if we are able to identify new technologies of interest, we may not be able to negotiate license agreements on acceptable
terms, or at all. If we are unable to develop new services and products and/or create demand for those newly developed services and products, our future business, results of operations,
financial condition, and cash flows could be adversely affected.

We depend on key personnel and may not be able to retain these employees or recruit additional qualified personnel, which could harm our business.

Our success depends to a significant extent on the continued services of our senior management and other members of management. We have employment agreements with our CEO,
CFO, and certain of our other members of our leadership team that range from one to three years. If our CEO, CFO, business unit presidents, or other members of senior management
do not continue in their present positions, our business may suffer. Because of the specialized scientific nature of our business, we are highly dependent upon attracting and retaining
qualified scientific and technical and managerial personnel. While we have a strong record of employee retention, there is still significant competition for qualified personnel in the
software, pharmaceutical, and biotechnology fields. Therefore, we may not be able to attract and retain the qualified personnel necessary for the development of our business. The loss
of the services of existing personnel, as well as the failure to recruit additional key scientific, technical, and managerial personnel in a timely manner, could harm our business.

If we are not successful in selecting and integrating the businesses and technologies we acquire, or in managing our current and future divestitures, our business may
suffer.
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Over the years, we have expanded our business through acquisitions. We continue to search to acquire businesses and technologies and form strategic alliances. However, businesses
and technologies may not be available on terms and conditions we find acceptable. We risk spending time and money investigating and negotiating with potential acquisition or alliance
partners, but not completing transactions. Even if completed, acquisitions and alliances, involve numerous risks which may include: difficulties in achieving business and continuing
financial success; difficulties and expenses incurred in assimilating and integrating operations, services, products, technologies, or pre-existing relationships with our customers,
distributors, and suppliers; challenges with developing and operating new businesses, including those which are materially different from our existing businesses and which may require
the development or acquisition of new internal capabilities and expertise; challenges of maintaining staffing at the acquired entities, including loss of key employees; potential losses
resulting from undiscovered liabilities of acquired companies that are not covered by the indemnification we may obtain from the seller(s); the presence or absence of adequate internal
controls and/or significant fraud in the financial systems of acquired companies; diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns; acquisitions that become dilutive to
earnings, or in the event of acquisitions made through the issuance of our common stock to the shareholders of the acquired company, dilutive to the percentage of ownership of our
existing shareholders; new technologies and products developed by others which cause businesses or assets we acquire to become less valuable; and risks that disagreements or
disputes with prior owners of an acquired business, technology, service, or product may result in litigation expenses and dilution of our management'’s attention. In the event that an
acquired business or technology or an alliance does not meet our expectations, our results of operations may be adversely affected.

Our quarterly and annual operating results fluctuate and may continue to fluctuate in the future, and if we fail to meet the expectations of analysts or investors, our stock
price and the value of your investment could decline substantially.

We believe that operating results for any particular quarter are not necessarily a meaningful indication of future results. Nonetheless, fluctuations in our quarterly operating results could
negatively affect the market price of our common stock. Our results of operations in any quarter or annual period have varied in the past and may vary from quarter to quarter or year to
year. Our results of operations are influenced by various factors, many of which are out of our control, including without limitation: changes in the general global economy; the number
and scope of ongoing client engagements; the commencement, postponement, delay, progress, completion, or cancellation of client contracts in the quarter; changes in customer
budget cycles; the commencement, postponement, delay, progress, completion, or cancellation of client contracts in the quarter; changes in the mix of our products and services;
competitive pricing pressures; buying patterns of our clients; the costs and effects of potential acquisitions and integration thereof into or business; the timing of new product releases by
us or our competitors; general economic factors, including factors relating to disruptions in the world credit and equity markets and the related impact on our customers’ access to capital;
changes in tax laws, rules, regulations, and tax rates in the locations in which we operate; the financial performance of our investments; and exchange rate fluctuations.

We conduct business outside the U.S., which exposes us to foreign currency exchange rate risk, amongst other risk, and could have a negative impact on our financial
results.

We operate on a global basis. As we continue to increase our international operations, our revenues and expenditures in foreign currencies are expected to become more material and
subject to greater foreign currency exchange-rate fluctuations. Also, our foreign distributors typically sell our products in local currency, which impacts the price to foreign consumers.
Additionally, SLP France's functional currency is the Euro. Future foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and global credit markets may cause changes in the U.S. dollar value of our
purchases or sales and materially affect our revenues, profit margins, and results of operations, when converted to U.S. dollars. Changes in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to other
currencies could result in material foreign currency exchange-rate fluctuations and, as a result, our net earnings could be materially adversely affected.

As we continue to expand international operations and increase purchases and sales in foreign currencies, we may utilize derivative instruments, as needed, to hedge our foreign
currency exchange-rate risk. Our hedging strategies will depend on our forecasts of revenues, expenses, and cash flows, which are inherently subject to inaccuracies. Foreign currency

exchange-rate hedges, transactions, re-measurements, or translations could materially impact our consolidated financial statements.

A significant portion of our operating expenses is relatively fixed and planned expenditures are based in part on expectations regarding future revenues.
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Accordingly, unexpected revenue shortfalls may decrease our gross margins and could cause significant changes in our operating results from year to year. As a result, in future
quarters, our operating results could fall below the expectations of securities analysts or investors, in which event our stock price would likely decrease.

If our customers cancel their contracts or terminate or delay their clinical trials, we may lose or delay revenues and our business may be adversely impacted.

Certain of our customer contracts are subject to cancellation by our customers at any time with limited notice. Customers engaged in clinical trials may terminate or delay a clinical trial
for various reasons, including the failure of the tested product to satisfy safety or efficacy requirements, unexpected or undesired clinical results, decisions to de-emphasize a particular
product or forgo a particular clinical trial, decisions to downsize clinical development programs, insufficient patient enroliment or investigator recruitment, and production problems
resulting in shortages of required clinical supplies. Any termination or delay in the clinical trials would likely result in a consequential delay or termination in those customers’ service
contracts. We have experienced terminations and delays of our customer service contracts in the past (although no such past terminations have had a significant impact on our results of
operations), and we expect to experience additional terminations and delays in the future. The termination of single-study arrangements could result in decreased revenues and the
delay of our customers’ clinical trials could result in delayed professional services revenues, which could adversely impact our business.

If our security is breached, our business could be disrupted, our operating results could be harmed, and customers could be deterred from using our products and
services.

Our business relies on the secure electronic transmission, storage, and hosting of sensitive information, including clinical data, financial information, and other sensitive information
relating to our customers, company, and workforce. As a result, we face some risk of a deliberate or unintentional incident involving unauthorized access to our computer systems
(including, among other methods, cyberattacks or social engineering) that could result in misappropriation or loss of assets or sensitive information, data corruption, or other disruption of
business operations. Our contracts with our clients typically contain provisions that require us to keep confidential the information generated from these studies. In the event the
confidentiality of such information was compromised, we could suffer significant harm. In light of this risk, we have devoted significant resources to protecting and maintaining the
confidentiality of our information, including implementing security and privacy programs and controls, training our workforce, and implementing new technology. We have no guarantee
that these programs and controls will be adequate to prevent all possible security threats. We believe that any compromise of our electronic systems, including the unauthorized access,
use, or disclosure of sensitive information, or a significant disruption of our computing assets and networks, would adversely affect our reputation and our ability to fulfill contractual
obligations, and would require us to devote significant financial and other resources to mitigate such problems, and could increase our future cybersecurity costs. Moreover,
unauthorized access, use, or disclosure of such sensitive information could result in contractual or other liability. In addition, any real or perceived compromise of our security or
disclosure of sensitive information may result in lost revenues by deterring customers from using or purchasing our products and services in the future or prompting them to use
competing service providers.

Changes in and/or failure to comply with applicable data privacy laws, regulations, and interpretations of such laws and regulations could materially adversely affect our
reputation, market position, or our business and financial performance.

The collection, use, disclosure, storage, disposal, protection and other processing of information about individuals, in particular healthcare data and sensitive personal information, is
highly regulated in the United States, EU, and other jurisdictions, including but not limited to, under the U.S. Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), as

amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“‘HITECH”) and other U.S. privacy, security and breach notification and healthcare information laws;
the EU GDPR and its national implementing laws; the UK GDPR, data privacy laws in other countries around the world (e.g., China’s PIPL), as well as data privacy laws in individual
states in the U.S. (e.g., the California Consumer Privacy and Protection Act (“CCPA”), the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”), the New York State Personal Privacy Protection Law

(“PPPL") and the New York Privacy Act (“NYPA")). Although we require our customers who send their clinical data to us for analyses to provide it in de-identified form within the meaning

of HIPAA, in certain parts of our business, such as in conjunction with certain services we offer customers, we may process personal information relating to persons who have been, are,
and may in the future be involved in clinical trials. The collection, retention, use, disclosure, and other processing of such personal information is governed, by the applicable data privacy
and cybersecurity laws.
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While we do not consider our service offerings to generally cause us to be considered a covered entity under HIPAA, HIPAA does require the use of standard contract language in
contracts with our customers who are covered entities under HIPAA which define our obligations to safeguard the protected health information of patients if provided by our covered-
entity customers. We have adopted policies, practices, procedures, and training to safeguard the receipt, maintenance, processing, retention and transmission of such personal
information. In addition to the laws specifically passed to regulate the processing of personal information, the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) and many state attorneys may
generally interpret federal, state and local consumer protection laws to impose evolving standards for the handling and security of personal information.

As noted above, certain states have also adopted personal data privacy laws. For example, the CCPA, CPRA, PPPL and NYPA impose obligations and restrictions on businesses
regarding their collection, use, and sharing of personal information of, as well as defining certain data privacy rights to, California and New York residents, respectively. Such data privacy
rights include the right to access or have deleted their personal information that is processed by businesses and the right to opt out of certain sharing or processing of their personal
information. Most state data privacy laws also impose monetary penalties for violations of the respective law. The interpretation and application of the new state data privacy laws are
still evolving, which provides some uncertainty.

The EU GDPR and the UK GDPR also impose numerous requirements on companies that process personal data of residents from those respective jurisdictions, including requirements
relating to processing health and other sensitive personal data, cross-border transfers, notice and consent, and contractual obligations with vendors and service providers who process
personal data on behalf of a business. Both the EU GDPR and UK GDPR also provide individuals who are residents with certain data privacy rights with respect to an individual's
personal data processed by a business such as, for example, the right of access, the right to rectification, the right to erasure, the right to restrict processing, and the right to data
portability. The EU GDPR permits data protection authorities to impose significant penalties for violations of the EU GDPR including potential fines of up to €20 million or 4% of annual
global revenues, whichever is greater. The UK GDPR provides for similar penalties for violations of the UK GDPR. The interpretation and application of these laws by the judicial
systems are still evolving.

Legal developments in Europe have created complexity and uncertainty regarding transfers of personal data from the EU to the United States. Recently, the EU or UK and the U.S.
agreed to a new Data Privacy Framework which will allow businesses to transfer data from the EU to the US in a secure and compliant way. We also currently rely on the standard
contractual clauses with our customers to transfer personal data outside the EU to the U.S., among other data transfer mechanisms pursuant to the EU GDPR or the UK GDPR. While
the standard contractual clauses and the new Data Privacy Framework have been determined to be adequate personal data transfer mechanism for transfer of personal information from
the EU to the U.S. by some regulatory authorities, there remains the possibility that challenges will be raised to the sufficiency of such transfer mechanisms which has created
uncertainty.

In view of the trend for enactment of data privacy laws globally, we have implemented a comprehensive data privacy management program that includes physical, technological, and
operational safeguards (such as policies, notices, processes, contractual provisions, and employee trainings) to help ensure that we process personal information about our employees
and personal information received from our customers in a compliant manner. We have also appointed VeraSafe, a global leader in privacy law and data protection, as our Data
Protection Officer. As data protection laws expand in number and scope with relevance to the kinds of personal information we process, we may need to modify our data privacy program
and practices, and incur additional expenses, to accommodate such expansion and adjustments.

We rely upon a single internal hosting facility and Amazon Web Services to deliver certain solutions to our customers and any disruption of or interference with our
hosting systems, operations, or use of the Amazon Web Services could harm our business and results of operations.
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Substantially all of the computer hardware necessary to provide Cognigen solutions to our customers is located at our internal hosting facility in Buffalo, New York. In addition to our
dedicated hosting facility, we utilize third-party cloud computing services from Amazon Web Services ("AWS") to help us efficiently scale our cloud-based solutions and provide training.
Because we cannot easily switch our AWS-serviced operations to another cloud provider, any disruption of or interference with our use of AWS would impact our operations, and our
business would be adversely impacted. Our systems and operations or those of AWS could suffer damage or interruption from human error, fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications
failure, break-ins, terrorist attacks, acts of war, and similar events. The occurrence of a natural disaster, an act of terrorism or other unanticipated problems at our or AWS'’ hosting
facilities could result in lengthy interruptions in our service. Although we and AWS maintain backup facilities and disaster recovery services in the event of a system failure, these may be
insufficient or fail. Any system failure, including network, software, or hardware failure, which causes an interruption in our Buffalo data center or our use of AWS, or that causes a
decrease in responsiveness of our cloud-based solutions, could damage our reputation and cause us to lose customers, which could harm our business and results of operations. Our
business may be harmed if our customers and potential customers believe our service is unreliable.

Defects or errors in our software applications could harm our reputation, result in significant cost to us and impair our ability to market our solutions.

Our software applications are inherently complex and may contain defects or errors, some of which may be material. Errors may result from our own technology or from the interface of
our cloud-based solutions with legacy systems and data which we did not develop. The risk of errors is particularly significant when a new product is first introduced or when new
versions or enhancements of existing products are released. The likelihood of errors is increased when we do more frequent releases of new products and enhancements of existing
products. We have, from time to time, found defects in our solutions. Although these past defects have not resulted in any litigation against us to date, we have invested significant
capital, technical, managerial, and other resources to investigate and correct these past defects and we have needed to divert these resources from other development efforts. In
addition, material performance problems or defects in our solutions may arise in the future. Material defects in our cloud-based solutions could result in a reduction in revenues, delay in
market acceptance of our solutions, or credits or refunds to our customers. In addition, such defects may lead to the loss of existing customers and difficulty in attracting new customers,
diversion of development resources, or harm to our reputation. Correction of defects or errors could prove to be impossible or impractical. The costs incurred in correcting any defects or
errors or in responding to resulting claims or liability may be substantial and could adversely affect our operating results.

If we are not able to reliably meet our data storage and management requirements, or if we experience any failure or interruption in the delivery of our services over the
Internet, customer satisfaction and our reputation could be harmed, and customer contracts may be terminated.

As part of our current business model, we deliver our software over the Internet and store and manage hundreds of terabytes of data for our customers, resulting in substantial
information technology infrastructure and ongoing technological challenges, which we expect to continue to increase over time. If we do not reliably meet these data storage and
management requirements, or if we experience any failure or interruption in the delivery of our services over the Internet, customer satisfaction and our reputation could be harmed,
leading to reduced revenues and increased expenses. Our hosting services are subject to service-level agreements and, in the event that we fail to meet guaranteed service or
performance levels, we could be subject to customer credits or termination of these customer contracts. If the cost of meeting these data storage and management requirements
increases, our results of operations could be harmed.

Some of our software solutions and services utilize open-source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of these open-source licenses could
adversely affect our business.

Some of our software solutions utilize software covered by open-source licenses. Open-source software is typically freely accessible, usable and modifiable, and is used by our
development team in an effort to reduce development costs to speed up the development process. Certain open-source software licenses require a user who intends to distribute the
open-source software as a component of the user’s software to disclose publicly part or all of the source code to the user’s software. In addition, certain open-source software licenses
require the user of such software to make any derivative works of the open-source code available to others on unfavorable terms or at no cost. This can subject previously proprietary
software to open-source license terms. While we monitor the use of all open-source software in our products, processes, and technology and try to ensure that no open-source software
is used in such a way as to require us to disclose or make available the source code to the related product or solution, such use could inadvertently occur. This could harm our
intellectual property position and have a material adverse effect on our business.
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We may be unable to adequately enforce or defend our ownership and use of our intellectual property and other proprietary rights .

Our success is heavily dependent upon our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. We rely upon a combination of trademark, trade secret, copyright, and unfair competition
laws, as well as license and access agreements and other contractual provisions, to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. In addition, we attempt to protect our
intellectual property and proprietary information by requiring certain of our employees and consultants to enter into confidentiality, noncompetition, and assignment-of-inventions
agreements. The steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights may not be adequate to prevent misappropriation of our technology by third parties or may not be adequate
under the laws of some foreign countries, which may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States.

The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Many companies have encountered significant problems
in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. This could make it difficult for us to stop infringement or the misappropriation of our intellectual
property rights.

Our attempts to protect our intellectual property may be challenged by others or invalidated through administrative process or litigation, and agreement terms that address
noncompetition are difficult to enforce in many jurisdictions and may not be enforceable in any particular case. In addition, there remains the possibility that others will “reverse engineer”
our products in order to introduce competing products, or that others will develop competing technology independently. If we resort to legal proceedings to enforce our intellectual
property rights or to determine the validity and scope of the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of others, the proceedings could be burdensome and expensive, even if we
were to prevail. The failure to adequately protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, or
financial condition.

Current and future litigation against us, which may arise in the ordinary course of our business, could be costly and time-consuming to defend.

We are subject to claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, such as claims brought by our customers in connection with commercial disputes and employment claims made by
our current or former employees. Third parties may in the future assert intellectual property rights to technologies that are important to our business and demand back royalties or
demand that we license their technology. Litigation may result in substantial costs and may divert management's attention and resources, which may seriously harm our business, overall
financial condition, and operating results. Insurance may not cover such claims, may not be sufficient for one or more such claims, and may not continue to be available on terms
acceptable to us. A claim brought against us that is uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated costs, negatively affecting our business, results of operations, and financial
condition.

We could incur substantial costs resulting from product liability claims relating to our products or services or our customers’ use of our products or services.

Any failure or errors in a customer’s clinical trial caused or allegedly caused by our products or services could result in a claim for substantial damages against us by our customers or
the clinical trial participants, regardless of our responsibility for the failure. Although we are generally entitled to indemnification under our customer contracts against claims brought
against us by third parties arising out of our customers’ use of our products, we might find ourselves entangled in lawsuits against us that, even if unsuccessful, may divert our resources
and energy and adversely affect our business. Further, in the event we seek indemnification from a customer, a court may not enforce our indemnification right if the customer challenges
it or the customer may not be able to fund any amounts for indemnification owed to us. In addition, our existing insurance coverage may not continue to be available on reasonable terms
or may not be available in amounts sufficient to cover one or more large claims, or the insurer may disclaim coverage as to any future claim.

Our business depends on the clinical trial market, and a downturn in this market could cause our revenues to decrease.
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Some of our business depends on clinical trials conducted or sponsored by pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and medical device companies, CROs, and other entities. Our revenues may
decline as a result of conditions affecting these industries, including general economic downturns, increased consolidation, decreased competition, or fewer products under development.
Other developments that may affect these industries and harm our operating results include product liability claims, changes in government regulation, changes in governmental price
controls or third-party reimbursement practices, and changes in medical practices. Disruptions in the world credit and equity markets may also result in a global downturn in spending on
research and development and clinical trials and may impact our customers’ access to capital and their ability to pay for our solutions. Any decrease in research and development
expenditures or in the size, scope, or frequency of clinical trials could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, or financial condition.

As a public company, we are obligated to maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting. As our business expands both organically and through
acquisitions, we may be unable to effectively adapt our current systems to our changing business needs and may fail to develop and maintain an effective system of
disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting which could impair our ability to produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with
applicable laws and regulations.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), and other applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance
costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, and/or costly, and increase demand on our systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we
file annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. As a company, we continually review and evaluate the adequacy of our disclosure controls and procedures and
internal controls over financial reporting for deficiencies and improvements.

As we expand our operations through acquisitions and organic growth, our current systems for disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting may be
inadequate to meet our growing and changing business. Accordingly, we may require significant resources and management oversight to maintain and, if necessary, improve our
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. As a result, management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could
adversely affect our business and operating results. In addition, we may need to hire more employees in the future or engage outside consultants with respect to developing and
maintaining our disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, which would increase our costs and expenses.

In addition, as a public company, we are required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting. Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, together with adequate disclosure
controls and procedures, is designed to prevent fraud. As a result of the growth of our business both organically and through acquisitions, we may fail to implement required new or
improved controls, or experience difficulties in their implementation, which may cause us to not meet our reporting obligations. If we or our independent registered public accounting firm
were to identify a material weakness, and/or if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline, and we may be subject to investigation by the SEC.

Cash expenditures associated with our recent acquisitions may create certain liquidity and cash flow risks for us.
We incurred significant transaction costs and integration costs in connection with our acquisition of Immunetrics on June 16, 2023 and Pro-ficiency on June 11, 2024. While we expected
that the transactions costs would be incurred, there are many factors beyond our control that could affect the total amount of the integration expenses associated with the acquisitions.

Moreover, many of the expenses related to the Pro-ficiency acquisition, including integration-related expenses, that will be incurred are, by their nature, difficult to estimate accurately. To
the extent the integration expenses are higher than anticipated, we may experience liquidity or cash flow issues.
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In addition, pursuant to the Merger Agreement entered into in connection with the Immunetrics acquisition, we agreed to pay the equity holders of Immunetrics up to $1.8 million that was
held back at closing and an aggregate of $8.0 million in earnout payments, consisting of two payouts of up to $4.0 million each, if Immunetrics achieves specified financial during the
calendar years 2023 and 2024. The Company made the first cash earnout payment, in the aggregate amount of $2.5 million, to the former equity holders and employees of Immunetrics
in March 2024. The second earnout payments, if earned, will be payable and the holdback, less any applicable deductions, will be released in early calendar year 2025.

The Pro-ficiency business we acquired may not perform as we or the market expects, which could have an adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

The Pro-ficiency business, which we acquired Company in June 2024, may not perform as we or the market expects. Risks associated with the Pro-ficiency acquisition include, without
limitation: (i) integrating businesses is a difficult, expensive, and time-consuming process, and the failure to successfully integrate our businesses with the business of Pro-ficiency in the
expected time frame could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operation; (ii) the addition of Pro-ficiency and its subsidiaries has increased the size of our operations,
and, if we are not able to manage our expanded operations effectively, our common stock price may be adversely affected; (i) the extent to which we may realize the expected synergies
and cost savings is uncertain at this time; and (iii) the ultimate success of the Pro-ficiency acquisition will also depend upon relationships with third parties and Pro-ficiency’s and our pre-
existing customers, which relationships may be affected by customer preferences or public attitudes about the Pro-ficiency acquisition. Any adverse changes in these relationships could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The obligations and liabilities of Pro-ficiency, some of which may be unanticipated or unknown, may be greater than we have anticipated, which may diminish the value of
Pro-ficiency to us.

Pro-ficiency’s obligations and liabilities, some of which may not have been fully disclosed to us, may be greater than we have anticipated. The obligations and liabilities of Pro-ficiency
could have a material adverse effect on our business or Pro-ficiency’s value to us or on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. Although $1.0 million of the acquisition
consideration was placed in escrow to cover any negative net working capital adjustments (if any) and Pro-ficiency’s indemnification obligations under the Stock Purchase Agreement
entered into in connection with the acquisition, such escrowed amount may not be sufficient to cover all claims brought against us or Pro-ficiency in the future in relation to Pro-ficiency’'s
business or operations. In the event that we are responsible for liabilities substantially in excess of the $1.0 million escrow amount and/or any other amounts recovered through rights to
indemnification or alternative remedies that might be available to us, or the $10 million representation and warranty insurance policy we purchased in connection with the acquisition or
any applicable insurance, we could suffer consequences that would substantially reduce our earnings and cash flows or otherwise materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition, or results of operations.

Certain Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
We have discontinued the quarterly dividends on shares of our common stock and do not expect to pay any cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

Our Board of Directors has determined to suspend the quarterly dividends that we have historically paid to holders of our common stock and to use those funds to invest more into our
business instead. We do not expect to pay dividends to our stockholders at any time in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their shares after price
appreciation, which may not occur, as the only way to realize any return on their investment.

If our operating and financial performance in any given period does not meet any guidance that we provide to the public, the market price of our common stock may
decline.

We may, but are not obligated to, provide public guidance on our expected operating and financial results for future periods. Any such guidance will be comprised of forward-looking
statements subject to the risks and uncertainties described in this prospectus and in our other public filings and public statements. Our actual results may not always be in line with or
exceed any guidance we have provided, especially in times of economic uncertainty. If, in the future, our operating or financial results for a particular period do not meet any guidance
we provide or the expectations of investment analysts, or if we reduce our guidance for future periods, the market price of our common stock may decline. Even if we do issue public
guidance, there can be no assurance that we will continue to do so in the future.
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The price of our common stock may be volatile, and our stockholders may not be able to resell shares of our common stock at or above the price they paid.

The trading price of our common stock may be volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. Factors that could
cause volatility in the market price of our common stock include, but are not limited to: our operating results; delays in the release of new or enhanced products or services or undetected
errors in our products or services may result in increased cost to us, delayed market acceptance of our products, and delayed or lost revenue; announcements of new products or
services by us or our competitors; the success of our efforts to acquire or develop additional products and services; the loss of any of our key scientific or management personnel;
changes or developments in laws or regulations applicable to our products or services; FDA or other U.S. or foreign regulatory actions affecting us or our industry; consolidation within
the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries leading to fewer potential customers for our products and services; trading volume of our common stock; sales of our common stock by
us, our executive officers and directors, or our stockholders in the future; and general economic and market conditions and overall fluctuations in the United States equity markets,
including volatility related to the coronavirus outbreak and related health concerns and/or global political instability.

Broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price or liquidity of our common stock. In the past, when the market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that stock
have sometimes instituted securities class action litigation against the issuer. If any of our stockholders were to bring such a lawsuit against us, we could incur substantial costs
defending the lawsuit and the attention of our management would be diverted from the operation of our business, which could seriously harm our financial position. Any adverse
determination in litigation could also subject us to significant liabilities.

If securities or industry analysts issue an adverse or misleading opinion regarding our stock, or our inclusion in the S&P 600 discontinues, our stock price and trading
volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business as well as the stock indices that
our common stock is included in. If any of the analysts who cover us issue an adverse or misleading opinion regarding us, our business model, our intellectual property or our stock
performance, or if our operating results fail to meet the expectations of analysts, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to
publish reports on us regularly, or if the S&P 600 removes us from its index, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to
decline.

We may raise capital through the issuance of our common stock, convertible debt, or equity-linked securities, which could result in dilution to our stockholders or a
negative impact on the price of our common stock.

We may choose to raise additional capital due to market conditions or strategic considerations. To the extent that additional capital is raised through the sale of equity, convertible debt or
other equity-linked securities, the issuance of these securities could result in dilution to our stockholders or result in downward pressure on the price of our common stock.

We cannot guarantee that our share repurchase program will be fully consummated or that it will enhance long-term shareholder value, and share repurchases could
increase the volatility of the price of our common stock.
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Pursuant to the share repurchase program authorized by our Board of Directors on December 29, 2022, we are authorized to repurchase up to an aggregate of $50 million of outstanding
shares of our common stock from time to time through a combination of open market repurchases, privately negotiated transactions, 10b5-1 trading plans, accelerated stock repurchase
transactions, and/or other transactions, in accordance with federal securities laws. Such program may be suspended or discontinued at any time. On January 11, 1023, we entered into
the ASR Agreement with Morgan Stanley, pursuant to which we repurchased $20 million of shares of our common stock, amounting to an aggregate of 492,041 shares. Repurchases
under the ASR Agreement were completed in the quarter ended May 31, 2023, and we may not repurchase any additional shares thereunder. As of August 31, 2023, we have not made
any repurchases outside of the ASR Agreement. As a result, we may repurchase up to $30 million more of our shares of common stock pursuant to our repurchase program. However,
we are not obligated to repurchase any additional shares, and the timing, manner, price, and actual amount of further share repurchases will depend on a variety of factors, including
stock price, market conditions, other capital management needs and opportunities, and corporate and regulatory considerations. The timing of additional repurchases pursuant to our
share repurchase program, if any, could affect our stock price and increase its volatility. We cannot guarantee that we will repurchase any additional shares, and there can be no
assurance that any share repurchases will enhance shareholder value because the stock price of our common stock may decline below the levels at which we effected repurchases.

ITEM 1B - UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 1C - CYBERSECURITY

We are committed to safeguarding our stakeholders' sensitive information shared in the application of software and services provided by the Company. We believe that our cybersecurity
program, risk management and governance reflect our commitment to our stakeholders.

Risk Management and Strategy

We recognize that cybersecurity risks pose a significant threat to our business, customers, and stakeholders, and we have implemented a comprehensive cyber security program to
address these risks. We embed security considerations into every aspect of our operations, and our focus encompasses a proactive approach that involves continuous monitoring to
swiftly detect and respond to emerging threats to ensure that our stakeholders' information remains secure in the face of evolving cybersecurity challenges. With a foundation grounded
in industry best practices, including NIST 800-53, ISO 27001, CIS Top 20, and OWASP Top 10, we prioritize the identification and assessment of risks to create a protective shield
around our customers' data. This guides our processes for assessing, identifying, and managing risks related to cybersecurity threats and incidents, as well as ensuring compliance with
legal and contractual obligations. Our risk management processes are integrated into our overall business strategy and operations. We use various methods and tools to identify and
assess cybersecurity risks across all assets in our technical landscape, such as vulnerability scanning, penetration testing, threat intelligence, risk assessments, and audits from
customers.

We maintain robust cybersecurity incident response procedures, which includes escalating incidents to the appropriate level of management and Board of Directors, mitigation,
remediation and the assessment of materiality of cybersecurity incidents, or a series of related incidents, that may materially affect or are reasonably likely to materially affect our
business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition.

Furthermore, we conduct annual cybersecurity awareness training for our employees in order to provide them with the knowledge necessary to navigate the digital landscape securely.
We understand that cybersecurity is not a static concept but a dynamic discipline, and our security and privacy notice reflects this by incorporating internal audits, penetration testing,

active vulnerability scanning and a continuous improvement mindset.

As of the date of this Report, we are not aware of any cybersecurity incidents, or a series of related incidents, that have had or are reasonably likely to have a material impact on the
Company's results of operations or financial condition. For more information on our cybersecurity related risks, see Part 1, Item 1A. Risk Factors included elsewhere in this Report.

Governance
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We have established a corporate governance structure that provides oversight and guidance for our cybersecurity program. Our Board of Directors (the “Board”) is ultimately responsible
for the oversight of the Company’s security program. In the oversight of the program, the Board is focused on cybersecurity risk, including incident response planning, timely identification
and assessment of incidents, incident recovery and business continuity considerations.

We have engaged a third party consulting firm, VeraSafe, as our DPO. The DPO is responsible for ensuring that we have a Personal Data Protection program in place that is compliant
with data privacy laws such as the EU GDPR, UK GDPR, China’s PIPL, and data privacy laws enacted at the state level, as applicable to us. Our corporate Personal Data Protection
program includes policies, practices, and training directed to protecting personal data.

We have defined roles and responsibilities for the management of cybersecurity risks, including specific executive-level and management-level positions or committees. Our security
program is overseen by our VP of Information Technology, supported by corporate leadership from legal and finance. Our VP of Information Technology and the support team is
accountable for the program. Our function and business unit executive leadership, acting in support of the VP of Information Technology and the Board, is responsible for ensuring
organizational compliance with data protection regulations and controls across the organization. Our VP of Information Technology and Data Privacy Officer, are responsible for the
design, implementation, and monitoring of the security and privacy policies, standards, procedures, and controls that govern our information systems and data processing activities.

Our VP of Information Technology and support team also have a reporting responsibility to the executive leadership and the Board. They coordinate the response and remediation of
cybersecurity incidents and data breaches and report on the status and effectiveness of the security and privacy program to the Board and other stakeholders on an as needed basis.
The Board receives regular reports from management on our cybersecurity program, risks and activity.

We have established processes to ensure that management is informed about and monitors cybersecurity incident prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation. These processes
include regular reporting, escalation, and communication protocols, as well as periodic reviews and audits of the security and privacy program.

ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located in Lancaster, California. We maintain various additional office locations in the United States and Paris, France. Our employees predominantly
work remotely, in an effort to minimize our carbon footprint and cost structure, while supporting our talent retention and recruitment strategy. VWe do not believe that any of the physical
properties that we lease are material to our business.

ITEM 3 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We may become subject to litigation, claims, investigations, and audits arising from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. Management believes that there is no pending or
threatened litigation to which the Company and any of its subsidiaries, or any of the Company or its subsidiaries’ properties, is the subject of or party to, which, individually or in the
aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and/or cash flows.

ITEM 4 — MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable.

28



Table of Contents

PART Il
ITEM 5 - MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

The Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, has traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “SLP” since May 13, 2021, prior to which it traded on the
Nasdaq Capital Market under the same symbol.

Holders

As of October 18, 2024, there were 37 shareholders of record. A substantially greater number of holders of our common stock are “street name” or beneficial holders, whose shares are
held by banks, brokers, and other financial institutions.

Dividends

On July 2, 2024, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.06 per share to our shareholders. The dividend, with a dividend rate of $0.06 per share and an aggregat¢
of approximately $1.2 million, was distributed on August 5, 2024 to the approximately 20 million shareholders of record as of July 29, 2024.

Our Board of Directors has determined to discontinue the quarterly cash dividend historically paid by the Company, and to reallocate these funds to our capital allocation strategy for
investing in growth initiatives that are intended to generate long-term shareholder value. We do not currently anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable
future. Payment of future dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors after taking into account various factors, including our financial condition, operating results,
and current and anticipated cash needs. Investors should not purchase our common stock with the expectation of receiving cash dividends.

Refer to Note 6 — Shareholders’ Equity of the Notes to Financial Statements (Part Il, Item 8 of this Report) for further details regarding dividends.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information as of August 31, 2024, regarding our equity compensation plans:

(in thousands, except weighted-average amounts)
Number of securities remaining available
for future issuance under equity
Number of securities to be issued upon Weighted-average exercise price of = compensation plans (excluding securities

Plan category exercise of outstanding options outstanding options reflected in column (a))
Column reference (a) (b) (c)
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by
Security Holders 1,906 $ 37.64 1,234
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders —  $ — —
Total 1,906 $ 37.64 1,234

Shareholder Return Performance Graph
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The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on Simulations-Plus, Inc. (SLP) common stock with the cumulative total return for the same period of SLP's Peer
Groups (old and new). The graph assumes the investment of $100 as of August 31, 2019 and through August 31, 2024, assuming reinvestment of dividends. The historical information
set forth below is not necessarily indicative of future performance. In connection with filing this Report, the Company reassessed its peer group and determined that the companies
included in the S&P Small Cap 600 (“S&P Small Cap 600-New”) and the S&P 600 Health Care Technology Industry Index (“SP600-351030-New”) more closely match our Company
characteristics than the peer group the Company has previously included in its annual reports on Form 10-K, including companies listed on the Nasdag Composite Total Returns
(“NASDAQ-OId"), the Russell 3000 index (“Russell 3000-0ld"), and SP600 Health Care Equipment & Service Industry Group Index (“SP600-3510-0ld"). This performance graph shall
not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.

COMPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURNS
FISCAL YEARS ENDED AUGUST 31,
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, there were no other unregistered sales of our securities that were not reported in a Current Report on Form 8-K or our Quarterly Reports
on Form 10-Q.

Repurchases

On December 29, 2022, our Board of Directors authorized and approved a share repurchase program for up to $50 million of the outstanding shares of our common stock, and on
January 11, 2023, we entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement (the “ASR Agreement”) with Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC (“Morgan Stanley”) to repurchase an aggregate
of $20 million of our outstanding shares of common stock as part of the share repurchase program, which was settled in full in May 2023. The share repurchase program has no
expiration date but may be terminated at any time at our Board of Directors’ discretion.

In January 2023, we received an initial delivery of an aggregate of 408,685 shares of our common stock from Morgan Stanley pursuant to the ASR Agreement, in exchange for which we
made an initial payment of $20 million to Morgan Stanley. These 408,685 shares were retired and are treated as authorized, unissued shares. At final settlement on May 20, 2023, based

on the volume-weighted average price of our common stock during the term of the ASR Agreement, Morgan Stanley delivered an additional 83,356 shares of Company common stock to
us, which shares were also retired and treated as authorized, unissued shares.

After completion of the repurchases under the ASR Agreement, $30 million remains available for additional repurchases under our authorized repurchase program.
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The Company did not repurchase any shares of its common stock under its authorized repurchase program, or otherwise, during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024.
ITEM 6 - [RESERVED]
ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis is intended to assist the reader in understanding our results of operations and financial condition. Management's Discussion and
Analysis is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our audited consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1 of this Report. This Report includes
certain statements that may be deemed to be “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act. All statements, other than statements of historical
fact, included in this Report that address activities, events or developments that we expect, project, believe, or anticipate will or may occur in the future, including matters having to do
with expected and future revenue, our ability to fund our operations and repay debt, business strategies, expansion and growth of operations and other such matters, are forward-looking
statements. These statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by our management in light of its experience and its perception of historical trends, current
conditions, expected future developments, and other factors it believes are appropriate in the circumstances. These statements are subject to a number of assumptions, risks and
uncertainties, including general economic and business conditions, the business opportunities (or lack thereof) that may be presented to and pursued by us, our performance on our
current contracts and our success in obtaining new contracts, our ability to attract and retain qualified employees, and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. You are
cautioned that these forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and those actual results or developments may differ materially from those projected in such
statements.
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Management Overview

Fiscal Year 2024 Financial Highlights:

« Consolidated revenues increased by $10.4 million, or 18%, to $70.0 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to $59.6 million for the fiscal year ended
August 31, 2023

« Consolidated gross profit decreased by $4.8 million, or 10%, to $43.2 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to $47.9 million for the fiscal year ended
August 31, 2023

« Income from operations decreased by $2.6 million, or 30%, to $6.1 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, from $8.7 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023
« Netincome remained unchanged at $10.0 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to $10.0 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023
« Diluted earnings per share remained unchanged at $0.49 for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to $0.49 for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023
Strategy Going Forward:
« Continue to invest in research and development to enhance and expand our scientific product functionality and service capabilities
« Continue to pursue customer collaborations to support expansion of our products and services portfolio
« Continue our aggressive marketing campaigns to open new market opportunities
« Continue to expand our sales and marketing staff and distributor channels
« Continue to recruit and retain exceptional scientific staff to support our product and services innovation
« Continue to seek strategic acquisitions that complement our existing solutions portfolio and expand our markets

Fiscal year 2024 was a successful year for the Company on several fronts. We enhanced our leadership in modeling and simulation with the release of new technology. We expanded
our collaborations with industry and regulatory leaders. We executed on our strategy to expand our business and market opportunity through acquisitions. We also grew our scientific
staff through excellent retention and recruiting efforts. We believe the continued growth of our software and services business is the result of steadily increasing adoption and awareness
of the value of simulation and modeling software tools across the pharmaceutical industry, the continuing push by regulatory agencies for increased use of modeling and simulation, and
the expertise we offer as consultants to assist companies involved in the research and development of new medicines. We continue to be a leader in the fast-growing global
biosimulation market.

Acquisitions
Immunetrics

On June 16, 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of Immunetrics for an estimated consideration of $15.3 million. The Company made the first cash earnout payment issuable
pursuant to the Merger Agreement entered into in connection with the Immunetrics acquisition, in the aggregate amount of $2.5 million, to the former equity holders and employees of
Immunetrics in 2023. The Company has a remaining earnout obligation related to the Immunetrics acquisition for up to $5.5 million, as well as $1.8 million holdback liability, which are
expected to be paid out and released, to the extent earned and less any applicable deductions, in early calendar year 2025.

Pro-ficiency
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On June 11, 2024, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which it acquired Pro-ficiency for an estimated consideration of $100.2 million. At closing, an
aggregate of $1.0 of the purchase price was placed in escrow to fund payment obligations of the sellers with respect to post-closing purchase price adjustments and post-closing
indemnification obligations of the sellers. The primary purpose of this acquisition was to bring together two businesses, each with complementary expertise and services that are
grounded in science and focused on applying advanced technologies like Al to enhance actionable data analytics.

Results of Operations

Compatrison of fiscal years 2024 and 2023

(in thousands) Years ended % of Revenue
August 31, 2024 August 31, 2023 August 31, 2024 August 31, 2023 $ Change % Change
Revenue $ 70,013 $ 59,577 100 % 100 % $ 10,436 18 %
Cost of revenue 26,862 11,630 38 % 20 % 15,232 131 %
Gross profit 43,151 47,947 62 % 80 % (4,796) (10) %
Research and development 5,754 4,504 8 % 8 % 1,250 28 %
Sales and marketing 8,915 6,558 13 % 11 % 2,357 36 %
General and administrative 22,351 28,160 32 % 47 % (5,809) 21) %
Total operating expenses 37,020 39,222 53 % 66 % (2,202) (6) %
Income from operations 6,131 8,725 9 % 15 % (2,594) (30) %
Other income, net 6,280 2,970 9 % 5 % 3,310 111 %
Income before income taxes 12,411 11,695 18 % 20 % 716 6 %
Provision for income taxes (2,457) (1,734) (4) % (3) % (723) 42 %
Net income $ 9,954 $ 9,961 14 % 17 % $ @) — %
Revenues

Revenues increased by $10.4 million, or 18%, to $70.0 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to $59.6 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. This
increase is due to an increase of $4.5 million, or 12%, in software-related revenue primarily driven by higher revenues from Monolix™ of $1.3 million, higher revenues from GastroPlus®
of $1.0 million, higher revenues from QSP of $0.5 million, higher revenues from ADMET Predictor® of $0.4 million, and incremental revenues from ALI of $1.1 million. $5.9 million, or
26%, of the overall increase in revenues is due to an increase in service-related revenues, primarily driven by higher revenues from QSP services of $3.2 million, higher revenues from
CPP services of $2.0 million, offset by lower revenues from PBPK services of $0.4 million.

Cost of revenues

Cost of revenues increased by $15.2 million, or 131%, for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. This corresponds to an 18%
increase in cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue. $6.8 million of the increase in cost of revenues is due to the reorganization of our internal structure from divisions based on prior
acquisitions to business units organized around key product and service offerings. As part of this reorganization, we evaluated our departmental structure with a focus on continuing to
improve operational performance and profitability while providing our investors improved visibility to our progress. Accordingly, we moved all services personnel into cost of revenues
departments, moved all research and development personnel into research and development expense departments, moved all sales and marketing personnel into sales and marketing
expense departments, and moved all general and administrative personnel into general and administrative (“G&A”) expense departments. These movements completed the final step
toward consolidating the Company from the various acquired company divisions to a company-wide business unit structure. $6.8 million of the increase in cost of revenues corresponds
to a $6.8 million decrease in G&A expenses discussed below from the reorganization reclassification. $3.0 million of the increase in cost of revenues is due to the acquisition of Pro-
ficiency. $1.6 million of the increase in cost of revenues is due to a full year's recognition of expenses associated with the acquisition of Immunetrics in June 2023. $2.8 million of the
increase is due to compensation-related increases, primarily attributable to the addition of scientific headcount as well as general annual salary adjustments for existing employees.
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Gross profit

Gross profit decreased by $4.8 million, or 10%, to $43.2 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to $47.9 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. The
decrease in gross profit is primarily due to a decrease in gross profit for our services business of $6.5 million, or 43%, primarily resulting from the reorganization of our internal structure
as well as additional services headcount from the Pro-ficiency acquisition, partially offset by an increase in gross profit for our software business of $1.7 million, or 5%, reflecting the
strong revenue growth and operating leverage of our software business.

Overall gross margin percentage was 62% and 80% for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively.

Research and development

We incurred $9.0 million of R&D costs during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024. Of this amount, $3.2 million was capitalized as a part of capitalized software development costs and
$5.8 million was expensed. We incurred $7.8 million of research and development costs during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. Of this amount, $3.3 million was capitalized and
$4.5 million was expensed. R&D spend increased by $1.2 million, or 16%, for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. The increase is
mainly due to an increase of $0.5 million from the acquisition of Immunetrics, and an increase of $0.3 million from the acquisition of Proficiency. R&D spend as a percentage of revenue
is consistent at 13% for both periods.

Sales and marketing expenses

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $2.4 million, or 36%, to $8.9 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to $6.6 million for the fiscal year ended August 31,
2023. This corresponds to a 2% increase in sales and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $0.9 million of compensation-
related increases driven by an increase in stock compensation expense of $0.3 million, the addition to our team of a Chief Revenue Officer, sales commissions on the strong revenue
growth year over year, and general annual salary adjustments for existing employees. Additionally, the acquisitions of Pro-ficiency and Immunetrics, increased sales and marketing
expenses by $0.6 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

General, and administrative expenses

G&A expenses decreased $5.8 million, or 21%, to $22.4 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to $28.2 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. This
corresponds to 15% decrease in G&A expense as a percentage of revenue. The decrease is primarily driven by a $6.8 million shift from G&A expense to cost of revenues, as referenced
above, due to the reorganization of our internal structure from divisions based on prior acquisitions to business units organized around key product and service offerings and a decrease
of $1.1 million in mergers and acquisition expense, offset by an increase of $0.7 million from the acquisition of Pro-ficiency, an increase of $0.5 million from the acquisition of
Immunetrics, an increase of $1.0 million in compensation costs due to general annual salary adjustments for existing employees, an increase in professional fees of $0.3 million, an
increase in software license costs of $0.2 million, and an increase in amortization of internal-use software of $0.1 million.

Other income

Total other income was $6.3 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to total other income of $3.0 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. The increase is
primarily due to a decrease of $2.3 million in the fair value of the earnout liability related to the Immunetrics acquisition. The decrease in the fair value of the earnout liability is
attributable to a partial earnout attainment for the first earnout measurement period and more modest revenue projections for the second earnout measurement period. The earnout
target for the first measurement period was $4.0 million, however, based on revenue attainment, we only paid $2.5 million in March 2024 for the first earnout measurement period. As a
result of the partial attainment, there is a catch-up opportunity for the second measurement period's earnout payment to increase from the target of $4.0 million to $5.5 million.
Additionally, part of the increase is due to a foreign currency exchange gain of $0.4 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024 compared to a foreign currency exchange loss of
$0.5 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, and an increase in interest income of $0.2 million from our investments in debt securities driven by an increase in interest rates.

Provision for income taxes
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The provision for income taxes was $2.5 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to $1.7 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. Our effective tax rate
increased to 20% for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024 from 15% for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023 primarily due to a larger return to provision adjustment in the fiscal year
ended August 31, 2023 which lowered the effective tax rate in that year. This effect was partially offset by lower state income taxes during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024.

Compatrison of fiscal years 2023 and 2022

(in thousands) Years ended % of Revenue
August 31, 2023 August 31, 2022 August 31, 2023 August 31, 2022 $ Change % Change
Revenue $ 59,577 $ 53,906 100 % 100 % $ 5,671 11 %
Cost of revenue 11,630 10,822 20 % 20 % 808 7%
Gross profit 47,947 43,084 80 % 80 % 4,863 11 %
Research and development 4,504 3,208 8 % 6 % 1,296 40 %
Sales and marketing 6,558 4,879 11 % 9 % 1,679 34 %
General and administrative 28,160 20,086 47 % 37 % 8,074 40 %
Total operating expenses 39,222 28,173 66 % 52 % 11,049 39 %
Income from operations 8,725 14,911 15 % 28 % (6,186) (41)%
Other income, net 2,970 204 5 % — % 2,766 1,356 %
Income before income taxes 11,695 15,115 20 % 28 % (3,420) (23)%
Provision for income taxes (1,734) (2,632) (3) % (5) % 898 (34)%
Net income $ 9,961 $ 12,483 17 % 23% $ (2,522) (20)%
Revenues

Revenues increased by $5.7 million, or 11%, to $59.6 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, compared to $53.9 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022. This
increase is primarily due to an increase of $3.9 million, or 12% in software-related revenue driven by timing of the software license renewals and foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations when comparing the fiscal years ended August 31, 2023, and 2022 and a $1.8 million, or 8%, increase in service-related revenue driven by addition of Immunetrics services
revenue.

Cost of revenues

Cost of revenues increased by $0.8 million, or 7%, for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, compared to the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022. The increase is primarily due to an
increase of $0.6 million, or 19%, in software-related cost of revenue and an increase of $0.2 million, or 3%, in service-related cost of revenue driven by addition of Immunetrics services
cost when compared to the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased by $4.9 million, or 11%, to $47.9 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, compared to $43.1 million, for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022. The
increase in gross profit is primarily due to an increase in gross profit for our software business of $3.3 million, or 11%, and an increase in gross profit for our services business of $1.6
million, or 12%.

Overall gross margin percentage was 80% and 80% for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Research and development
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We incurred $7.8 million of research and development costs during fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. Of this amount, $3.3 million was capitalized as a part of capitalized software
development costs and $4.5 million was expensed. We incurred $6.4 million of research and development costs during fiscal year ended August 31, 2022. Of this amount, $3.2 million
was capitalized and $3.2 million was expensed. The overall increase in research and development costs is primarily due to development of the newest version of our MonolixSuite
product, version 2023R1, which was released on February 28, 2023, the development of the newest version of our GastroPlus product, version X (“GPX®"), and the development of the
newest version of our ADMET Predictor®, version 11, with significant enhancements to the AIDD module; as well as an increase in personnel costs from market compensation
adjustments following the Company’s engagement during fiscal year 2022 of an external consulting firm, Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., to complete a full market study on the compensation
payable to our employees compared to those of our “peers”. The Company rebuilt its career grading system based on the results of the compensation study to ensure competitive and
equitable pay for all our employees across the organization in base salary, cash bonus, and stock option grants. We believe that the market study and resulting compensation
adjustments were necessary in light of the highly competitive employment market to attract and retain superior talent.

Sales and marketing expenses

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $1.6 million, or 34%, to $6.6 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, compared to $4.9 million for the fiscal year ended August 31,
2022. This corresponds to a 2% increase in sales and marketing expense as a percentage of revenue. This increase was primarily due to a $1.7 million increase in employee and labor-
related expenses from a 11% headcount increase to meet the robust and growing demand for our services, as well as market compensation adjustments following the Company’s
engagement during fiscal year 2022 of an external consulting firm, Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., to complete a full market study on the compensation payable to our employees compared to
those of our “peers”. The Company rebuilt its career grading system based on the results of the compensation study to ensure competitive and equitable pay for all our employees across
the organization in base salary, cash bonus, and stock option grants. We believe that the market study and resulting compensation adjustments were necessary in light of the highly
competitive employment market to attract and retain superior talent. The $1.7 million increase in personnel costs includes an increase in base salaries of $0.9 million, an increase in
stock compensation of $0.5 million, and an increase in accrued bonuses of $0.2 million.

General and administrative expenses

G&A expenses increased by $8.1 million, or 40%, to $28.2 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, compared to $20.1 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022. This
corresponds to a 10% increase in G&A expense as a percentage of revenue. This increase was primarily due to a $3.8 million increase in employee and labor-related expenses from a
11% headcount increase to meet the robust and growing demand for our services, as well as market compensation adjustments following the Company’s engagement of an external
consulting firm, Arthur J. Gallagher & Co., during fiscal year 2022 to complete a full market study on the compensation payable to our employees compared to those of our “peers”. The
Company rebuilt its career grading system based on the results of the compensation study to ensure competitive and equitable pay for our employees across the organization in base
salary, cash bonus, and stock option grants. We believe that the market study and resulting compensation adjustments were necessary in light of the highly competitive employment
market to attract and retain superior talent. The $3.8 million increase in personnel costs includes an increase in base salaries of $0.7 million, an increase in accrued bonuses of $1.0
million, an increase in stock compensation of $1.1 million, and an increase in employee benefits of $0.4 million.

Additionally, the overall increase in G&A expenses is due to an increase in one-time charges such as merger and acquisition costs of $3.0 million, including a $1.6 million bonus
compensation charge for Immunetrics employees, and an impairment charge of $0.5 million for the Cognigen trade name due to management strategy to no longer use the Cognigen
trade name. In addition, G&A also increased due to an increase in director compensation of $0.2 million, an increase in accounting and tax fees of $0.2 million, and an increase of $0.1
million due to the newly required excise tax on share repurchases completed during fiscal year 2023.

Other income
Total other income was $3.0 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, compared to total other income of $0.2 for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022. The increase is primarily
due to an increase in interest income of $3.4 million driven by an increase in interest rates, partially offset by the change in the fair value of contingent consideration of $0.4 million mainly

driven by increase in the fair value of contingent consideration by $0.7 million for the Immunetrics earnout, when compared to $0.2 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022.

Provision for income taxes
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The provision for income taxes was $1.7 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, compared to $2.6 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022. Our effective tax rate
decreased to 15% mainly due to favorable foreign income tax rates for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, when compared to 17% for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of capital have been a follow-on public offering in August 2020 for $107.7 million and cash flows from our operations. We have achieved continuous positive
operating cash flow over the last fourteen fiscal years. We expect existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, cash generated by ongoing operations, and working capital,
will be sufficient to fund our operating activities and cash commitments for investing and financing activities, and material capital expenditures, for the next 12 months and beyond.

We continue to seek opportunities for strategic acquisitions, investments and partnerships. If one or more strategic opportunities are identified, a substantial portion of our cash reserves
may be required to complete it. If we identify an attractive strategic opportunity that would require more cash to complete than we are willing or able to use from our cash reserves, we
may consider financing options to complete the transaction, including obtaining loans or selling our securities. Additionally, our quest for strategic opportunities could result in a
significant change to our liquidity position and/or our results of operations if any such opportunities are completed.

Except as discussed elsewhere in this Report, we are not aware of any trends or demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that are reasonably likely to result in a decrease in
liquidity of our assets.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments

At August 31, 2024, the Company had $10.3 million in cash and cash equivalents, $9.9 million in short-term investments, and working capital of $27.3 million. Short-term investments
consist of highly liquid investment-grade fixed-income securities, diversified among industries and issuers. The investments are U.S. dollar-denominated securities. Our fixed-income
investments are exposed to interest rate risk and credit risk. The settlement risk related to these investments is insignificant, given that the short-term investments held are primarily
highly liquid investment-grade fixed-income securities and can readily be converted to cash when needed.

Restricted cash that was included within cash and cash equivalents as presented within our consolidated balance sheets as of August 31, 2024 and our consolidated statements of cash
flows for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024 was $0.1 million. The Company determined this to be immaterial. The restriction required us to maintain a minimum cash deposit in the
Pro-ficiency bank account to collateralize an outstanding corporate credit card balance. The associated corporate credit card program was terminated as part of the integration of Pro-
ficiency and the cash restriction was removed as of October 4, 2024.

Cash Flows
Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $13.3 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024. Our operating cash flows resulted in part from our net income of $10.0 million,
which was generated by cash received from our customers, offset by cash payments we made to third parties for their services and employee compensation. In addition, $4.2 million
related to changes in balances of operating assets and liabilities was subtracted from net income and $7.6 million related to non-cash charges was added to net income to reconcile to
cash flow from operations.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $21.9 million for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. Our operating cash flows resulted primarily from our net income of $10.0 million. In
addition, $5.1 million related to changes in balances of operating assets and liabilities was added to net income and $6.8 million related to noncash charges was added to net income to
reconcile to cash flow from operations.

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased by $8.5 million during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, compared to the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. This decrease was
driven by working capital changes.

Investing Activities
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Net cash used in investing activities during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, was $54.0 million, primarily due to the acquisition of Pro-ficiency of $98.8 million, purchase of short-
term investments of $67.2 million and computer software development costs of $3.2 million, offset by proceeds from maturities of short-term investments of $71.1 million, and proceeds
from sales of investments of $45.2 million.

Net cash provided by investing activities during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, was $7.4 million, primarily due to the proceeds from maturities of short-term investments of $114.9
million, offset by purchase of short-term investments of $95.0 million, acquisition of Immunetrics of $8.2 million, and computer software development costs of $3.2 million.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, was $6.6 million, primarily due to dividend payments totaling $4.8 million and the first cash earnout
payments in the aggregate amount of $2.5 million to the former equity holders and employees of Immunetrics, partially offset by proceeds from the exercise of stock options totaling $0.7
million.

Net cash used in financing activities during fiscal year ended August 31, 2023, was $23.2 million, primarily due to share repurchases of $20.0 million and dividend payments totaling $4.8
million, offset by proceeds from the exercise of stock options totaling $1.5 million.

Pro-ficiency Acquisition

On June 11, 2024, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement, by and among the Company, Pro-ficiency, each of the stockholders of Pro-ficiency (collectively, the
“Sellers”) and WRYP Stockholders Services, LLC, solely in its capacity as the Sellers’ Representative (the “Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, at closing on
June 11, 2024 (the “Closing”), the Company purchased 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Pro-ficiency (the “Acquisition”) from the Sellers for an aggregate purchase
price of $100 million in cash, subject to post-closing adjustments for net working capital, closing cash, indebtedness, and transaction expenses (collectively, the “Purchase Price”). An
aggregate of $1 million of the Purchase Price was placed in escrow to fund payment obligations of the Sellers with respect to post-Closing Purchase Price adjustments and post-Closing
indemnification obligations of the Sellers, and another portion of the Purchase Price was deposited into an account to reimburse the Seller Representative for any fees and expenses
incurred by the Seller Representative in performing its duties under the Purchase Agreement as the representative of the Sellers. As a result of the Acquisition, at Closing, Pro-ficiency
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The Purchase Agreement contains standard representations, warranties and covenants and other terms customary in similar transactions. Subject to the provisions of the Purchase
Agreement, the Sellers have agreed to indemnify the Company and its affiliates for losses resulting from breaches of representations, warranties and covenants of the Sellers and Pro-
ficiency in the Purchase Agreement and for certain other specified matters. The Sellers’ indemnification obligations are subject to various limitations, including, among other things, a
deductible, caps, and time limitations.

In connection with the Acquisition, the Company obtained a customary buyer’s representation and warranty insurance policy (the “R&W Insurance Policy”) providing for up to $10 million

in coverage in the case of breaches of representations and warranties of the Sellers and Pro-ficiency contained in the Purchase Agreement, subject to certain exclusions and an initial
$0.5 million retention. The Company, on the one hand, and the Sellers, on the other hand, each bore one-half of the cost of obtaining the R&W Insurance Policy.
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Immunetrics Acquisition

The Company has a remaining obligation for the Immunetrics acquisition for up to $5.5 million and $1.8 million hold back liability which are expected to be paid out and released, to the
extent earned and less any applicable deductions, in early calendar year 2025.

Dividends

Refer to Note 6 — Shareholders’ Equity of the Notes to Financial Statements (Part |, ltem 1 of this Report) for details regarding dividends. As discussed elsewhere in this Report, our
Board of Directors has determined to discontinue the Company’s quarterly cash dividend after the dividend distribution on August 5, 2024, and reallocate these funds to our capital
allocation strategy for investing in growth initiatives that are intended to generate long-term shareholder value. We do not expect to pay dividends to our stockholders at any time in the
foreseeable future. Anyone considering investing in our stock should not rely on such investment to provide dividend income.

Share Repurchases

For the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, we did not repurchase any shares of Company stock and for the fiscal year ending August 31, 2023, we repurchased 492,041 shares of
Company common stock through our share repurchase program. All repurchases were made using cash resources. As of August 31, 2024, $30 million remains available for additional
repurchases under our authorized repurchase program. However, we are not obligated to repurchase any additional shares, and the timing, manner, price, and actual amount of further
share repurchases will depend on a variety of factors, including stock price, market conditions, other capital management needs and opportunities, and corporate and regulatory
considerations. The share repurchase program has no expiration date but may be terminated at any time at our Board of Directors’ discretion.

Critical Accounting Estimates
Estimates

Our financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with GAAP. Preparing financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses. These estimates and assumptions are affected by management’s application of accounting policies. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Significant accounting policies for us include revenue recognition, accounting for capitalized software development costs, valuation of stock
options, and accounting for income taxes.

Revenue Recognition
We generate revenue primarily from the sale of software licenses, software and providing consulting services to the pharmaceutical industry for drug development.
The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:
i. Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer
ii. Identification of the performance obligations in the contract
ii. Determination of the transaction price
iv. Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
v. Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation
The Company accounts for a contract when it has approval and commitment from both parties, the rights of the parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has
commercial substance, and collectability of consideration is probable. Contracts generally have fixed pricing terms and are not subject to variable pricing. The Company considers the

nature and significance of each specific performance obligation under a contract when allocating the proceeds under each contract. Accounting for contracts includes significant
judgement in the estimation of estimated hours/cost to be incurred on consulting contracts, and the di minimis nature of the post-sales costs associated with software sales.

Capitalized Computer Software Development Costs
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Software development costs are capitalized in accordance with ASC 985-20, “Costs of Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Marketed.” Capitalization of software development costs begins
upon the establishment of technological feasibility and is discontinued when the product is available for sale. The establishment of technological feasibility and the ongoing assessment
for recoverability of capitalized computer software development costs require considerable judgment by management with respect to certain external factors including, but not limited to,
technological feasibility, anticipated future gross revenues, estimated economic life, and changes in software and hardware technologies. Capitalized software development costs are
comprised primarily of salaries and direct payroll-related costs and the purchase of existing software to be used in the Company’s software products. Total capitalized computer software
development costs were $3.3 million, $3.3 million, and $3.2 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Amortization of capitalized computer software development costs is calculated on a product-by-product basis on the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of the
products, not to exceed five years. Amortization of software development costs amounted to $2.1 million, $1.5 million, and $1.2 million, respectively for the fiscal years ended August 31,
2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. We expect future amortization expense to vary due to increases in capitalized computer software development costs.

We test capitalized computer software development costs for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Intangible Assets and Goodwiill

The Company performs valuations of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on each acquisition accounted for as a business combination and recognizes the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at their acquisition date fair value. Acquired intangible assets include customer relationships, software, trade name, and noncompete agreements. The Company
determines the appropriate useful life by performing an analysis of expected cash flows based on historical experience of the acquired businesses. Intangible assets are amortized over
their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method, which approximates the pattern in which the majority of the economic benefits are expected to be consumed.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the fair value of the acquired net assets. Goodwill is not amortized, instead it is tested for impairment annually or
when events or circumstances change that would indicate that goodwill might be impaired. Events or circumstances that could trigger an impairment review include, but are not limited to,
a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, unanticipated competition, a loss of key personnel, significant
changes in the manner of the Company's use of the acquired assets or the strategy for the Company's overall business, significant negative industry or economic trends, or significant
underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future results of operations.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level, which is one level below or the same as an operating segment. As of August 31, 2024, after completion of the Company's
internal reorganization, the Company determined that it had six reporting units: CHEM, PBPK, QSP, CPP, MC, and ALI.

As of August 31, 2024, the entire balance of goodwill was attributed to four of the Company's reporting units, CPP, QSP, ALI, and MC. Intangible assets subject to amortization are

reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. As of August 31, 2023, we recognized $0.5 million
of impairment charge for the Cognigen trade name, as management determined we will no longer use the Cognigen trade name. Management determined that this impairment is
immaterial and has no bearing on any other intangible assets including goodwill. No impairment losses were recorded during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, and 2022,
respectively.

Business Acquisitions

The Company accounted for the acquisitions of Cognigen, DILIsym, Lixoft, Immunetrics, and Pro-ficiency using the acquisition method of accounting where the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are recognized based on their respective estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. Determining the fair value of certain acquired assets and liabilities is subjective in nature and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including, but
not limited to, the selection of appropriate valuation methodology, projected revenue, expenses, and cash flows, weighted-average cost of capital, discount rates, and estimates of
terminal values. Business acquisitions are included in the Company's consolidated financial statements as of the date of the acquisition.

Research and Development Costs
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Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred until technological feasibility has been established, or when the costs are for maintenance and minor modification
of existing software products that do not add significant new capabilities to the products. These costs include salaries, laboratory experiment, and purchased software that was
developed by other companies and incorporated into, or used in the development of, our final products.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740-10, “Income Taxes,” which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for expected future tax
consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns.

Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences in future years of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial
reporting amounts at each year end based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation
allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. The provision for income taxes represents the tax payable for the
period and the change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock options in accordance with ASC 718-10, “Compensation-Stock Compensation.” Under this method, compensation costs include the estimated grant-
date fair value of awards amortized over the options’ vesting period. Stock-based compensation costs, not including shares issued to directors for services, was $6.0 million, $4.3 million,
and $2.7 million, for the fiscal years ending August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

ITEM 7A - QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As of August 31, 2024, and 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $10.3 million and $57.5 million, respectively. We hold available-for-sale short-term investments that are exposed
to market risk related to changes in interest rates, which could affect the value of our assets and liabilities. We do not hold any trading and/or held-to-maturity securities. Some of our
cash and cash equivalents are held in money market accounts; however, they are not exposed to market-rate risk.

In the years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, we sold $7.1 million, $7.3 million, and $6.7 million, respectively, of software licenses through representatives in certain European
and Asian markets in local currencies. As a result, our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows can be affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates,
particularly fluctuations in the Euro, Yen, and RMB exchange rates. These transactions give rise to receivables that are denominated in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency. The value of these receivables is subject to changes because the receivables may become worth more or less due to changes in currency exchange rates. The majority of our
software license agreements are denominated in U.S. dollars. We mitigate our risk from foreign currency fluctuations by adjusting prices in our foreign markets on a periodic basis. We
base these changes on market conditions while working closely with our representatives. SLP France (f/k/a Lixoft), our French subsidiary, mainly sells in U.S. dollars and Euros and uses
the Euro as the functional currency. As such, we are subject to currency translation and exchange rate changes. We do not hedge currencies or enter into derivative contracts.

ITEM 8 - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
See the financial statements included elsewhere in this Report beginning at page F-1, which are incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 9 - CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
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ITEM 9A - CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating our “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) as
of the end of the period covered by this Report (the “Evaluation Date”), have concluded that as of the Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that
information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in
Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in such reports is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, where appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S.
GAAP. Management assessed our internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2024, the end of our fiscal year. Management based its assessment on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Management's assessment included
evaluation of elements such as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation, accounting policies, and our overall control
environment.

Based on this assessment, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of the end of the fiscal year to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. We reviewed the
results of management’s assessment with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial
reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well-designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control
system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their
costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur
or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future
events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of
controls to future periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or
procedures.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No change in the Company'’s internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) occurred during the Company’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B - OTHER INFORMATION

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

The adoption or termination of contracts, instructions or written plans for the purchase or sale of our securities by our Section 16 officers and directors for the quarter ended August 31,
2024, each of which is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act (“Rule 10b5-1 Plan”), were as follows:

Aggregate # of Securities to be

Name Title Action Date Adopted Expiration Date Purchased/Sold
John DiBella Business Unit President Adoption 07/24/2024 10/25/2025 69,689
Jill-Fiedler-Kelly @ Business Unit President Adoption 08/08/2024 10/25/2025 20,000
Brett Howell ® Business Unit President Termination 01/09/2023 07/31/2024 28,875
John Paglia ¥ Director Termination 08/09/2023 07/31/2024 13,000

@) On July 24, 2024, John DiBella, entered into a pre-arranged stock trading plan pursuant to Rule 10b5-1, which provides for (i) the potential exercise of vested stock options and the
associated sale of up to 26,889 shares of Company common stock underlying such options, and (ii) the potential sale of up to an additional 42,800 shares of Company common stock.
The plan expires on October 25, 2025, or upon the earlier completion of all authorized transactions under the plan.

(@ On July 24, 2024, Jill Fiedler-Kelly , entered into a pre-arranged stock trading plan pursuant to Rule 10b5-1, which provides for the potential exercise of vested stock options and the
associated sale of up to 20,000 shares of Company common stock underlying such options. The plan expires on October 25, 2025, or upon the earlier completion of all authorized

transactions under the plan.

() On July 31, 2024, the pre-arranged stock trading plan pursuant to Rule 10b5-1, adopted by Brett Howell on January 9, 2023, automatically terminated pursuant to its terms. The
expired plan provided for the potential sale of up to 28,875 shares of Company common stock until July 31, 2024.

) On July 31, 2024, the pre-arranged stock trading plan pursuant to Rule 10b5-1, adopted by John Paglia on August 9, 2023, automatically terminated pursuant to its terms. The
expired plan provided for (i) the potential exercise of vested stock options and the associated sale of up to 11,000 shares of Company common stock underlying such options, and (ii) the

potential sale of up to an additional 2,000 shares of Company common stock until July 31, 2024.

Other than those disclosed above, none of our directors or officers adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” in each case
as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K.

Please refer to the information included in Part I, Item 5 under the heading “Repurchases” for information regarding the Company’s effective share repurchase program.
ITEM 9C - DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 10 - DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s definitive proxy statement, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120
days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Report (the “Proxy Statement”).

We have adopted a Code of Conduct (the "code of conduct") that applies to each of our directors and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
controller, and all other employees performing similar functions. The code of conduct is publicly available on our website in the “Investors” section of our corporate website at
www.simulations-plus.com under “Investors — Shareholder Information.” If we make any substantive amendments to the code of conduct or grant any waiver, including any implicit
waiver, from a provision of the code of conduct, we will disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver on our website or in a Current Report on Form 8-K.

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12 - SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13 - CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14 - PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Our independent registered public accounting firm is Rose, Snyder & Jacobs LLP, Encino, CA, Auditor Firm ID: 468 .

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

EXHIBIT NUMBER

DESCRIPTION

21

2.2n

2.38

2.4

2.5

3.1

3.2
3.3

4.1

4.2

4.3
10.1(1)
10.2

10.3
10.4(1)
10.5

10.6(1)
10.77

10.8

10.9

10.10n

10.11(1)

10.12(1)

10.13(1)

10.14(t)

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated July 23, 2014, by and among the Company, Cognigen Corporation and the other parties thereto, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K/A filed November 18, 2014.

Stock Purchase Agreement by and among Simulations Plus, Inc., DILIsym Services, Inc., the Shareholders’ Representative and the Shareholders of DILIsym Services
Inc.. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed July 10, 2017.

Share Purchase and Contribution Agreement Relating to Lixoft, dated March 31, 2020, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed April 2
2020.

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated June 16, 2023, by and among Simulations Plus, Inc., Insight Merger Sub, Inc.. Immunetrics. Inc. and LaunchCyte LLC
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed June 20, 2023.
Stock Purchase Agreement. by and among the Company. Pro-ficiency Holdings. Inc. (“Pro-ficiency”). each of the stockholders of Pro-ficiency (collectively. the “Sellers”

and WRYP_Stockholders Services, LLC, solely in its capacity as the Sellers’ Representative, dated June 11, 2024, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company'’s Form 8-K filed June 12, 2024.

Articles of Incorporation of the Company, incorporated by reference to an Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed November 29, 2010.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, incorporated by reference to an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K filed November 29, 2010.

Certificate_of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Bylaws of Simulations Plus, Inc., incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive
Schedule 14A Proxy Statement filed December 31, 2018.

Form of Common Stock Certificate, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Registration No. 333-6680) filed March 25,
1997.

Share Exchange Agreement, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (Registration No. 333-6680) filed March 25, 1997.
Description of Securities, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s 10-K filed October 27, 2023.
The Company’s 2007 Stock Option Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed April 9, 2014.

Second Amendment to Lease by and between the Company and Crest Development LLC, dated as of May 1. 2016. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4(d) to the
Company'’s Form 10-K filed November 14, 2016.

Form of Indemnification Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed August 10, 2016.

2017 Equity Incentive Plan. incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Schedule 14A Proxy Statement filed December 29, 2016.

Third Amendment to Lease by and between the Company and Crest Development LLC, dated as of December 28, 2020 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company'’s Form 8-K filed January 4, 2021..

Simulation Plus. Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed June 8. 2021.

Confirmation for Fixed Dollar Accelerated Share Repurchase Transaction, dated as of January 11, 2023, by and between Simulations Plus, Inc. and Morgan Stanley &
Co. LLC, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed January 12, 2023.

First Amendment to 2021 Equity Incentive Plan of Simulations Plus, Inc.. dated February 9, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K
filed February 13, 2023.

Fourth Amendment to Lease by and between the Company and Crest Development LLC, dated as of February 17, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Company’s Form 10-Q filed April 7, 2023.

Earnout Agreement by and among Simulations Plus, Inc., Insight Merger Sub, Inc., Immunetrics, Inc. and LaunchCyte LLC, dated June 16, 2023, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company'’s Form 8-K filed June 20, 2023.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Simulations Plus, Inc. and Shawn O’Connor, dated November 1, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed November 1. 2023.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Simulations Plus, Inc. and Will Frederick, dated November 1, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Company’s Form 8-K filed November 1, 2023.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Simulations Plus. Inc. and John DiBella, dated November 1, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Company’s Form 8-K filed November 1, 2023.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Simulations Plus, Inc. and Jill Fiedler-Kelly, dated November 1, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5 to the Company's Form 8-K filed November 1, 2023.
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1023459/000168316817001747/simulations_10q-ex1013.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1023459/000168316820001066/simulations_ex0201.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1023459/000102345923000074/ex21agreementandplanofme.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1023459/000102345924000078/ex21pchsredactionsslpproje.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1023459/000101968710004248/simulations_10k-ex0301.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1023459/000168316821002416/simulations_ex1001.htm
https://www.sec.gov/ix?doc=/Archives/edgar/data/0001023459/000102345923000017/slp-20230111.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1023459/000102345923000074/ex101-earnoutagreement_u.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1023459/000102345923000128/ex101-shawnoconnoraremploy.htm
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10.15(t) Second Amendment to 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, of Simulations Plus, Inc., dated February 8, 2024, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Form
8-K filed February 12, 2024.
19.1* Simulations Plus, Inc. Insider Trading Policy.
21.1* List of Subsidiaries.
23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
24.1* Power of Attorney (see signature page)
311* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
97.1* Simulations Plus, Inc. Compensation Recovery Policy
101.INS*** Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH*** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents
104%** Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101 attachments).
* Filed herewith.
hid Furnished herewith.
xkk The XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 shall not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise
subject to liability of that section and shall not be incorporated by reference into any filing or other document pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except as
shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing or document.
n Schedules, exhibits, and similar supporting attachments or agreements are omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company agrees to furnish a
supplemental copy of any omitted schedule or similar attachment to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
T Refers to management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.
+ Portions of the exhibit, marked by brackets, have been omitted because the omitted information (i) is not material and (ii) would likely cause competitive harm if publicly

disclosed.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

October 30, 2024

SIMULATIONS PLUS, INC.

By: /s/ Will Frederick

Will Fredrick
Chief Financial Officer & Chief Operating Officer (Principal financial officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Will Frederick his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and
agent, with full power of substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and
agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent or his substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title

s/ Shawn O’Connor Chief Executive Officer (Principal executive officer)

Shawn O’Connor
October 30, 2024

/sl Walter S. Woltosz Chairman of the Board of Directors

Walter S. Woltosz
October 30, 2024

/sl Dr. Lisa LaVange Director

Dr. Lisa LaVange
October 30, 2024

/sl Dr. Daniel Weiner Director

Dr. Daniel Weiner
October 30, 2024

Is/ Sharlene Evans Director

Sharlene Evans
October 30, 2024

/s/ Dr. John K. Paglia Director
Dr. John K. Paglia
October 30, 2024

/s! Will Frederick Chief Financial Officer & Chief Operating Officer (Principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer)

Will Frederick
October 30, 2024
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Simulations Plus, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Simulations Plus, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Company) as of August 31, 2024, and 2023, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended August 31, 2024, and the
related notes (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of August 31, 2024, and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended August 31, 2024, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of August 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), and our report dated October 30, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we
are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Revenue Recognition — Contract progress estimates
Description of the Matter
As discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company earns a portion of its revenue through consulting service agreements. For performance obligations

related to services that are required to be recognized over time, the Company generally measures its progress to completion using an input measure of total labor hours incurred divided
by total labor hours expected to be incurred.
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Auditing revenue recognition is complex and highly judgmental due to the variability and uncertainty associated with the Company’s assessment of measure of progress. Changes in
these estimates would have a significant effect on the amount of revenue recognized.

How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls that address the risk of material misstatement of consulting services revenue
including those associated with estimated labor hours expected to be incurred. We tested controls over management's process to collect, review, and approve the data used in
assessing revenue recognized over time.

To test the measures of progress used for performance obligations related to services that are required to be recognized over time, our audit procedures included, among others,
evaluating the appropriateness of the Company’s accounting policy for each type of arrangement, testing the identified measure of performance by reading contracts with customers,
including all amendments, and reviewing the contract analyses prepared by management. We evaluated whether the selected measures of progress towards satisfaction of performance

obligations were applied consistently. We also tested the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used for the measure of progress.

Rose, Snyder & Jacobs LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2004.
Encino, California

October 30, 2024
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of Simulations Plus, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Simulations Plus, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Company’s) internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2024, based on criteria established in  Internal Control
—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheet and the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the Company, and our report dated October 30, 2024 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company'’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Rose, Snyder & Jacobs LLP

Encino, CA

October 30, 2024
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SIMULATIONS PLUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

August 31, 2024

August 31, 2023

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $ 149 and $ 46
Prepaid income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Short-term investments
Total current assets
Long-term assets
Capitalized computer software development costs, net of accumulated amortization of $ 18,727 and $ 17,199
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Intellectual property, net of accumulated amortization of $ 5,490 and $ 9,301
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $ 3,177 and $ 2,107
Goodwill
Deferred tax assets
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation
Accrued expenses
Contracts payable - current portion
Operating lease liability - current portion
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Deferred income taxes, net
Operating lease liability - net of current portion
Contracts payable - net of current portion
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders' equity
Preferred stock, $ 0.001 par value — 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding

Common stock, $ 0.001 par value and additional paid-in capital — 50,000,000 shares authorized; 20,051,134 and 19,937,961 shares

issued and outstanding
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total shareholders' equity

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

$ 10,311 $ 57,523
9,136 10,201
2,197 804
7,753 3,904
9,944 57,940
39,341 130,372
12,499 11,335
812 671
1,027 1,247
23,130 8,689
23,210 12,825
96,078 19,099
= 1,438
542 425
$ 196,639 $ 186,101
$ 602 $ 144
4,513 4,392
2,043 659
2,440 3,250
475 442
1,996 3,100
12,069 11,987
1,608 —
531 755
— 3,330
14,208 16,072
$ — 8 —
152,328 144,974
30,354 25,196
(251) (141)
182,431 170,029
$ 196,639 $ 186,101
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SIMULATIONS PLUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Years ended August 31,

(in thousands, except per common share amounts) 2024 2023 2022
Revenues
Software $ 41,024 $ 36,517 $ 32,642
Services 28,989 23,060 21,264
Total revenues 70,013 59,577 53,906
Cost of revenues
Software 6,478 3,627 3,060
Services 20,384 8,003 7,762
Total cost of revenues 26,862 11,630 10,822
Gross profit 43,151 47,947 43,084
Operating expenses
Research and development 5,754 4,504 3,208
Sales and marketing 8,915 6,558 4,879
General and administrative 22,351 28,160 20,086
Total operating expenses 37,020 39,222 28,173
Income from operations 6,131 8,725 14,911
Other income 6,280 2,970 204
Income before income taxes 12,411 11,695 15,115
Provision for income taxes (2,457) (1,734) (2,632)
Net income $ 9,954 $ 9,961 $ 12,483
Earnings per share
Basic 0.50 050 $ 0.62
Diluted $ 049 $ 049 $ 0.60
Weighted-average common shares outstanding
Basic 19,987 20,075 20,196
Diluted 20,301 20,465 20,749
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustments (105) 167 (265)
Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities (5) — —
Comprehensive income $ 9,844 $ 10,128 $ 12,218

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(in thousands, except per common share amounts)

SIMULATIONS PLUS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Years ended August 31,

2024 2023 2022

Common stock and additional paid in capital

Balance, beginning of period 144,974 $ 138,512 $ 133,418

Exercise of stock options 731 1,543 891

Stock-based compensation 6,023 4,319 2,686

Shares issued to Directors for services 600 600 351

Shares issued - Lixoft — — 1,166
Balance, end of period 152,328 144,974 138,512
Retained earnings

Balance, beginning of period 25,196 40,044 32,407

Declaration of dividends (4,796) (4,809) (4,846)

Repurchase and retirement of common shares — (20,000) —

Net income 9,954 9,961 12,483
Balance, end of period 30,354 25,196 40,044
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Balance, beginning of period (141) (308) (43)

Other comprehensive (loss) income (110) 167 (265)
Balance, end of period (251) (141) (308)
Total shareholders’ equity 182,431 $ 170,029 $ 178,248
Cash dividends declared per common share 024 % 024 % 0.24

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SIMULATIONS PLUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended August 31,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 9,954 $ 9,961 $ 12,483

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 5,665 3,840 3,574
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (1,639) 680 283
Amortization of investment discounts (1,116) (1,134) 1,678
Stock-based compensation 6,538 4,828 3,037
Deferred income taxes (1,765) (2,095) (270)
Loss from disposal of assets — 6 —
Impairment of other intangibles — 500 —
Currency translation adjustments (105) 167 (265)

(Increase) decrease in

Accounts receivable 3,129 4,097 (3,936)
Prepaid income taxes (1,393) 587 (379)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (2,143) (501) 1,081

Increase (decrease) in

Accounts payable (477) (81) (162)
Other liabilities (768) 832 (1,437)
Accrued income taxes — (7) —
Deferred revenue (2,560) 176 2,213
Net cash provided by operating activities 13,320 21,856 17,900

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment (566) (453) (819)
Purchase of short-term investments (67,159) (95,045) (100,846 )
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments 71,089 114,907 109,121
Proceeds from sales of investments 45,177 — —
Purchased intangibles (541) (601) —
Business acquisition, net of cash acquired (98,773) (8,223) —
Capitalized computer software development costs (3,194) (3,219) (3,151)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (53,967 ) 7,366 4,305

Cash flows from financing activities

Payment of dividends (4,796) (4,809) (4,846)
Payments on contracts payable (2,500) — (3,667)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 731 1,543 891
Repurchase and retirement of common shares — (20,000) —
Net cash used in financing activities (6,565 ) (23,266) (7,622)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (47,212) 5,956 14,583
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period $ 57523 $ 51,567 $ 36,984
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 10,311 $ 57,523 $ 51,567

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Income taxes paid $ 5689 $ 3204 $ 3,233

Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities

Stock issued for acquisition of Lixoft $ — 8 — 3 1,166
Creation of contract liabilities from acquisition of subsidiaries $ — $ 5900 $ —
Right of use assets capitalized $ 212 $ 227 $ 624

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Simulations Plus, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2024

NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

At the beginning of fiscal year 2024, the Company reorganized its internal structure to create a more integrated and cohesive operating platform based on key product and services
offerings rather than separate divisions based on its prior acquisitions. This business unit restructuring is engendering greater scientific collaboration and knowledge sharing within the
Company that leads to identifying new opportunities that both advance the Company'’s business objectives and deepen client relationships. Continuing with our strategic plan of aligning
our business units around products and services, the Pro-ficiency acquisition resulted in two new business units, Adaptive Learning & Insights and Medical Communications, giving the
Company six business units that include:

+ Cheminformatics (“CHEM");

« Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetics (“PBPK”);

«  Clinical Pharmacology and Pharmacometrics (“CPP");
*  Quantitative Systems Pharmacology (“QSP");

« Adaptive Learning & Insights (“ALI"); and

¢ Medical Communications (“MC").

For more than 25 years, Simulations Plus has been a leading provider in the biosimulation market, offering end-to-end solutions across the drug development continuum, including
guiding early drug discovery, establishing pre-clinical protocols, developing clinical programs, enabling clinical trial operations, facilitating regulatory submissions for product approval,
and supporting commercial market launches. We are a premier developer of modeling and simulation software for drug discovery and development, including the prediction of properties
of molecules utilizing both artificial intelligence (“Al”) and machine learning technology. Our software and consulting services are provided to major pharmaceutical, biotechnology,
agrochemical, cosmetics, and food industry companies and academic and regulatory agencies worldwide for use in the conduct of industry-based research. Our customers use our
software programs and scientific consulting services to enhance their understanding of the properties of potential new therapies and to use emerging data to improve formulations, select
and justify dosing regimens, support generic pharmaceutical product development, optimize clinical trial designs, and simulate outcomes in special populations, such as in elderly and
pediatric patients.

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates include, among other estimates, assumptions used in the allocation of the transaction price to
separate performance obligations, estimates towards the measure of progress of completion on fixed-price service contracts, the determination of fair values and useful lives of long-lived
assets as well as intangible assets, goodwill, allowance for credit losses for accounts receivable, recoverability of deferred tax assets, recognition of deferred revenue, determination of
fair value of equity-based awards, and assumptions used in testing for impairment of long-lived assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and such differences may be
material to the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue primarily from the sale of software licenses and by providing consulting services to the pharmaceutical industry for drug development.

In accordance with ASC 606, we determine revenue recognition through the following steps:
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i Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer

ii. Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

iii. Determination of the transaction price

iv. Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
V. Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation

Components of Revenue

The following is a description of principal activities from which the Company generates revenue. As part of the accounting for these arrangements, the Company must develop
assumptions that require judgment to determine the standalone selling price for each performance obligation identified in the contract. Standalone selling prices are determined based on
the prices at which the Company separately sells its services or goods.

Software Revenues:

Software revenues are generated primarily from sales of software licenses at the time the software is unlocked, and the term commences. The license period typically is one year or
less. Along with the license, a di minimis amount of customer support is provided to assist the customer with the software. Should the customer need more than a di minimis amount of
support, they can choose to enter into a separate contract for additional training. Most software is installed on our customers’ servers and the Company has no control of the software
once the sale is made except for the licensing parameters that control numbers of users, modules, and expiration dates. Payments are generally due upon invoicing on a net-30 basis,
unless other payment terms are negotiated with the customer based on customer history. Typical industry standards apply.

For certain software arrangements the Company hosts the licenses on servers maintained by the Company. Revenue for those arrangements is accounted as Software as a Service
over the life of the contract. These arrangements account for a small portion of software revenues of the Company.

Consulting Contracts:

Consulting services provided to our customers are generally recognized over time as the contracts are performed and the services are rendered. The Company measures its consulting
revenue based on time expended compared to total estimated hours to complete a project. The Company believes the method chosen for its contract revenue best depicts the transfer of
benefits to the customer under the contracts. Payments are generally due upon invoicing on a net-30 basis, unless other payment terms are negotiated with the customer based on
customer history. Typical industry standards apply.

Grant revenue:

The Company receives government assistance in the form of cash grants which vary in size, duration, and conditions from domestic governmental agencies. Accounting for the grant
revenue does not fall under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. For government assistance in which no specific US GAAP applies, the Company accounts for such
transactions as revenue and by analogy to a grant model. The grant revenue is recognized on a gross basis. The grant revenue is recognized over the duration of the program when the
conditions attached to the grant are achieved. If conditions are not satisfied, the grants are often subject to reduction, repayment, or termination. The Company classifies the impact of
government assistance on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income as services revenue.

The Company received assistance from domestic governmental agencies to provide reimbursement for various costs incurred for research and development. These include direct grant
awards and subawards. The grants awarded are currently set to expire at various dates through 2025. The Company recognized $ 1.0 million, $ 1.1 million, and $ 0.7 million for the fiscal
years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively, within Services revenues on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income related to such
assistance. Amounts that have been earned but not yet funded are included in Accounts Receivable. Computer equipment allowable by the grants are classified under Fixed Assets.
Subawards due to unrelated entities are classified under Accrued Expenses.

Remaining Performance Obligations

F-10



Table of Contents

As of August 31, 2024, remaining performance obligations were $ 10.8 million. Ninety-seven percent of the remaining performance obligations are expected to be recognized over the
next twelve months , with the remainder expected to be recognized thereafter.

Disaggregation of Revenues

The components of revenue for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were as follows:

Years ended August 31,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Software licenses

Point in time $ 40,068 $ 35369 $ 31,587

Over time 956 1,148 1,055
Services

Over time 28,989 23,060 21,264
Total revenues $ 70,013 $ 59,577 $ 53,906

Contract Balances
Contract asset excluding accounts receivable balances as of August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, were $ 5.9 million, $ 2.7 million, and $ 1.7 million, respectively.

During the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024, the Company recognized $ 2.9 million of revenue that was included in contract liabilities as of August 31, 2023, and during the fiscal year
ended August 31, 2023, the Company recognized $ 2.6 million of revenue that was included in contract liabilities as of August 31, 2022.

Deferred Commissions

Sales commissions earned by our sales force and our commissioned sales representatives are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer. We
apply the practical expedient as described in ASC 340-40-25-4 to expense costs as incurred for sales commissions, since the amortization period of the asset that we otherwise would
have recognized is one year or less. This expense is included in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income as sales and marketing expense.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, we consider all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Restricted cash
that was included within cash and cash equivalents as presented within our consolidated balance sheets as of August 31, 2024 and our consolidated statements of cash flows for the
fiscal year ended August 31, 2024 was $ 0.1 million. The Company determined this to be immaterial. The restriction required us to maintain a minimum cash deposit in the Pro-ficiency
bank account to collateralize an outstanding corporate credit card balance. The associated corporate credit card program was terminated as part of the integration of Pro-ficiency and the
cash restriction was removed as of October 4, 2024.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses

The Company extends credit to its customers in the normal course of business. The Company evaluates its allowance for credit losses based on its estimate of the collectability of its
trade accounts receivable. As part of this assessment, the Company considers various factors including the financial condition of the individual companies with which it does business,
the aging of receivable balances, historical experience, changes in customer payment terms, current market conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic
conditions. In times of economic turmoil, the Company’s estimates and judgments with respect to the collectability of its receivables are subject to greater uncertainty than in more stable
periods. Accounts receivable balances will be charged off against the allowance for credit losses after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is
considered remote.

The activity in the allowance for credit losses related to our trade receivables is summarized as follows:
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Years ended August 31,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Balance, beginning of period $ 46 $ 12 $ 78
Provision for credit losses 189 77 (66)
Write-offs (86) (43) —

Balance, end of period $ 149 $ 46 $ 12

Investments

The Company may invest excess cash balances in short-term and long-term marketable debt securities. Investments may consist of certificates of deposit, money market accounts,
government-sponsored enterprise securities, corporate bonds, and/or commercial paper within the parameters of our Investment Policy and Guidelines. The Company accounts for its
investments in marketable securities in accordance with ASC 320, Investments — Debt and Equity Securities. This statement requires debt securities to be classified into three
categories:

Held-to-maturity—Debt securities that the entity has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are measured at amortized cost and are presented at the net amount expected to be
collected. Any change in the allowance for credit losses during the period is reflected in earnings. Discounts and premiums to par value of the debt securities are amortized to interest
income/expense over the term of the security.

Trading Securities—Debt securities that are bought and held primarily for the purpose of selling in the near term are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses included in
earnings.

Available-for-Sale (“AFS”")—Debt securities not classified as either securities held-to-maturity or trading securities are reported at fair value. For AFS debt securities in an unrealized-loss
position, we evaluate as of the balance sheet date whether the unrealized losses are attributable to a credit loss or other factors. The portion of unrealized losses related to a credit loss
is recognized in earnings, and the portion of unrealized loss not related to a credit loss is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). For AFS debt securities, the unrealized gains
and losses are included in other comprehensive income until realized, at which time they are reported through net income.

We classify our investments in marketable debt securities based on the facts and circumstances present at the time of purchase of the securities. We subsequently reassess the
appropriateness of that classification at each reporting date. As of August 31, 2024, all of our investments were classified as AFS, as we sold the previously classified held-to-maturity
securities to fund our acquisition of Pro-ficiency. All of our investments were classified as held-to-maturity for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023.

Research & Development and Capitalized Software Development Costs

Research and development ("R&D") activities include both enhancement of existing products and development of new products. Development of new products and adding functionality to
existing products are capitalized in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 985-20, “Costs of Software to Be Sold,

Leased, or Marketed.” R&D expenditures, which primarily relate to both capitalized and expensed salaries, R&D supplies, and R&D consulting, were $ 9.0 million during fiscal year 2024,
of which $ 3.3 million was capitalized. R&D expenditures were $ 7.8 million during fiscal year 2023, of which $ 3.3 million was capitalized. R&D expenditures during fiscal year 2022
were $ 6.4 million, of which $ 3.2 million was capitalized.

Software development costs are capitalized in accordance with ASC 985-20. Capitalization of software development costs begins upon the establishment of technological feasibility and
is discontinued when the product is available for sale.

The establishment of technological feasibility and the ongoing assessment for recoverability of capitalized software development costs require considerable judgment by management
with respect to certain external factors including, but not limited to, technological feasibility, anticipated future gross revenue, estimated economic life, and changes in software and
hardware technologies. Capitalized software development costs are comprised primarily of salaries and direct payroll-related costs and the purchase of existing software to be used in
our software products.
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Amortization of capitalized software development costs is calculated on a product-by-product basis on the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of the products (not to
exceed five years ). Amortization of software development costs amounted to $ 2.1 million, $ 1.5 million, and $ 1.2 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022,
respectively. We expect future amortization expense to vary due to increases in capitalized computer software development costs.

The Company assesses capitalized computer software development costs for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, or fair market value for property and equipment acquired in business combinations, less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives as follows:

Equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 3to 7 years
Furniture and fixtures 5to 7 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the asset life or lease term

Maintenance and minor replacements are charged to expense as incurred. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the results of operations.
Internal-use Software

We have capitalized certain internal-use software costs in accordance with ASC 350-40, which are included in intangible assets. The amortization of such costs is classified as general
and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. Maintenance of and minor upgrades to internal-use software are also classified as general and administrative
expenses as incurred.

Leases

We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use (“‘ROU") assets and operating lease liabilities (current and long-
term) in our consolidated balance sheets.

ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating
lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of our leases do not provide an
implicit rate, we generally use our incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at the
commencement date. The operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made at or before the commencement date and excludes lease incentives. Our lease terms
may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Supplemental information related to operating leases was as follows as of August 31, 2024:

(in thousands)

ROU assets $ 1,027
Lease liabilities, current $ 475
Lease liabilities, long-term $ 531
Operating lease costs $ 503
Weighted-average remaining lease term 2.42 years
Weighted-average discount rate 5.46 %

Business units and internal restructuring
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Consistent with the reorganization of our internal structuring to move away from divisions based on our prior acquisitions to business units organized around key product and service
offerings, as of August 31, 2024, our reporting units now include the following business units:

+  Cheminformatics, or CHEM;

* Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetics, or PBPK;

* Quantitative Systems Pharmacology, or QSP;

«  Clinical Pharmacology and Pharmacometrics, or CPP;
« Adaptive Learning & Insights, or ALI; and

¢ Medical Communications, or MC.

As part of this reorganization, we also took the opportunity to evaluate our departmental structure with a focus on continuing to improve operational performance and profitability.
Accordingly, we moved all services personnel into cost of revenues departments, all research and development (“R&D") personnel into R&D expense departments, all sales and
marketing personnel into sales and marketing expense departments, and all overhead personnel into general and administrative expense departments. To provide investors improved
visibility to our progress, we also decided to report separately our sales and marketing expenses from our general and administrative expenses.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

We perform valuations of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on each acquisition accounted for as a business combination and recognize the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
at their acquisition-date fair value. Acquired intangible assets include customer relationships, software, trade names, and noncompete agreements. We determine the appropriate useful
life by performing an analysis of expected cash flows based on historical experience of the acquired businesses. Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful
lives using the straight-line method, which approximates the pattern in which the majority of the economic benefits are expected to be consumed. Finite-lived intangible assets subject to
amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable.

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the fair value of the acquired net assets. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually or when events or circumstances change that would indicate that they might be impaired. Events or circumstances that could trigger an impairment review include, but are not
limited to, a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, unanticipated competition, a loss of key personnel,
significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business, significant negative industry or economic trends, or significant
underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future results of operations.

Goodwill and the other assets and liabilities acquired as part of the Immunetrics acquisition have been assigned to our QSP reporting unit. Goodwill and the other assets and liabilities
acquired as part of the Pro-ficiency acquisition have been assigned to our ALI and MC reporting units.

Goodwill and intangible assets are tested for impairment at the reporting unit level, which is either one level below or the same level as an operating segment.

Reconciliation of Goodwill for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024:

(in thousands) CPP QSP ALI MC Total
Balance, August 31, 2022 $ 7323 % 5598 $ — % — % 12,921
Addition —_ 6,178 —_ —_ 6,178
Impairments — — — — —
Balance, August 31, 2023 $ 7,323 $ 11,776 $ — $ — $ 19,099
Addition — — 31,108 45,871 76,979
Impairments — — — — —
Balance, August 31, 2024 $ 7,323 % 11,776 $ 31,108 $ 45871 $ 96,078

The following table summarizes other intangible assets as of August 31, 2024:
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Amortization Acquisition Accumulated
(in thousands) Period Value Amortization Net Book Value
Trade names None 12,610 — % 12,610
Covenants not to compete Straight line 2 to 3 years 100 23 77
Other internal use software Straight line 3 to 13 years 608 47 561
Customer relationships Straight line 8 to 14 years 10,540 2,726 7,814
ERP Straight line 15 years 2,529 381 2,148
26,387 3,177 23,210
The following table summarizes other intangible assets as of August 31, 2023:
Amortization Acquisition Accumulated
(in thousands) Period Value Amortization Net Book Value
Trade names None 4,210 — 4,210
Covenants not to compete Straight line 2 years 30 3 27
Other internal use software Straight line 3 to 13 years 350 10 340
Customer relationships Straight line 8 to 14 years 8,230 1,887 6,343
ERP Straight line 15 years 2,112 207 1,905
14,932 2,107 12,825
Total amortization expense for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 was $ 1.1 million, $ 0.6 million, and $ 0.6 million, respectively.
Estimated future amortization of finite-lived intangible assets for the next five fiscal years are as follows:
(in thousands)
Years Ending August 31, Amount
2025 $ 1,288
2026 $ 1,272
2027 $ 1,221
2028 $ 1,059
2029 $ 1,059

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair
value. The categories are as follows:

Level Input: Input Definition:

Level | Inputs that are unadjusted, quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets at the measurement date.

Level Il Inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level I, that are observable for the asset or liability through corroboration with market data at the measurement
date.

Level I Unobservable inputs that reflect management'’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

For certain of our financial instruments, including accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued compensation and other accrued expenses, the carrying amounts are
representative of their fair values due to their short maturities.
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We invest a portion of our excess cash balances in short-term debt securities. Short-term debt securities investments as of August 31, 2024, and 2023, consisted of corporate bonds and
term deposits with maturities remaining of less than 12 months. In addition, under the fair-value hierarchy, the fair market values of the Company’s cash equivalents and investments are
Level I. We may also invest excess cash balances in certificates of deposit, money market accounts, government-sponsored enterprise securities, and/or commercial paper. We account
for our investments in accordance with ASC 320, Investments — Debt and Equity Securities. As of August 31, 2024, all investments were classified as AFS securities, as we recently sold
securities previously classified as held-to-maturity to fund the acquisition that closed on June 11, 2024, as discussed in Note 12. Unrealized losses on investments as of August 31, 2024
were insignificant and not indicative of a change in credit quality, thus no allowance for credit losses has been recorded. Unrealized losses on investments as of August 31, 2023 were
primarily caused by rising interest rates rather than changes in credit quality, thus we did not record an allowance for credit losses.

The following tables summarize our short-term investments as of August 31, 2024, and 2023:

August 31, 2024

(in thousands) Amortized cost Unrealized gains Unrealized losses Fair value
Level 1:
Term deposits (due within one year) $ 1,500 $ — % — % 1,500
Corporate debt securities (due within one year) 8,448 — (4) 8,444
Total Level 1 9,048 — (4) 9,944
Level 2: — — — —
Level 3: — — — —
Total available-for-sale securities $ 9,948 $ — 3 (4) $ 9,944

August 31, 2023

(in thousands) Amortized cost Unrealized gains  Unrealized losses Fair value
Level 1:
Term deposits (due within one year) $ 4,000 $ — 3 — 3 4,000
U.S. government and agency securities (due within one year) 4,453 — (5) 4,448
Commercial paper (due within one year) 9,070 — (9) 9,061
Corporate debt securities (due within one year) 40,417 — (101) 40,316
Total Level 1 57,940 — (115) 57,825
Level 2: — — — —
Level 3: — — — —
Total held-to-maturity securities $ 57,940 $ — 3 (115) $ 57,825

As of August 31, 2024 and 2023 , the Company had a liability for contingent consideration related to its acquisition of Immunetrics. The fair value measurement of the contingent
consideration obligations is determined using Level 3 inputs. The fair value of contingent consideration obligations is based on a discounted cash flow model using a probability-
weighted income approach. These fair value measurements represent Level 3 measurements as they are based on significant inputs not observable in markets. Significant judgment is
employed in determining the appropriateness of these assumptions as of the acquisition date and for each subsequent period. Accordingly, changes in assumptions could have a
material impact on the amount of contingent consideration expense the Company records in any given period. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration obligations are
recorded in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations .

The following is a reconciliation of contingent consideration at fair value:
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(in thousands) Amount
Contingent consideration at August 31, 2023 $ 4,780
Contingent consideration payment (2,500)
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (1,640)
Contingent consideration at August 31, 2024 $ 640

Business Combination

The acquisition method of accounting for business combinations requires us to use significant estimates and assumptions, including fair value estimates, as of the business combination
date and to refine those estimates as necessary during the measurement period (defined as the period, not to exceed one year, in which we may adjust the provisional amounts
recognized for a business combination).

Under the acquisition method of accounting, we recognize separately from goodwill the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interests in an
acquiree, generally at the acquisition-date fair value. We measure goodwill as of the acquisition-date as the excess of consideration transferred, which we also measure at fair value, over
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Costs that we incur to complete the business combination, such as investment banking,
legal, and other professional fees, are not considered part of consideration, and we recognize such costs as general and administrative expenses as they are incurred. Under the
acquisition method, we also account for acquired-company restructuring activities that we initiate separately from the business combination.

Should the initial accounting for a business combination be incomplete by the end of a reporting period that falls within the measurement period, we report provisional amounts in our
financial statements. During the measurement period, we adjust the provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as of that date, and we record those adjustments to
our financial statements. We apply those measurement-period adjustments that we determine to be material retrospectively to comparative information in our financial statements,
including adjustments to depreciation and amortization expense.

Under the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations, if we identify changes to acquired deferred-tax asset valuation allowances or liabilities related to uncertain tax
positions during the measurement period, and they relate to new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, those changes are
considered a measurement period adjustment and we record the offset to goodwill. We record all other changes to deferred-tax asset valuation allowances and liabilities related to
uncertain tax positions in current-period income tax expense. This accounting applies to all of our acquisitions regardless of acquisition date.

During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, the Company recorded mergers and acquisitions expense of $ 2.6 million, $ 3.3 million, and $ 0.3 million, respectively.
The Company records mergers and acquisition expenses in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred until technological feasibility has been established. These costs include salaries, laboratory experiments, and
purchased software that was developed by other companies and incorporated into, or used in the development of, our final products.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that
have been included in the financial statements or tax returns.

Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences in future years of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial
reporting amounts at each year-end based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation
allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. The provision for income taxes represents the tax payable for the
period and the change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Intellectual property
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In May 2014, we entered into a termination and non-assertion agreement with TSRL, Inc., pursuant to which the parties agreed to terminate an exclusive software licensing agreement
entered into between the parties in 1997. As a result, the Company obtained a perpetual right to use certain source code and data, and TSRL relinquished any rights and claims to any
GastroPlus products and to any claims, royalties, or other payments under that 1997 agreement. We agreed to pay TSRL total consideration of $ 6.0 million, which was amortized over
10 years under the straight-line method and is fully amortized as of August 31, 2024.

In June 2017, as part of the acquisition of DILIsym, the Company acquired certain developed technologies associated with drug-induced liver disease (“DILI"). These technologies were
valued at $ 2.9 million and are being amortized over 9 years under the straight-line method.

In September 2018, we purchased certain intellectual property rights of Entelos Holding Company. The cost of $ 0.1 million is being amortized over 10 years under the straight-line
method.

In April 2020, as part of the acquisition of Lixoft, the Company acquired certain developed technologies associated with the Lixoft scientific software. These technologies were valued at
$ 8.0 million and are being amortized over 16 years under the straight-line method.

In June 2023, we purchased certain developed technology of Immunetrics. The cost of $ 1.1 million is being amortized over 5 years under the straight-line method.

In June 2024, we purchased certain developed technology of Pro-ficiency. The cost of $ 16.6 million is being amortized over 5 years under the straight-line method.

The following table summarizes intellectual property as of August 31, 2024:

Amortization Acquisition Accumulated Net Book
(in thousands) Period Value Amortization Value
Developed technologies—DILIsym acquisition Straight line 9 years 2,850 2,294 556
Intellectual rights of Entelos Holding Company Straight line 10 years 50 30 20
Developed technologies-Lixoft acquisition Straight line 16 years 8,010 2,173 5,837
Developed technologies—Immunetrics acquisition Straight line 5 years 1,080 261 819
Developed technologies—Pro-ficiency acquisition Straight line 5 years $ 16,630 $ 732 $ 15,898
$ 28,620 $ 5490 $ 23,130
The following table summarizes intellectual property as of August 31, 2023:
Amortization Acquisition Accumulated Net Book
(in thousands) Period Value Amortization Value
Termination/nonassertion agreement-TSRL Inc. Straight line 10 years $ 6,000 $ 5575 $ 425
Developed technologies—DILIsym acquisition Straight line 9 years 2,850 1,978 872
Intellectual rights of Entelos Holding Company Straight line 10 years 50 25 25
Developed technologies—Lixoft acquisition Straight line 16 years 8,010 1,678 6,332
Developed technologies—Immunetrics acquisition Straight line 5 years 1,080 45 1,035
$ 17,990 $ 9301 $ 8,689

Total amortization expense for intellectual property agreements was $ 2.2 million, $ 1.4 million, and $ 1.4 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and, 2022,
respectively.

Estimated future amortization of intellectual property for the next five fiscal years are as follows:
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(in thousands)

Years Ending August 31, Amount
2025 $ 4,363
2026 $ 4,287
2027 $ 4,047
2028 $ 4,002
2029 $ 3,094

Earnings per Share

We report earnings per share in accordance with ASC 260. Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed similarly to basic earnings per share, except that the denominator is increased to include the number of
additional common shares that would have been outstanding if the potential common shares had been issued and if the additional common shares were dilutive. The components of
basic and diluted earnings per share for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were as follows:

Years ended August 31,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Numerator
Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 9,954 $ 9,961 $ 12,483

Denominator

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period 19,987 20,075 20,196
Dilutive effect of stock options 314 390 553
Common stock and common stock equivalents used for diluted earnings per share 20,301 20,465 20,749

Stock-Based Compensation

Compensation costs related to stock options are determined in accordance with ASC 718. Compensation cost is calculated based on the grant-date fair value estimated using the Black-
Scholes pricing model and then amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Stock-based compensation costs related to stock options, not including shares issued
to directors for services, was $ 6.0 million, $ 4.3 million, and $ 2.7 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

We account for the impairment and disposition of long-lived assets in accordance with ASC 360. Long-lived assets to be held and used are reviewed for events or changes in
circumstances that indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. We measure recoverability by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to the expected future
undiscounted net cash flows generated by the asset. If we determine that the asset may not be recoverable, or if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future
undiscounted cash flows, we recognize an impairment charge to the extent of the difference between the fair value and the asset's carrying amount. N o impairment losses were
recorded for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024. As of August 31, 2023, we recognized a $ 0.5 million impairment charge related to the Cognigen trade name, and it is included in
G&A expenses. The Cognigen trade name fair valuation was measured during the acquisition of Cognigen. Management determined to no longer use the Cognigen trade name and to
instead focus our marketing strategy on promoting the Simulations Plus brand and our portfolio of products and services. As the Company's other acquired trade names relate to
marketed products actively sold to customers, and following management's assessment of other possible triggering events that could indicate a risk of impairment, management
concluded that no impairment of other intangible assets or goodwill was necessary. No impairment losses were recorded for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
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In October 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”") 2023-06 - Disclosure Improvements: Codification Amendments in
Response to the SEC's Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative (“ASU 2023-06"). ASU 2023-06 incorporates 14 of the 27 disclosure requirements published in SEC Release No.
33-10532 - Disclosure Update and Simplification into various topics within the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”). ASU 2023-06's amendments represent clarifications to, or
technical corrections of, current requirements. For SEC registrants, the effective date for each amendment will be the date on which the SEC removes that related disclosure from its
rules. Early adoption is prohibited. The Company does not expect ASU 2023-06 to have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which updates reportable segment disclosure
requirements primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and for
interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The amendments should be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in
the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the ASU to determine its impact on the Company’s disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued a new standard to improve income tax disclosures. The guidance requires disclosure of disaggregated income taxes paid, prescribes standardized
categories for the components of the effective tax rate reconciliation, and modifies other income tax-related disclosures. The amendments will be effective for annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments should be applied on a prospective basis. Retrospective application is permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the ASU to determine its impact on the Company'’s disclosures.

NOTE 3 - OTHER INCOME

The components of other income for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were as follows:

Years ended August 31,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Interest income $ 4375 $ 4,131 $ 717
Change in fair valuation of contingent consideration 1,639 (680) (283)
(Loss) gain on disposal of assets — (6) 1
Realized losses from sale of AFS securities (125) — —
Realized gains from sale of AFS securities 5 — —
Gain (loss) on currency exchange 386 (475) (231)
Total other income $ 6,280 $ 2,970 $ 204

NOTE 4 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

(in thousands) August 31, 2024 August 31, 2023
Equipment $ 67 $ 316
Computer equipment 1,272 809
Furniture and fixtures 56 48
Leasehold improvements 20 24
Construction in progress — 134
Subtotal 1,415 1,331
Less accumulated depreciation (603) (660)
Total $ 812 $ 671

Depreciation expense was $ 0.3 million, $ 0.2 million, and $ 0.3 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.
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NOTE 5 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases
Rent expense, including common area maintenance fees, was $ 0.5 million, $ 0.5 million, and $ 0.6 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Lease liability maturities as of August 31, 2024, were as follows:

(in thousands) Years Ending August 31, Amount

2025 $ 522

2026 407

2027 145

2028 68

2029 —

Total undiscounted liabilities 1,142

Less: imputed interest (136)
Total operating lease liabilities (including current portion) $ 1,006

Employment Agreements

In the normal course of business, the Company has entered into employment agreements with certain of its executive officers that may require compensation payments upon
termination.

Income Taxes

We follow guidance issued by the FASB with regard to our accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements. Such guidance prescribes a recognition
threshold of more-likely-than-not and a measurement process for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. In
making this assessment, a company must determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, based solely on the technical merits of the
position, and must assume that the tax position will be examined by taxing authorities. Our policy is to include interest and penalties related to income tax expense. We file income tax
returns with the IRS and various state jurisdictions as well as with the countries of India and France. Our federal income tax returns for fiscal years 2020 through 2023 are open for audit,
and our state tax returns for fiscal years 2019 through 2023 remain open for audit.

Our review of prior-year tax positions using the criteria and provisions presented in guidance issued by FASB did not result in a material impact on our financial position or results of
operations.

Litigation

We are not a party to any legal proceedings and are not aware of any pending or threatened legal proceedings of any kind.
NOTE 6 - SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Shares Outstanding

Shares of Company's common stock outstanding for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were as follows:
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Years ended August 31,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022

Common stock outstanding, beginning of period 19,938 20,260 20,142
Common stock repurchased during the period — (492) —
Common stock issued during the period 113 170 119
Common stock outstanding, end of period 20,051 19,938 20,260
Dividends

The Company’s Board of Directors declared cash dividends during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024 and 2023. The Board of Directors determined to discontinue the Company’s
quarterly cash dividend after the dividend distribution on August 5, 2024. The details of dividends paid are in the following tables:

(in thousands, except dividend per share) For The Year Ended August 31, 2024
Number of Shares
Outstanding on Dividend per
Record Date Distribution Date Record Date Share Total Amount
10/30/2023 11/06/2023 19939 $ 006 $ 1,196
1/29/2024 2/05/2024 19973 % 0.06 1,198
4/29/2024 5/06/2024 19,998 $ 0.06 1,200
712912024 8/05/2024 20,046 $ 0.06 —1202
Total $  47%
(in thousands, except dividend per share) For The Year Ended August 31, 2023
Number of Shares
Outstanding on Dividend per
Record Date Distribution Date Record Date Share Total Amount
10/31/2022 11/07/2022 20,299 $ 006 $ 1,218
1/30/2023 2/06/2023 19,924 % 0.06 1,195
4/24/2023 5/01/2023 19999 $ 0.06 1,200
7/31/2023 8/07/2023 19931 % 0.06 1,196
Total $ 4,809

Stock Option Plans

On December 23, 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted, and on February 23, 2017, its shareholders approved, the Company’s 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”),
under which a total of 1.0 million shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance. The 2017 plan would have terminated pursuant to its terms in December 2026; however,
the 2017 Plan was replaced by the Company’s 2021 Plan (as defined below), and as a result, no further issuances of shares may be made under the 2017 Plan.

On April 9, 2021, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted, and on June 23, 2021, its shareholders approved, the Company’s 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan,” and
together with the 2017 Plan, the “Plans”), under which a total of 1.3 million shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance. On October 20, 2022, the Company’s Board of
Directors approved, and on February 9, 2023, its shareholders approved, an amendment to the 2021 Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance
thereunder from 1.3 million shares to 1.55 million shares of common stock of the Company. Thereafter, on October 19, 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors approved, and on
February 8, 2024, its shareholders approved, an amendment to the 2021 Plan to further increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance thereunder from 1.55
million to 2.5 million shares of common stock of the Company. The 2021 Plan will terminate in 2031.
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As of August 31, 2024, employees and directors of the Company held Qualified Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) and Non-Qualified Stock Options (“NQSOs") to purchase an aggregate
of 1.9 million shares of common stock at exercise prices ranging from $ 6.85 to $ 66.14 per share.

The following table summarizes information about stock options:

(in thousands, except per share and weighted-average amounts)

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average

Number of Exercise Price Remaining
Activity for the year ended August 31, 2024 Options Per Share Contractual Life
Outstanding, August 31, 2023 1,478 $ 34.62 6.62 years
Granted 594 40.76
Exercised (114) 12.40
Canceled/Forfeited (52) 42.95
Outstanding, August 31, 2024 1,906 37.64 6.91 years
Vested and Exercisable, August 31, 2024 822 31.19 4.82 years
Vested and Expected to Vest, August 31, 2024 1,843 37.53 6.83 years
(in thousands, except per share and weighted-average amounts)
Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Number of Exercise Price Remaining
Activity for the year ended August 31, 2023 Options Per Share Contractual Life
Outstanding, August 31, 2022 1,245 $ 28.61 6.14 years
Granted 465 43.78
Exercised (170) 12.59
Canceled/Forfeited (62) 43.14
Outstanding, August 31, 2023 1,478 34.62 6.62 years
Vested and Exercisable, August 31, 2023 696 24.26 4.54 years
Vested and Expected to Vest, August 31, 2023 1471  $ 34.56 6.61 years
(in thousands, except per share and weighted-average amounts)
Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Number of Exercise Price Remaining
Activity for the year ended August 31, 2022 Options Per Share Contractual Life
Outstanding, August 31, 2021 1,184 $ 25.63 6.47 years
Granted 255 42.13
Exercised (104) 16.15
Canceled/Forfeited (90) 42.30
Outstanding, August 31, 2022 1,245 ¢ 28.61 6.14 years
Vested and Exercisable, August 31, 2022 711 17.65 4.47 years
Vested and Expected to Vest, August 31, 2022 1,236 $ 28.51 6.12 years

The total grant-date fair value of nonvested stock options as of August 31, 2024, was $ 22.0 million and is amortizable over a weighted-average period of 3.25 years.

The fair value of these options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes option-valuation model was developed for use in
estimating the fair value of traded options, which do not have vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option-valuation models require the input of highly subjective

assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility.
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The following table summarizes the fair value of the options, including both ISOs and NQSOs, granted during the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:

(in thousands, except weighted-average amounts) 2024 2023 2022
Estimated fair value of awards granted $ 11,902 $ 10,067 $ 4,597
Unvested Forfeiture Rate 5.53 % 0.22 % 1.04 %
Weighted-average grant price $ 40.76 $ 43.78 $ 42.13
Weighted-average market price $ 40.76 $ 43.78 $ 42.13
Weighted-average volatility 44.63 % 46.14 % 42.80 %
Weighted-average risk-free rate 477 % 429 % 1.74 %
Weighted-average dividend yield 0.59 % 0.55 % 0.58 %
Weighted-average expected life 6.59 years 6.55 years 6.59 years

The exercise prices for the options outstanding at August 31, 2024, ranged from $ 6.85 to $ 66.14 per share, and the information relating to these options is as follows:

(in thousands except prices and weighted-average amounts)

Exercise Price Per Share Awards Outstanding Awards Exercisable

Weighted -Average Weighted-Average Weighted-

Remaining Weighted-Average Remaining Average

Contractual Exercise Contractual Exercise

Low High Quantity Life Price Quantity Life Price

$ 685 $ 9.77 125 1.48 years $ 9.70 125 1.48 years $ 9.70
$ 9.78 $ 18.76 144 2.48 years $ 10.08 144 248 years $ 10.08
$ 1877 $ 33.40 178 4.65 years $ 25.68 161 4.59 years $ 24.98
$ 3341 % 47.63 1,164 8.39 years $ 41.35 215 7.22years $ 41.08
$ 4764 $ 66.14 295 6.87 years $ 55.53 177 6.40 years $ 57.32
1,906 6.91years $ 37.64 822 4.82years $ 31.19

During the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, we issued 15,200, 13,765, and 7,120 shares of stock valued at $ 0.6 million, $ 0.6 million, and $ 0.4 million,
respectively, to our nonmanagement directors as compensation for board-related duties.

The Company's par-value common stock and additional paid-in capital as of August 31, 2024, were $ 11 thousand and $ 152.3 million, respectively.
Share Repurchases
No share repurchases were made during the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024.

On December 29, 2022, our Board of Directors authorized and approved a share repurchase program for up to $ 50 million of the outstanding shares of our common stock, and on
January 11, 2023, we entered into an accelerated share repurchase agreement (the “ASR Agreement”) with Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC (“Morgan Stanley”) to repurchase an aggregate
of $20 million of our outstanding shares of common stock as part of the share repurchase program, which was settled in full in May 2023. The share repurchase program has no
expiration date but may be terminated at any time at our Board of Directors’ discretion.
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In January 2023, we received an initial delivery of an aggregate of 408,685 shares of our common stock from Morgan Stanley pursuant to the ASR Agreement, in exchange for which we
made an initial payment of $ 20 million to Morgan Stanley. These 408,685 shares were retired and are treated as authorized, unissued shares. At final settlement on May 20, 2023,
based on the volume-weighted average price of our common stock during the term of the ASR Agreement, Morgan Stanley delivered an additional 83,356 shares of Company common
stock to us, which shares were also retired and treated as authorized, unissued shares.

After completion of the repurchases under the ASR Agreement, $ 30 million remains available for additional repurchases under our authorized repurchase program.

NOTE 7 - INCOME TAXES

We utilize ASC 740 to account for income taxes which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been
included in the financial statements or tax returns.

Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized for the tax consequences in future years of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial
reporting amounts at each year end based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation
allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. The provision for income taxes represents the tax payable for the
period and the change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities. The Company is subject to the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI") rules, and has an annual
GILTl inclusion income and deduction. Based on our assessment, we have not recorded a liability for uncertain tax positions.

The components of the income tax provision for the years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were as follows:

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022
Current
Federal $ 3291 $ 299 $ 2,518
State 742 696 611
Foreign 3 144 (228)
Total current tax expense 4,036 3,830 2,901
Deferred
Federal (1,466) (1,818) (4)
State (113) (278) (265)
Total deferred federal and state (1,579) (2,096) (269)
Total $ 2,457 $ 1,734  $ 2,632

A reconciliation of the expected income tax computed using the federal statutory income tax rate to the Company's effective income tax rate is as follows for the years ended August 31,
2024, 2023, and 2022:
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2024 2023 2022
Income tax computed at federal statutory tax rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
State taxes, net of federal benefit 35 4.7 3.2
Meals & entertainment 0.1 0.1 —
Stock-based compensation 3.9 2.1 0.6
Other permanent differences (0.2) 3.3 0.4
Research and development credit (1.3) (2.2) (2.2)
Foreign-tax-related differences (7.0) (8.2) (3.2)
Change in prior year estimated taxes (0.2) (6.0) (2.4)
Total 19.8 % 14.8 % 17.4 %
Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities for income taxes for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, and 2023 are as follows:
(in thousands) 2024 2023
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued compensation $ 681 $ 865
Deferred revenue 186 103
Capitalized merger costs 707 696
Operating lease liability 255 285
Research and development credits 157 274
State taxes — (19)
Allowance for credit losses 67 11
Capitalized research & development 3,933 1,079
Share-based compensation 1,676 1,104
Net operating loss carryforward 3,336 2,142
Total deferred tax assets 10,998 6,540
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment (111) (90)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (259) (295)
Unrealized loss (40) (122)
State tax deferred (25) —
Intellectual property (9,012) (2,353)
Capitalized computer software development costs (3,086) (2,242)
Prepaid expenses (73) —
Total deferred tax liabilities (12,606) (5,102)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ (1,608) $ 1,438
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We follow ASC 740 with regard to our accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements. Such guidance prescribes a recognition threshold of more likely
than not and a measurement process for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. In making this assessment, we
determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, based solely on the technical merits of the position and assume that the tax position
will be examined by taxing authorities. Interest and penalties were insignificant for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. We file income tax returns with
the IRS and various state jurisdictions as well as with the countries of India and France. Our federal income tax returns for fiscal year 2020 through 2023 are open for audit, and our state
tax returns for fiscal year 2019 through 2023 remain open for audit. Based on our assessment, we have not recorded any liability for uncertain tax positions in the consolidated financial
for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The Company had no uncertain tax position for all open tax years.

Net Operating Loss is summarized as follows:

(in thousands) Amount

Federal NOL as of August 31, 2024 $ 22,754
Subject to expiration 14,075
Carried forward indefinitely 8,679
Amount to expire before Section 382 limitation lifts 9,333
Pennsylvania NOL as of August 31, 2024 15,800
Subject to expiration 15,800
Carried forward indefinitely —
Amount to expire before Section 382 limitation lifts 11,047
North Carolina NOL as of August 31, 2024 1,979
Subject to expiration 1,979

Carried forward indefinitely —

Amount to expire before Section 382 limitation lifts —

California R&D Credit as of August 31, 2024 199
Subject to expiration —
Carried forward indefinitely 199

Our review of prior-year tax positions using the criteria and provisions presented in guidance issued by FASB did not result in a material impact on our financial position or results of
operations.
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NOTE 8 - CONCENTRATIONS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, and short-term
investments. The Company holds cash and cash equivalents with balances that exceed FDIC-insured limits. Cash maintained in excess of these limits is on deposit with a large, national
bank. Accordingly, the Company does not have depository exposure to regional banks. In addition, the Company holds cash at a bank in France that is not FDIC-insured. Historically,
the Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts, and management believes that the financial institutions at which its cash is held are stable; however, no assurances can
be provided. While the Company may be exposed to credit losses due to the nonperformance of its counterparties, the Company does not expect the settlement of these transactions to
have a material effect on its results of operations, cash flows, or financial condition.

Revenue concentration shows that international sales accounted for 28 %, 31 %, and 30 % of revenue for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. Our four
largest customers in terms of revenue accounted for 7 %, 3 %, 3 %, and 2 % of revenue, respectively, for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024. Our three largest customers in terms of
revenue accounted for 6 %, 4 %, and 3 % of revenue, respectively, for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023. Our three largest customers in terms of revenue accounted for 5 %, 3 %,
and 3 % of revenue, respectively, for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022.

Accounts-receivable concentrations show that our six largest customers in terms of accounts receivable each comprised between 3 % and 9 % of accounts receivable as of August 31,
2024; our three largest customers in terms of accounts receivable comprised between 4 % and 6 % of accounts receivable as of August 31, 2023.

We operate in the biosimulation market, which is highly competitive and changes rapidly. Our operating results could be significantly affected by our ability to develop new products and
find new distribution channels for new and existing products.

NOTE 9 - SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company applies ASC 280, Segment Reporting, in determining reportable segments. The Company has two reportable segments: Software and Services. Segment information is
presented in the same manner that the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) reviews certain financial information based on these reportable segments. The CODM reviews revenue
and gross profit for both of the reportable segments. Gross profit is defined as revenue less cost of revenue incurred by the segment.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the reportable segments. The Company does not allocate assets at the reportable segment level, as these are managed on an
entity-wide group basis and, accordingly, the Company does not report asset information by segment. The Company does not allocate operating expenses that are managed on an
entity-wide group basis and, accordingly, the Company does not allocate and report operating expenses at a segment level. There are no internal revenue transactions between the
Company’s segments.

The following tables summarize the results for each segment for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:

(in thousands) Year ended August 31, 2024

Software Services Total
Revenues $ 41,024 $ 28,989 $ 70,013
Cost of revenues 6,478 20,384 26,862
Gross profit $ 34,546 $ 8,605 $ 43,151
Gross margin 84 % 30 % 62 %

Our software business and services business represented 59 % and 41 % of total revenue, respectively, for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024.
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(in thousands) Year ended August 31, 2023

Software Services Total
Revenues $ 36,517 $ 23,060 $ 59,577
Cost of revenues 3,627 8,003 11,630
Gross profit $ 32,890 $ 15,057 $ 47,947
Gross margin 90 % 65 % 80 %

Our software business and services business represented 61 % and 39 % of total revenue, respectively, for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2023.

(in thousands) Year ended August 31, 2022

Software Services Total
Revenues $ 32,642 $ 21,264 $ 53,906
Cost of revenues 3,060 7,762 10,822
Gross profit $ 29,582 $ 13,502 $ 43,084
Gross margin 91 % 63 % 80 %

Our software business and services business represented 61 % and 39 % of total revenue, respectively, for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2022.

The Company allocates revenues to geographic areas based on the locations of its customers. Geographical revenues for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 were
as follows:

Years ended August 31,

(in thousands) 2024 2023 2022

$ % of total $ % of total $ % of total
Americas $ 50,473 2% $ 40,817 69 % $ 37,681 70 %
EMEA 14,072 20 % 11,713 20 % 10,388 19 %
Asia Pacific 5,468 8 % 7,047 12 % 5,837 11 %
Total $ 70,013 100 % $ 59,577 100 % $ 53,906 100 %

NOTE 10 - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

We maintain a 401(k) Plan for eligible employees. We make matching contributions equal to 100 % of the employee’s elective deferral, not to exceed 4 % of the employee’s gross salary.
We contributed $ 0.8 million, $ 0.6 million, and $ 0.6 million for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

NOTE 11 - ACQUISITIONS

On June 16, 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of Immunetrics for an estimated consideration of $ 15.3 million. The Company has a remaining obligation for the Immunetrics
acquisition for up to $ 5.5 million and $ 1.8 million hold back liability.

The Company made the first cash earnout payments in the aggregate amount of $ 2.5 million to the former equity holders and employees of Immunetrics in March 2024.

The primary purpose of this acquisition is to be able to capitalize on a tremendous growth opportunity by providing support for quantitative systems pharmacology (“QSP”) in a greater
range of therapeutic areas, including oncology.

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total purchase price reflects Immunetrics’ tangible and intangible assets and liabilities based on their estimated fair values at the date of
the completion of the acquisition (June 16, 2023). The following table summarizes the allocation of the preliminary purchase price for Immunetrics:
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(in thousands)

Base merger consideration $ 12,000
Fair value of earnout 4,100
Cash on hand 1,247
Adjustment to purchase price for closing indebtedness (122)
Net working capital adjustment (377)
D&O tail insurance (7)
Bonus compensation to Immunetrics staff (1,586)
Total purchase price 15,255

Fair value of identifiable assets acquired:

Cash 1,132
Accounts receivable 511
Security deposit 12
ROU asset 227
Deferred tax assets 799
Trade names 1,800
Customer relationships 3,780
Developed Tech 1,080
Non-competes 30
9,371

Fair value of liabilities assumed:
Lease liability 227
Selling shareholders' D&O tail insurance responsibility 7
Deferred revenue 60
294
Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 9,077
Goodwill $ 6,178

The total purchase consideration related to Immunetrics acquisition consisted of cash consideration. The excess of purchase consideration over the fair value of the net assets acquired
was recorded as goodwill, which is primarily attributed to the developed technologies and other intangibles as customer relationships and trade name. Immunetrics is primarily
attributable to the Services segment of the Company. Goodwill acquired as part of Immunetrics acquisition has been assigned to a separate reporting unit and the assets and liabilities of
Immunetrics are assigned to the same reporting unit, Immunetrics. This goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Intangible assets consist of indefinite-lived intangible asset trade names and definite-lived intangibles as customer relationships, developed technologies, and covenants not to compete.

We amortize purchased definite-lived intangible assets on a straight-line basis over their respective useful lives. The weighted-average life of the total acquired identifiable definite-lived
intangible assets is 7.5 years. The following table presents the details of intangible assets acquired.
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(in thousands) Estimated useful life Amount

Indefinite-lived:

Trade names Indefinite $ 1,800
Definite-lived:

Customer relationships 9 years 3,780

Developed technologies 5 years 1,080

Covenants not to compete 2 years 30
Total definite-lived intangible assets 4,890
Total intangible assets $ 6,690

On June 11, 2024, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement, pursuant to which it acquired Pro-ficiency Holdings, Inc. (“Pro-ficiency”) for estimated consideration of $
100.2 million.

The primary purpose of this acquisition was to bring together two businesses, each with complementary expertise and services that are grounded in science and focused on applying
advanced technologies like Al to enhance actionable data analytics.

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total purchase price reflects Pro-ficiency’s tangible and intangible assets and liabilities based on their estimated fair values at the date of
the completion of the acquisition (June 11, 2024). The following table summarizes the allocation of the preliminary purchase price for Pro-ficiency:
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(in thousands)

Base merger consideration $ 100,000
Net working capital adjustment (85)
Excess cash adjustment 1,731
Adjustment to purchase price for closing indebtedness (1,484)
Total purchase price 100,162

Fair value of identifiable assets acquired:

Cash 2,513
Accounts receivable 2,064
Prepaids and other current assets 1,807
ROU asset 212
Trade names 8,400
Customer relationships 2,310
Developed technology 16,630
Non-competes 70
Other non-current assets 17
34,023

Fair value of liabilities assumed:
Accounts payable 935
Payroll and other current liabilities 2,302
Deferred revenue 1,456
Lease liability 212
Deferred tax liabilities 4,811
Other liabilities 1,124
10,840
Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 23,183
Goodwill $ 76,979

The total purchase consideration related to the Pro-ficiency acquisition consisted of cash consideration. The excess of purchase consideration over the fair value of the net assets
acquired was recorded as goodwill, which is primarily attributed to the developed technologies and other intangibles such as customer relationships and trade names. Proficiency is
structured into two business units: ALl and MC. ALI primarily contributes to the software segment and MC primarily contributes to the services segment of the Company. Goodwill
acquired as part of the Pro-ficiency acquisition has been assigned to the ALI and MC reporting units and the assets and liabilities of Pro-ficiency are assigned to the same reporting units.
This goodwill is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Intangible assets consist of indefinite-lived intangible asset trade names and definite-lived intangibles as customer relationships, developed technologies, and covenants not to compete.

We amortize purchased definite-lived intangible assets on a straight-line basis over their respective useful lives. The weighted-average life of the total acquired identifiable definite-lived
intangible assets is 5.3 years. The following table presents the details of intangible assets acquired.
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Estimated useful life Amount
Indefinite-lived:
Trade names Indefinite $ 8,400
Definite-lived:
Customer relationships 10 years 2,310
Developed technologies 5 years 16,630
Non-competes 3 years 70
Total definite-lived intangible assets 19,010
Total intangible assets $ 27,410
Estimated future amortization of finite-lived intangible assets for the next five years is as follows:
(in thousands)
Years ending August 31, Amount
2025 $ 3,580
2026 $ 3,580
2027 $ 3,580
2028 $ 3,557
2029 $ 3,557

Consolidated Supplemental Pro Forma Information

The following unaudited consolidated supplemental pro forma information assumes that the acquisition of Pro-ficiency took place on September 1, 2022 for the income statement years
ended August 31, 2024. These amounts have been calculated after applying the Company’s accounting policies and adjusting the results of Pro-ficiency to reflect the same expenses in
the fiscal years ended August 31, 2024 and 2023. The adjustments include costs of acquisition directly attributable to Pro-ficiency of $ 2.3 million and amortization of intangibles
including developed technologies acquired during the acquisition, assuming the fair-value adjustments applied on September 1, 2022, together with consequential tax effects. The
adjustments also consist of acquisition costs directly attributable to Immunetrics of $ 2.9 million consisting of $ 1.6 million of bonus compensation and $ 1.3 million of other professional
fees, and amortization of intangibles including developed technologies acquired during the merger, assuming the fair-value adjustments applied on September 1, 2022, together with
consequential tax effects. The pro forma information in below table includes actual revenues and net loss of $ 2.3 million and $ 1.9 million, respectively for Pro-ficiency from the
acquisition date of June 11, 2024 to August 31, 2024 and the revenues and net loss of $ 1.3 million and $ 0.4 million, respectively, for Immunetrics from the acquisition date of June 16,
2023 to August 31, 2023.

(Pro forma) (Pro forma)
2024 * 2023
(in thousands) (unaudited) (unaudited)
Revenue $ 83,243 $ 76,892
Net (loss) income $ 7,790 $ 4,547

* Balances include actual results from acquisition date of June 16, 2023 through August 31, 2023 for Inmunetrics and from acquisition date of June 11, 2024 through August 31, 2024 for Pro-ficiency business.

NOTE 12 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

None.
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Introduction

This policy applies to directors, executive officers, employees of Simulations Plus, Inc., as well as all
independent contractors or consultants who have access to material nonpublic information of Simulations
Plus, Inc. (collectively, “SLP Associates™), as well as certain of their family members. In the course of
conducting the business of Simulations Plus, Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively, the
“Company,” “we” or “us™), you may at times have material nonpublic information about us or another entity
that generally is not available to the public. Because of your relationship with us, you have certain
responsibilities under the U.S. federal securities laws regarding insider information and the trading of our
securities. This policy seeks to explain some of your obligations to us and under the law, to prevent actual or
apparent insider trading, and to protect our reputation for integrity and ethical conduct.

Additional information about this policy may be found at Appendix 1, which contains guestions and answers
related to this policy.

The Company reserves the right to amend or rescind this policy or any portion of it at any time and to adopt
different policies and procedures at any time.

Your compliance with this policy is of the highest importance for you and the Company. If you have
any questions about this policy or its application to any proposed transaction, you may obtain
additional guidance from the Chief Financial Officer (referred to in this policy as the “Compliance
Officer”).

1. Trading Restrictions
A No transactions while in possession of material nonpublic information

You may not buy, sell or gift our securities or the securities of any other publicly traded company while in
possession of information about us or such other publicly traded company that is material and nonpublic.
You, any family member, and any other person who has a relationship with you (legal, personal, or
otherwise) that might reasonably result in that person’s transactions being attributable to you, may not
buy, sell or gift securities or engage in any other action to take advantage of, or pass on to others, material
nonpublic information. Your “family members” consist of family members who share the same address as, or
are financially dependent on, you, and also include other family members whose transactions in securities are
directed by you or are subject to your influence or control. This policy applies to securities purchases,
securities sales and gifts of securities, regardless of your intent and how or from whom the material
nonpublic information was obtained.

This prohibition extends not only to transactions involving our securities, but also to transactions involving
securities of other companies with which we have a relationship. If you are a director, executive officer, or
other Section 16 reporting person, keep in mind the various restrictions on securities trading imposed under
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Section 16 of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™), and the applicable
reporting requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC™). If you are unsure whether
you are a Section 16 reporting person, please contact the Compliance Officer.

The existence of a personal financial emergency does not excuse you from compliance with this prohibition.
This means that you may have to forgo a proposed transaction in our securities even if you planned to make
the transaction before learning the material nonpublic information and even though you believe that waiting
may cause you to suffer an economic loss or forgo anticipated profit.

B. Blackout periods for all personnel

The Compliance Officer may issue instructions, from time to time, advising certain personnel or all
employees that they may not for certain periods buy, sell or gift our securities, or that our securities may not
be traded without prior approval. Due to the confidential nature of the events that may trigger these sorts of
blackout periods, the Compliance Officer may find it necessary to inform affected individuals of the blackout
period without disclosing the reason for it. If you are made aware of the existence of such a blackout
period, do not even disclose the existence of the period to any other person.

The current blackout periods prior to the announcement of earnings are:

e Quarterly Blackout Periods. Trading in the Company’s securities is prohibited commencing 30 days
after two full trading days after the Company’s “earnings release” is issued to the public relating to
the Company’s financial information for the concluded fiscal quarter, and ending two full trading
days after the Company’s “earnings release™ is issued to the public relating to the Company’s next
fiscal quarter or fiscal year, as applicable.

e Annual Blackout Periods. In the first quarter after the Company’s fiscal year ends, trading in the
Company’s securities is prohibited commencing the 3" business day of the 2" fiscal quarter of the
new fiscal year, and ending two full trading days after the Company’s “earnings release™ is issued to
the public relating to the Company’s first fiscal quarter.

» Special Blackout Periods. From time to time, other types of material nonpublic information regarding
the Company (such as negotiation of mergers, acquisitions or dispositions or new product
developments) may be pending and not be publicly disclosed. While such material nonpublic
information is pending, the Company may impose special blackout periods during which you are
prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities. [f the Company imposes a special blackout
period, it will notify you.

During the above blackout periods, SLP Associates are presumed to the in possession of material nonpublic
information. Even if no blackout period is in effect, keep in mind that you may not trade in our securities if
you are aware of material nonpublic information about us. See Paragraph A above.

. Trading Window

SLP Associates are permitted to trade in the Company’s securities when no blackout period is in effect, so
long as they are not in possession of material nonpublic information. Generally this means that SLP
Associates can trade during the period beginning on the day that the blackout periods under Section 1.B.
ends and ending on the day that the next blackout period under Section 1.B. begins. However, even during
this trading window, an SLP Associate who is in possession of any material nonpublic information should
not trade in the Company’s securities until the information has been made publicly available or is no longer
material. In addition, the Company may close this trading window if a special blackout period under Section

2
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1.B. above is imposed and will re-open the trading window once the special blackout period has ended.

D. Pre-clearance procedures for directors, executive officers, or other Section 16 reporting person

If you are a director, executive officer, or other Section 16 reporting person, before you buy, sell or engage
in any other transaction in our securities it is required that you first obtain preclearance from the Compliance
Officer. As part of the pre-clearance process, you must complete and submit the certification attached as
Appendix 5 to this policy to the Compliance Officer prior to engaging in any transaction in our securities.
The Compliance Officer will notify you if additional clearances from other persons are required, or confirm
that you may proceed with the transaction. This preclearance requirement is designed as a means of
enforcing the policies specified above. It also applies to your family members and any other person who
has a relationship with you (legal, personal, or otherwise) that might reasonably result in that person’s
transactions being attributable to you.

E. Prohibited and limited transactions

Short sales of our securities, sales of our securities “against the box,” and buying or selling puts or calls
relating to our securities are always prohibited (even if you are not in the possession of material nonpublic
information). These types of transactions are prohibited because it is also important to avoid the appearance of
an improper transaction.

« “Short sales” of stock are transactions where you borrow stock, sell it, and then buy stock at a later
date to replace the borrowed shares. These also include hedging or monetization transactions (such
as zero-cost collars and forward sale contracts) that involve the establishment of a short position.

« Sales of stock “against the box™ are sales in which the stock is not delivered within 20 days or is not
deposited in the mail for delivery within five days of the sale.

e« A“put”isan option or right to sell a specific stock at a specific price before a set date, and a “call” is
an option or right to buy a specific stock at a specific price before a set date. Generally, call options
are purchased when one believes that the price of a stock will rise, whereas put options are purchased
when one believes that the price of a stock will fall.

Additional types of transactions are severely limited because they can raise similar issues:

= Securities held in a margin account or pledged as collateral can be sold without your consent in
certain circumstances. You must not make any arrangements to hold our securities in a margin
account or pledge them as collateral unless the Compliance Officer pre-approves the arrangements
based on your financial capacity to repay the loan without resort to the pledged securities.

» Standing orders are orders placed with a broker to sell or purchase stock at a specified price. You
must not place a standing order to buy or sell our securities if the order might remain open during a
period when you are prohibited from trading in our securities.

If you have a managed account (where another person has been given discretion or authority to trade without
your prior approval), you should advise your broker or investment adviser of this policy. This policy
generally does not apply to investments in publicly available mutual funds.

F. Special types of permitted transactions

There are limited situations in which you may buy, sell or gift our securities without restriction under this
policy. You may:
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= exercise stock options that have been granted to you by our Company under one of our equity
incentive plans; and

« buy, sell or gift our securities pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan, but only under the
conditions described in Appendix 2.

1. Reporting Requirements
A Reports of purchases and sales

If you are a director, executive officer, or other Section 16 reporting person, we require that you immediately
report to the Compliance Officer all transactions made in our securities by you, any family members and
any entities that you control or in which you have a certain ownership interest. The Compliance Officer
can answer any questions you may have about these reporting obligations and will provide you with a form
of the report to be submitted for all such transactions. We require prompt reporting due to SEC requirements
that certain insider reports be filed with the SEC by the second business day after the date on which a
reportable transaction occurs.

Again, if you are a director, an executive officer, or other Section 16 reporting person, please keep in mind the
various restrictions on securities trading imposed under Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the applicable
reporting requirements.

B. Reports of unauthorized trading or disclosure

The SEC can also seek substantial penalties from any person who, at the time of an insider trading violation,
“directly or indirectly controlled the person who committed such violation,” which would apply to the
Company and/or management and supervisory personnel. If you have supervisory authority over any of our
SLP Associates or other personnel, you must promptly report to the Compliance Officer any trading in
our securities by such persons or any disclosure of material nonpublic information by such persons that
you have reason to believe may violate this policy or U.S. securities laws. Because the SEC can seek civil
penalties against us, directors, and supervisory personnel for failing to take appropriate steps to prevent
illegal trading, we should be made aware of any suspected violations as early as possible.

1L Disclosure Restrictions

You must not communicate material nonpublic information to other persons (a practice known as “tipping™)
before its public disclosure and dissemination. Therefore, you should exercise care when speaking with other
personnel who do not have a “need to know™ and when communicating with family, friends, and others who
are not associated with us. To avoid even the appearance of impropriety, please refrain from discussing our
business or prospects or making recommendations about buying or selling our securities or the securities of
other entities with which we have any relationship. The concept of unlawful tipping includes passing on
information to friends, family members, or acquaintances under circumstances that suggest that you were
trying to help them make a profit or avoid a loss. Tippers can be subject to the same penalties and sanctions
as the tippees, and the SEC has imposed large penalties even when the tipper did not profit from the
transaction.

V. Application to Former, Temporary or Retired Personnel
This policy (including the prohibition on insider trading in any security while in possession of material

nonpublic information obtained while in our employment or while conducting any business or activity on our
behalf) applies, and will continue to apply, to you as follows:

4
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« |If you are a former, temporary, or retired director, or SLP Associate subject to the SEC reporting
rules under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, this policy will apply until the later of (i) six months
from the date on which that person leaves our company and (ii) the second full trading day after
any material nonpublic information known to you has become public or is no longer material.

« Forall other former, temporary, or retired SLP Associates or other personnel, this policy will apply
until the second full business day after any material nonpublic information known to you has become
public or is no longer material.

V. All new SLP Associates must receive a copy of this policy and are required to submit the
acknowledgement attached as Appendix 3 to certify they have received a copy of this policy
and will comply with it.

VI. Annually, all directors, executive officers, and employees are required to submit the
certification attached as Appendix 4 to certify they have complied with this policy.
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APPENDIX1

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Q: What information is “material?”

A

Information generally is considered to be material if its disclosure to the public would be reasonably
likely to affect either investors® decisions to buy or sell our securities or the market price of the securities,
Material information can be either positive or negative. For example, material information may relate to:

« significant changes in the Company’s prospects;

e proposals, plans or agreements, even if preliminary in nature, involving mergers, acquisitions,
divestitures, recapitalizations, strategic alliances, licensing arrangements, or purchases or sales of
substantial assets;

« information about revenues or earnings (profits or losses), including both actual results not yet
released and projections;

« institution of, or developments in, significant litigation, investigations, regulatory actions, or
proceedings;

« the public or private sale of our securities;

« our offer to acquire another company’s securities or a third party’s offer to acquire our securities;

= Mmajor management or organizational changes;

« changes in dividends;

« anew significant contract, client, or customer, or a loss of a significant contract, client, or customer;
« reductions of workforce;

« the development or release of a new product or service;

« changesina previously announced schedule for the development or release of a product or service; or

« change in auditors.

Material information is not limited to historical facts, but may also include projections and forecasts.
With respect to a future event, such as a merger, acquisition or introduction of a new product, the point
at which negotiations or product development are determined to be material is determined by balancing
the probability that the event will occur against the magnitude of the effect the event would have on a
company’s operations or stock price should it occur. Thus, information concerning an event that would

have a large effect on stock price, such as a merger, may be material even if the possibility that the
event will occur is relatively small.

It is difficult to provide a precise definition of material information, since there are many gray areas and
varying circumstances. The determination of whether information was material is almost always made
after the fact when the effect on the market can be quantified. When in doubt, you should presume that
the information is material.
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Material information that is not yet ripe for public disclosure may often exist. For example, during the
early stages of discussions regarding a significant acquisition or sale, the information about the
discussions may be too tentative or premature to require (or even permit) us to make a public
announcement. On the other hand, that same information may be highly material.

Q: What information is “nonpublic?”

A: To be “public” the information must have been disseminated in a manner designed to reach investors
generally, and the investors must be given the opportunity to absorb the information. Information
generally becomes available to the public after it has been disclosed by us or third parties in a press release
or other similar public statement, including any filing with the SEC. The fact that information has been
disclosed to a few members of the public does not make it public for insider trading purposes.

If you are in possession of material nonpublic information, you may trade only when you are certain that
official announcements of material information have been sufficiently publicized so that the public has
had the opportunity to evaluate it. Please keep in mind that insider trading is not made permissible
merely because material information is reflected in rumors or other unofficial statements in the press or
marketplace. You should not attempt to “beat the market™ by trading simultaneously with, or shortly after,
the official release of material nonpublic information.

As a rule of thumb, information is considered nonpublic until at least two full trading days have passed
after we release the information to a national wire service or in an SEC filing. For example, if an
announcement is made on a Monday before the market opens, trading should not occur until Wednesday.
If the announcement is made after the market opens on Monday, trading should not occur until
Thursday. The Compliance Officer will know when information has been released to the public.

Q: What if it is difficult to ascertain whether information is material and/or nonpublic?

A: If you are unsure whether information of which you are aware is material and/or nonpublic, you should
assume that it is material and consult with the Compliance Officer prior to trading.

Q: Can I trade based on information about other companies?

A: The principles discussed in this policy also apply to inside information that you obtain in the course of
your employment or service about another public company (such as a client, customer, or a company with
which we are involved in a transaction). If you obtain material nonpublic information about another
public company, then you should refrain from trading in the securities of that company until the
information has been publicly disseminated.

Q: What are the reasons for maintaining confidentiality?

A: Your failure to maintain the confidentiality of material nonpublic information could greatly harm our
ability to conduct business. In addition, you could be exposed to significant civil and criminal penalties
and legal action.

U.S. federal securities laws strictly prohibit any person who obtains material inside information and who
has a duty not to disclose it from using the information in connection with the purchase and sale of
securities. It does not matter how that information has been obtained — whether in the course of
employment or at a meeting of our board of directors; from friends, relatives, acquaintances, or strangers;
or from overhearing the conversations of others. The U.S. Congress enacted this prohibition because the
integrity of the securities markets would be seriously undermined if the “deck were stacked” against
persons who are not privy to such information.
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What measures are appropriate to safeguard material information?

A: So long as material information relating to us or our business is unavailable to the general public, it must

Q:

be kept in strict confidence. Accordingly, you should discuss this information only with persons who
have a “need to know,” it should be confined to as small a group as possible, and it should be disclosed
only in a setting in which confidentiality can be maintained. Please exercise the utmost care and
circumspection at all times and limit conversations in public places (such as elevators, restaurants, and
airplanes) to topics that do not involve sensitive or confidential information. Please use care in discussing
sensitive or confidential information on cell phones or cordless phones.

In order to protect our confidences to the maximum extent possible, no individuals other than specifically
authorized personnel may release material information to the public or respond to inquiries about material
information from the media, analysts, or others outside our Company.

What are the U.S. securities law penalties for insider trading?

A Individuals. Insider trading has been a top enforcement priority of the SEC and the U.S. Department of

Justice for many years. Because criminal prosecution and the imposition of fines and/or imprisonment are
common, the consequences of insider trading violations can be enormous. For individuals who trade on
inside information or who tip information to others, penalties can include:

e acivil penalty of up to three times the profit gained or the loss avoided;
e acriminal fine (no matter how small the profit) of up to $5 million; and
e ajail term of up to 25 years.

Individuals also may be prohibited from serving as directors or officers of our company or any other
public company. Finally, keep in mind that there are no limits on the size of a transaction that will trigger
insider trading liability. Relatively small trades have in the past occasioned SEC investigations and
lawsuits.

Control Persons. In addition, the SEC can seek a civil penalty against a company as a “controlling
person” that fails to take appropriate steps to prevent illegal trading. The SEC can also seek a civil
penalty against directors and supervisory personnel as “controlling persons™ who fail to take appropriate
steps to prevent illegal trading. Directors, officers, and certain managerial personnel could become
controlling persons subject to liability if they knew of, or recklessly disregarded, a likely insider trading
violation by an employee or other personnel under their control. A successful action by the SEC under
this provision could result in a civil fine of $1 million or three times the profit gained or the loss avoided,
whichever is greater. Criminal penalties can be up to $25 million.

General. In addition to the possible impaosition of civil damages and criminal penalties on violators and
their controlling persons, any appearance of impropriety could not only damage our reputation for
integrity and ethical conduct but also impair investor canfidence in us. For this reason, if you violate our
policy, then we can impose sanctions including dismissal or removal for cause. Thus, even if the SEC
does not prosecute a case, involvement in an investigation (by the SEC or us) can tarnish your reputation
and damage your career.
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APPENDIX 2
RULE 10B5-1 TRADING PLANS
General

Rule 10b5-1 under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™), can protect
directors and officers of Simulations Plus, Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively, the
“Company,” “we” or “us”) and other individuals from insider trading liability for transactions under a
previously established contract, plan or instruction. This rule presents an opportunity for insiders to
establish arrangements to sell, gift or purchase our securities without the sometimes arbitrary restrictions
imposed by closed trading periods — even when material nonpublic information exists. The arrangements
may include blind trusts, other trusts, pre-scheduled stock option exercises and sales, pre-arranged trading
instructions, and other brokerage and third-party arrangements.

The rule only provides an “affirmative defense” (which must be proven) if there is an insider trading lawsuit.
It does not prevent anyone from bringing a lawsuit, nor does it prevent the media from writing about the sales.
The plan must be documented, bona fide, and previously established (at a time when the insider did not
possess any material nonpublic information); must include certain representations, as required by Rule
10b5-1; must specify the price, amount, and date of trades or provide a formula or mechanism to be followed
related thereto; and the applicable Cooling-off Period (as defined below) must be satisfied before any
transactions may be entered into pursuant to such plan.

Establishment of a 10b5-1 Plan

In order to ensure compliance with the Company’s 10b5-1 policies, reduce the risk of litigation or adverse
press, ensure that the Company has access to relevant information that it needs in order to satisfy its
disclosure obligations under the Exchange Act and/or the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), as applicable, and to confirm all tax reporting information is captured correctly and
timely, if you would like to establish and use such a trading plan:

« you must establish your plan with Morgan Stanley;

« you must confirm that you are not in possession of material nonpublic information when adopting a
10b5-1 trading plan;

= youmust provide the Compliance Officer with prior notice of your intent to adopt a 10b5-1 trading
plan, as well a as a copy of the plan you intend to adopt;

e you must obtain the Compliance Officer’s pre-approval of such plan prior to adopting it; and

« you must wait for the applicable Cooling-off Period to lapse (see the section entitled “Cooling-off
Period,” below) before you may enter into any transactions under your plan.

Amending a 10b5-1 Plan

Under Rule 10b5-1, adoption of certain material amendments to a 10b5-1 plan will be treated by the SEC as
though you have adopted a new plan. If you have already adopted a 10b5-1 plan, and such plan is in effect, a
material amendment to such plan may trigger certain additional obligations, including inclusion of certain
additional provisions in your amended plan and waiting a period of time before you may enter into any
transactions thereunder (see the section entitled *Cooling off-Period,” below). Additionally, you may not
materially amend your plan while in possession of material non-public information.

Amendments that will trigger a new cooling off period and that will be treated as adoption of a new plan
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include, without limitation, changes to:

1
2.
3.

You must provide the Compliance Officer with prior notice of your intent to amend an effective 10b5-1 trading

the sales or purchase price ranges permitted by the plan;
the number of securities permitted to the sold or purchased under the plan; and

the timing of sales or purchases under the plan.

plan, as well a as a copy of any such amendment, prior to amending your plan. You should consult the
Compliance Officer as well as your own tax and legal advisers before amending an effective 10b5-1 plan to

determine whether such amendment(s) will trigger a new cooling off period and/or subject you to any other

obligations.

Cooling-off Period

Once you have adopted a new 10b5-1 trading plan, including adopting certain material amendments to an
effective 10b5-1 trading plan, Rule 10b5-1 requires that you wait a requisite period of time, commencing
on the date that the plan (or material amendment thereto) was adopted, to begin trading under the plan (such
waiting period, the *Cooling-off Period™). The applicable Cooling-off Period is as follows:

directors and officers are not permitted to begin trading under the plan until the later of (i) 90 days
after adoption of the plan (or material amendment thereto) and (ii) two business days following the
disclosure of the Company’s financial results in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal quarter in which the plan was adopted; and

other persons must wait 30 days from adoption of the plan (or material amendment thereto) to trade
under the plan.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event will the applicable Cooling-off Period exceed 120 days
following adoption of the plan (or a material amendment thereto).

Mandatory 10b5-1 Plan Provisions

Pursuant to Rule 10b5-1, directors and officers of the Company that adopt a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan will
be required to include the following provisions in a 10b5-1 plan adopted by such individuals:

the price at which securities may be sold or purchased under the plan;
the number of securities which may be sold or purchased under the plan;
the date(s) on which securities may be sold or purchased under the plan;

if the price, number of securities and date(s) are not specified in the plan, then the formula for which
such items will be determined must be included in the plan; and

representations certifying that at the time of adoption:

o the adopting party is not aware of material nonpublic information about the Company or the
Company’s securities; and

o the adopting party is adopting the plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade
the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1.
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Certain Limitations

Subiject to limited exceptions, an individual may only have one 10b5-1 trading plan in effect at any given time.
If you have already adopted a 10b5-1 plan that is in effect, you may not qualify for the affirmative defenses
under Rule 10b5-1 if you establish a subsequent plan for the purchase or sale of any class of securities of the
Company on the open market during the same period.

Additionally, the affirmative defense available under Rule 10b5-1 will only be available for one single-trade
plan during any consecutive 12-month period. For this purpose, a “single-trade plan™ includes any plan
adopted under rule 10b5-1 that is designed to effect the purchase or sale of Company securities as a single
transaction and which has the practical effect of requiring such a result. Plans that may result in multiple
transactions, or which allow for the agent’s future acts to depend on events or data not known at the time the
plan is entered into, generally will not be deemed single-trade plans.

The foregoing limitations are subject to certain exceptions. You should consult the Compliance Officer,
including in order to obtain pre-approval of any 10b5-1 plan you intend to adopt, as well as your own tax and
legal advisers before establishing more than one trading plan under Rule 10b5-1.

Termination of 10b5-1 Plans

In order to ensure that the Company has access to relevant information that it needs in order to satisfy its
disclosure obligations under the Exchange Act and/or Securities Act, as applicable, you must notify the
Compliance Officer promptly if you have terminated an effective 10b5-1 plan.

SEC Filings

Establishing a trading plan under Rule 10b5-1 is likely to implicate other laws, rules and/or regulations,
such as Section 16 of the Exchange Act and Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, The Company is
also required to include certain disclosures regarding 10b5-1 trading plans adopted by its officers and
directors in its periodic reports pursuant to the Exchange Act, as discussed in further detail below.

Under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, generally a report on Form 4 must be filed with the SEC by the
second business day following the execution date of a transaction under a Rule 10b5-1 trading plan and the
applicable box must be checked to disclose to the public that the transaction reported in the Form 4 was
completed pursuant to a 10b5-1 trading plan adopted by the reporting person. A transaction under a Rule
10b5-1 trading plan could also be subject to short-swing profit recovery.

Additionally, sales of our securities under Rule 144 may require the filing of a Form 144 with the SEC, which
must be properly tailored to address sales under such a plan. Therefore, if you establish such a plan, we will
need to establish a procedure with whomever is handling your transactions to ensure:

« timely filings of a Form 4 after a transaction has taken place (failure to file on time results in
unwanted proxy statement disclosure of your filing violations); and

¢ compliance with Rule 144 (if applicable) at the time of any sale.

Additionally, Forms 4 and 5 require disclosure of whether a reported transaction was made pursuant to a
plan that is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c).

As mentioned above, Rule 10b5-1 is an SEC rule. There will be ongoing interpretations of what can and
cannot be done under this rule. Needless to say, some brokers, investment bankers and advisers may
approach you suggesting a variety of arrangements. You must consult the Compliance Officer, and should
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consult with your own tax and legal advisers, before establishing a trading plan under Rule 10b5-1.

Your notice to us, and pre-approval by the Compliance Officer, are essential before establishing a Rule
10b5-1 trading plan. If you have any questions, please contact the Compliance Officer.




Insider Trading Policy
APPENDIX 3

NEW SLP ASSOCIATES ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM
TO: Human Resources/’"Compensation Committee”
RE: “Insider” Trading Policies and Procedures

This will certify that | have read the memorandum regarding insider trading. |
understand the policies and procedures as outlined in the memorandum, and will
comply with such policies and procedures. Except as absolutely necessary, and
only on a “need to know basis,” | will not discuss any material nonpublic
information about Simulations Plus, Inc. or any other company or issuer that |
have learned in my capacity as a director, employee, independent contractor or
consultant of Simulations Plus, Inc. (SLP). That would also include: Simulations
Plus, Inc.’s taking or altering of a position in the securities of another issuer; its
active consideration of such action, prior to the public disclosure by Simulations
Plus, Inc. of its actions with respect to that issuer’s securities; my becoming aware
that Simulations Plus, Inc. did not take and is no longer actively considering any
such actions; or information about another company that would be considered
proprietary with respect to that other company prior to public disclosure by the
other company. Furthermore, | understand the trading windows set forth in the
memorandum, and will not enter into any transactions in SLP securities outside
of the permitted trading windows or otherwise engage in insider trading or
activities that could be construed as insider trading. If | have any questions, | will
consult with SLP’s Compliance Officer.

By (signature):

Name (print):

Dated:
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DIRECTOR, EXECUTIVE OFFICER, AND EMPLOYEE
ANNUAL CERTIFICATION FORM

TO: Human Resources/"Compensation Committee”
RE: “Insider” Trading Policies and Procedures

This will certify that | have read the memorandum regarding insider trading. |
understand the policies and procedures as outlined in the memorandum and |
have complied with such policies and procedures during the year ended

; provided however, that, except for pre-clearances required by this
policy and the requirements set forth in Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act, the
policies and procedures do not apply to any trading in the securities of an issuer
done by any person (investment manager, investment adviser, or otherwise)
acting with full investment power and discretion from me, so long as | have not
discussed with such person (or any of such person’s employees or associated
persons) material nonpublic information that | have learned in my capacity as a
director, officer or employee of Simulations Plus, Inc. or subsidiary about that
issuer (including Simulations Plus, Inc.’s taking or altering of a position in the
securities of that issuer, or its active consideration of such action, prior to the
public disclosure by Simulations Plus, Inc. of its actions with respect to that
issuer’s securities or my becoming aware that Simulations Plus, Inc. did not take
and is no longer actively considering any such actions).

By (signature):

Name (print):

Dated:




Insider Trading Policy
APPENDIX5

DIRECTOR, EXECUTIVE OFFICER, OR OTHER SECTION 16
REPORTING PERSON CERTIFICATION FORM

TR Compliance Officer
RE: Material Nonpublic Information Certification

| have read the memorandum regarding insider trading, and understand the
policies and procedures outlined therein, including, without limitation, the required
pre-clearance procedures that | must go through before engaging in any
transactions in the securities of Simulations Plus, Inc. This will certify that | am
not in possession of any material nonpublic information regarding Simulations
Plus, Inc. or any of its subsidiaries. In the event that | come to be in possession
of any material nonpublic information prior to engaging in a pre-approved
transaction in the securities of Simulations Plus, Inc., | will refrain from engaging
in any such transaction for so long as | am in possession of any material nonpublic
information, regardless of whether there is a blackout period in place or not.

By (signature):

Name (print):

Dated:







LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
Simulations Plus International, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Simulations Plus France (f/k/a Lixoft), a French société par actions simplifiée
Pro-ficiency, LLC , a Delaware limited liability company, and its subsidiaries;
* Caravel Group Communications, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

* Eclipse Meeting Productions, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
*  Zuma Clinical Communications, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Simulations Plus, Inc. on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-142882, 333-197681, 333-219446, 333-258711, and 333-
277697) of our report dated October 30, 2024 with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Simulations Plus, Inc. as of August 31, 2024 and 2023 and for each of the three
years in the period ended August 31, 2024, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Simulations Plus, Inc. for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2024.

/sl Rose, Snyder & Jacobs LLP
Rose, Snyder & Jacobs LLP

Encino, California

October 30, 2024



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

SIMULATIONS PLUS, INC.
a California corporation

1, Shawn O’Connor, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Simulations Plus, Inc., a California corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@

(b)

(©)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and



(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: October 30, 2024 By: /sl Shawn O’Connor

Shawn O’Connor
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

SIMULATIONS PLUS, INC.
a California corporation

1, Will Frederick, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Simulations Plus, Inc., a California corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@

(b)

(©)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and



(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: October 30, 2024 By: Is/ Will Frederick

Will Frederick
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Simulations Plus, Inc., a California corporation (the “Company”), for the year ended August 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Shawn O’Connor, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Will Frederick, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating
Officer of the Company, do each hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company for the period covered by
the Report.

/sl Shawn O’Connor

Shawn O’Connor

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
October 30, 2024

/sl Will Frederick

Will Frederick

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

October 30, 2024

(A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Simulations Plus, Inc. and will be retained by Simulations Plus, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.)



1.

Simulations Plus, Inc.
Executive Compensation Recovery Policy
Adopted: October 19, 2023

INTRODUCTION

Simulations Plus, Inc. (the “Company™) is committed to creating and maintaining strong corporate
governance practices. As part of this commitment, and in order to comply with applicable rules and
regulations, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) has adopted this Compensation
Recovery Policy (this “Policy™). The purpose of this Policy is to provide for the recoupment of
certain Incentive-based Compensation from Covered Persons in the event of an Accounting
Restatement in accordance with the terms herein. This Policy is designed to comply with, and will
be interpreted in a manner consistent with, Section 10D and Rule 10D-1 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™), and the applicable rules of the Nasdaq Stock
Market (*“Nasdaq™), including any interpretive guidance provided by Nasdag.

All capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in
Section 3, below.

EFFECTIVE DATE

This Policy shall apply to all Incentive-based Compensation Received by Covered Persons on or
after October 2, 2023, in accordance with Rule 10d-1 of the Exchange Act (“Rule 10d-17).

DEFINITIONS
The following terms shall have the meanings set forth below for purposes of this Policy:

a. “Accounting Restatement”™ means an accounting restatement due to the material
noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities
laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued
financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements (a “Big R”
restatement), or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the
current period or left uncorrected in the current period (a “little r” restatement).

b. “Clawback Period” means, with respect to any Accounting Restatement, the three completed
fiscal years of the Company immediately preceding the Restatement Date (as defined below),
and if the Company changes its fiscal year, any transition period of less than nine months within
or immediately following those three completed fiscal years.

c. “Covered Persons” means each individual who is currently or was previously designated as
an “officer” of the Company, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act. For the
avoidance of doubt, the identification of an executive officer for purposes of this Policy shall
include each executive officer who is or was identified pursuant to Item 401(b) of Regulation




S-K, as well as the principal financial officer and principal accounting officer (or, if there is no
principal accounting officer, the controller).

d. “Incentive-based Compensation™ means all cash, equity-based compensation or any other
compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of
a Financial Reporting Measure,

e. “Eligible Incentive Compensation” means all Incentive-based Compensation Received by a
Covered Person (i) on or after October 2, 2023, (ii) after beginning service as a Covered Person
(iii) who served as a Covered Person at any time during the applicable performance period
relating to any Incentive-based Compensation (whether or not such Covered Person is serving
at the time the Recoverable Incentive Compensation is required to be repaid to the Company),
(iv) while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or a
national securities association, and (v) during the applicable Clawback Period.

f. “Financial Reporting Measure” means measures that are determined and presented in
accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company's financial
statements, and all other measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. Stock
price and total stockholder return (and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from
stock price or total stockholder return) shall, for purposes of this Policy, be considered
Financial Reparting Measures. For the avoidance of doubt, a Financial Reporting Measure need
not be presented in the Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the
Commission.

g. “Received” means that the Financial Reporting Measure specified for earning an Incentive-
Based Compensation award is attained in the relevant Company fiscal period, even if the
payment, grant, vesting or settlement of the Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the
end of that fiscal period

h. “Recoverable Incentive Compensation™ means, with respect to each Covered Person in
connection with an Accounting Restatement, the amount of Eligible Incentive Compensation
that exceeds the amount of Incentive-based Compensation that otherwise would have been
received by the Covered Person had it been determined based on the restated amounts,
computed without regard to any taxes paid.

1. “Restatement Date” means the earlier to occur of (i) the date the Board, a committee of the
Board or the officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not
required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to
prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (ii) the date a court, regulator or other legally authorized
body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement.

RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED COMPENSATION

In the event of an Accounting Restatement, the Company will require any Covered Person to repay
to the Company, reasonably promptly after the occurrence of the Accounting Restatement, any part
of the Recoverable Incentive Compensation received by a Covered Person during the Clawback
Period in accordance with the rules of Nasdaq and Rule 10D-1. The Compensation Committee of




the Company’s Board (the “Committee™) shall determine the amount of any Recoverable Incentive
Compensation for each Covered Person, as applicable, and shall promptly provide written notice
of such Covered Person of the amount of Recoverable Incentive Compensation that they are
required to return or repay to the Company. The Committee retains the discretion to define what
would constitute “reasonably promptly™ so as to achieve the appropriate balance of cost and speed
in determining the most appropriate means to seek recovery,

The amount of the Recoverable Incentive Compensation to be recovered will be calculated on a
gross (not after-tax) basis. For Incentive-based Compensation based on (or derived from) the
Company’s stock price or total stockholder return, where the amount of Recoverable Incentive
Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the
applicable Accounting Restatement, the amount to be repaid or returned shall be determined by the
Committee based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the
Company’s stock price or total stockholder return upon which the Incentive-based Compensation
was received. The Company shall maintain records of the calculations of such reasonable estimate
and documentation related thereto, as required by Nasdaq rules.

The Company will recover reasonably promptly the amount of Recoverable Incentive
Compensation erroneously awarded unless the Committee determines that it is impracticable to do
so, in accordance with Rule 10D-1. Examples of such impracticability include instances where the
direct costs to be paid to a third party to assist in enforcing recovery would exceed the erroneously
awarded Recoverable Incentive Compensation; if pursuing such recovery would be in violation of
applicable law; or if recovery of the erroneously awarded Recoverable Incentive Compensation
would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly
available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) or
Section 411(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and regulations thereunder.

To the extent that a Covered Person fails to repay all Recoverable Incentive Compensation to the
Company within a reasonable period, the Company may take all actions it deems to be reasonable
and appropriate, in its discretion, to recover such Recoverable Incentive Compensation from the
applicable Covered Person. The applicable Covered Person shall be required to reimburse the
Company for any and all expenses reasonably incurred (including legal fees) by the Company in
recovering such Recoverable Incentive Compensation in accordance with the immediately
preceding sentence.

METHOD OF RECOVERY

Subject to compliance with applicable law, the Committee will determine, in its sole discretion, the
form and method for recovering Recoverable Incentive Compensation hereunder, which may
include, without limitation: (i) requiring reimbursement of cash Recoverable Incentive
Compensation previously paid; (ii) seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise,
settlement, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based awards; (iii) offsetting the recovered
amount from any compensation otherwise owed by the Company to the Covered Person; (iv)
cancelling outstanding vested or unvested equity awards; or (v) taking any other remedial and
recovery action permitted by law, as determined by the Committee. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
in no event may the Committee accept an amount that is less than the amount of Recoverable
Incentive Compensation in satisfaction of a Covered Person’s obligations hereunder. The method




of recovery selected by the Committee will in all instances be designed to effectuate the purpose
of preventing Covered Persons from retaining compensation that they received and to which they
were not entitled under the Company’s restated financial results.

In the reasonable exercise of its business judgment under this Policy, the Compensation Committee
may, in its sole discretion, determine whether and to what extent additional action is appropriate to
address the circumstances surrounding a Restatement to minimize the likelihood of any recurrence
and to impose such other discipline as it deems appropriate.

OTHER RECOVERY RIGHTS

Any right of recovery under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or
rights of recovery or recoupment that may be available to the Company pursuant to the terms of
any similar policy in any employment agreement, severance or change in control agreement, equity
award agreement or similar agreement and any other legal or equitable remedies available to the
Company. Further, the exercise by the Compensation Committee of any rights pursuant to this
Policy will not impact any other rights that the Company or any of its affiliates may have with
respect to any person subject to this Policy.

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this Policy required by applicable
Commission rules.

ADMINISTRATION AND INTERPRETATION

The application of this Policy to Covered Persons is not discretionary, except to the limited extent
provided above, and applies without regard to whether a Covered Person was at fault.

This Policy shall be administered by the Committee, and any determinations of the Committee shall
be final and binding on all affected individuals.

The Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations
necessary, appropriate, or advisable for the administration of this Policy and for the Company’s
compliance with the applicable rules of Nasdag, Section 10D, Rule 10D-1 and any other applicable
law, regulation, rule or interpretation of the Commission or Nasdaq promulgated or issued in
connection therewith.

PROHIBITION OF INDEMNIFICATION AND REIMBURSEMENT

Notwithstanding the terms of any other policy, program, agreement or arrangement, in no event
shall the Company be permitted to reimburse any Covered Person for or, insure or indemnify any
Covered Person against, (i) the loss of any Recoverable Incentive Compensation that is repaid,
returned or recovered pursuant to the terms of this Policy, or (ii) any claims relating to the
Company’s enforcement of its rights under this Policy. Further, the Company shall not enter into
any agreement that exempts any Incentive-based Compensation that is granted, paid or awarded to
a Covered Person from the application of this Policy or that waives the Company’s right to recovery




10.

11.

12.

of any Recoverable Incentive Compensation and this Policy shall supersede any such agreement
(whether entered into before, on or after the Effective Date of this Policy).

AMENDMENT; TERMINATION

The Committee may amend this Policy from time to time, in its discretion, and shall amend this
Policy as it deems necessary and advisable. Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the
contrary, no amendment or termination of this Policy shall be effective if such amendment or
termination would (after taking into account any actions taken by the Company contemporaneously
with such amendment or termination) cause the Company to violate any federal securities laws,
Commission rule or Nasdag rule.

Subject to applicable law, this Policy will terminate and no longer be enforceable if or when the
Company ceases to be a listed issuer within the meaning of Section 10D of the Exchange Act.

SUCCESSORS

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Persons and their beneficiaries,
heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT BY COVERED PERSONS; CONDITION TO ELIGIBILITY
FOR INCENTIVE COMPENSATION

Each Covered Person shall read this Policy and return the Attestation and Acknowledgement of the
Compensation Recovery Policy, attached as Exhibit A hereto, to the Company, provided that the
failure to return such acknowledgement will have no impact on the applicability or enforceability
of this Policy. After the Effective Date, the Company must be in receipt of a Covered Person’s
acknowledgement as a condition to such Covered Person’s eligibility to receive Incentive
Compensation.




Exhibit A

ATTESTATION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF THE COMPENSATION RECOVERY
POLICY

By my signature below, | acknowledge and agree that:

* | have received and read the Compensation Recovery Policy (the “Policy™) of Simulations Plus,
Inc (the *“Company™).

e The Policy applies to me, and all of my beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal
representatives and that the Company’s right to recovery in order to comply with applicable law

will apply.

e The provisions of the Policy are binding and supersede any contrary or inconsistent agreement that
I may have entered into with the Company prior to the Effective Date (as defined in the Policy), or
that | may enter into with the Company in the future, and neither the Policy, nor the application of
the Policy to me, gives rise to a resignation for good reason (or similar concept) by me under any
applicable employment agreement or arrangement.

e | will be bound by and will comply with the Policy and understand that determinations of the
Committee (as defined in the Policy) will be final and binding and will be given the maximum
deference permitted by law.

e My current indemnification rights, whether in an individual agreement or the Company’s
organizational documents, exclude the right to be indemnified for amounts required to be recovered
under the Policy.

« My failure to comply in all respects with the Policy is a basis for termination of my employment
with the Company and any affiliate of the Company, as well as any other appropriate discipline

o | will abide by all of the terms of this Policy both during and after my employment with the
Company, including, without limitation, by promptly repaying or returning any Recoverable
Incentive Compensation (as defined in the Policy) to the Company, as determined in accordance
with the Policy.

Signature:

Printed Name:

Date:







